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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized
companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after
due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that
there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for
the contents of this report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance
upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Merdeka Financial Group Limited (the

“Company”) collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission
of which would make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement

TRHSE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”)
of Merdeka Financial Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the 2019 annual report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2019. During the year, the Group is principally
engaged in financial services business, corporate consulting business,
trading business and information technology business.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PROSPECTS

Loss for the vyear attributable to owners of the Company was
approximately HK$84.1 million (2018: approximately HK$92.1 million).
Basic and diluted loss per share was approximately HK$0.35 (2018:
approximately HK$0.42). The net loss for the year was mainly
attributable from the impairment loss on finance lease receivables.

Upon the completion of the acquisition of corporate consulting
business in February 2019, the Group’s business has been further
expanded to include company secretarial services, accounting and
financial reporting services and management consulting services. The
corporate consulting business recorded a turnover and segment profit
for the year ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$8.9
million and HK$2.6 million respectively. Given the worldwide
awareness of the corporate governance, the Group expects the
demand for governance related services will be increased in the
coming future.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the financial services
business recorded a turnover and segment loss of approximately
HK$11.8 million and HK$88.6 million (2018: approximately HK$73.8
million and HK$88.1 million respectively). The loss was mainly due to
the recognition of impairment loss on finance lease receivables of
approximately HK$77.5 million.
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ETRWS

The financial leasing services business continued facing fierce
competitions and stricter lending conditions environment and expects
the development will remain sluggish in the coming future. The
Group puts more effort in strengthening and expanding the licensed
financial services business under the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong (“SFC”). In August 2019, the Group has
successfully obtained a license from the SFC to carry out Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity as defined under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO"). The corporate finance advisory business had generated
approximately HK$1.3 million revenue to the Group within 5 months
up to 31 December 2019 which were mainly generated from
approximately nine engagements.

Apart from the corporate finance advisory business, in November
2019, the Group acquired the remaining 49% interest in Merdeka
Investment Management Limited (“MIML") (formerly known as Heng
Asset Management Limited) which carries out Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activity as
defined under the SFO. Although no revenue was recorded during the
year ended 31 December 2019, in January 2020, MIML was engaged
as the investment manager of an open-ended Cayman Islands
investment fund with assets under management of approximately
US$100 million. MIML is further in preliminary discussion with 2
potential investors and/or private funds to act as investment manager/
advisor to provide discretionary investment management solutions in
return for management/advisory fees.

The revenue of the trading business for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$462.0 million (2018: approximately
HK$485.5 million) and a segment loss of approximately HK$2.9
million (2018: approximately HK$3.9 million). Given the outbreak of
the novel coronavirus, Hong Kong had restricted travel from the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") by suspending train services
and closing certain borders with the PRC. The business environment
for the trading business had become even more difficult, with the
threat of the novel coronavirus infection heavily weighing on inbound
tourism and local consumption sentiment, it is expected that there will
be a sharp decline in revenue of the trading business of the Group in
the coming year.
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APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to express my gratitude
to our management team and all staff for their hard work in the
execution of the Group’s strategies and operations during the past
year. Last but not the least, | wish to thank all our valued
shareholders, customers, suppliers, business partners, bankers for their
continuous support and encouragement to the Group.

Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
4 May 2020
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FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group is principally
engaged in (i) financial services business including the securities
brokerage services, provision of corporate finance advisory services,
asset management business, money lending services and financial
leasing business; (ii) corporate consulting business including company
secretarial services, accounting and financial reporting services and
management consulting services; (iii) trading business; and (iv)
information technology business.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$482.7 million (2018: approximately
HK$559.8 million). Loss for the year attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$84.1 million (2018: approximately
HK$92.1 million). Basic and diluted loss per share was approximately
HK$0.35 (2018: approximately HK$0.42). The net loss for the year
was mainly attributable from the impairment loss on finance lease
receivables.

Financial services business

The revenue for the year ended 31 December 2019 of the financial
services business was approximately HK$11.8 million (2018:
approximately HK$73.8 million) and a segment loss of approximately
HK$88.6 million (2018: approximately HK$88.1 million). The segment
loss was mainly due to the impairment loss on finance lease
receivables of approximately HK$77.5 million.

During the year under review, the financial leasing services business in
the PRC faced various competitions from other financial leasing
companies of different sizes in the PRC. Only few financial leasing
contracts with a narrow interest margin were concluded together with
some material financial leasing contracts matured during the year
under review that led to lesser interest income recognised. Those
commercial banks referring customers previously were unwilling to or
were not be able to refer new customers with larger business size
due to their tightening fiscal policy and stricter lending conditions.
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As at 31 December 2019, the Company engaged an independent
qualified valuer to determine the expected credit losses (the “ECL") of
the Group's finance lease receivables. In assessing the ECL of the
Group's finance lease receivables, a credit rating analysis of the
underlying debtors was adopted by reviewing the historical accounting
information, credit assessment and including forward-looking
information to estimate the default risk. The Group applied different
expected loss rates to different classes of receivables according to
their respective risk characteristics. In determining the default risk,
factors including but not limited to, the past default history, the
duration of the underlying finance lease, the existence and valuation
of the collaterals, the possibility of adverse change in the debtor’s
business environment and the debtor’s financial position, would be
considered. The rate of ECL is approximately 49% depending on the
nature, probability of default and loss given default of the loans
receivable.

In the course of preparing the financial statements for the vyear
ended 31 December 2019, the Company had engaged an
independent qualified valuer to determine the recoverable amount of
the trading right of the business carrying on the regulated activities of
Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type
9 (asset management) as defined under the SFO. The recoverable
amount of the trading right has been determined from fair value less
cost of disposal, which is primarily making reference to the recent
sales of similar transactions in the market. During the year ended 31
December 2019, an impairment loss on intangible assets of
approximately HK$1.2 million was recognised.

In August 2019, the Group, through Merdeka Corporate Finance
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, has successfully
obtained a license from the SFC to carry out Type 6 (advising on
corporate finance) regulated activity as defined under the SFO and
expanded its financial service business into the provision of advisory
services on corporate finance. The corporate finance advisory services
contributed approximately HK$1.3 million revenue to the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2019 which were mainly generated
from approximately nine engagements.
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On 4 November 2019, the Group also completed the acquisition of
the remaining 49% equity interest in MIML, which then became a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and carries out Type 4
(advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities as defined under the SFO. During the year under review, no
revenue was recorded in asset management business.

However, subsequent to the financial year end in January 2020, MIML
was appointed as the investment manager of an open-ended Cayman
Islands investment fund, with assets under management of
approximately US$100 million and an investment scope including but
not limited to, investing on private equity, secondary market, fixed
income products, etc., in return for management fees.

Corporate consulting business

Upon the completion of the acquisition of Merdeka Professional
Services Limited (“MPSL") (formerly known as Veda Corporate Services
Limited Group) and its subsidiaries (together “MPSL Group”) on
28 February 2019, the Group has diversified its business into
corporate consulting services including company secretarial services,
accounting and financial reporting services and management
consulting services. The revenue and the segment profit for the year
ended 31 December 2019 was approximately HK$8.9 million and
HK$2.6 million respectively.

Trading business

The revenue of the trading business for the year ended 31 December
2019 was approximately HK$462.0 million (2018: approximately
HK$485.5 million) and a segment loss of approximately HK$2.9
million (2018: approximately HK$3.9 million). Trading business is one
of the core businesses of the Group which contributed approximately
95.7% of the Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December
2019. Having our trading outlet located in Sheung Shui, where is the
most convenient location for the PRC visitors shopping for
confectioneries, daily and pharmacy products, the source of revenue
was comparatively stable. However, as the entry barrier of this trading
business is low leading to fierce competition, the gross profit margin
is comparatively thin.
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Information technology business

The information technology business recorded nil revenue (2018:
approximately HK$0.5 million) and a segment loss of approximately
HK$0.7 million (2018: approximately HK$3.5 million) for the year
ended 31 December 2019.

On 23 December 2019, the Group disposed of its entire equity
interest in Gold Coin Development Limited and its subsidiaries (“Gold
Coin Group”) to Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson (“Mr. Cheung”), the
Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the
Company, at a consideration of HK$1. The disposal resulted in a gain
on disposal of approximately HK$0.4 million. The disposal was
classified as a fully exempted connected transaction under Chapter 20
of the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”).

Held-for-trade investments
As at 31 December 2019, the Group did not have any portfolio of
listed securities investments. Details of the significant gains/(losses)

for the year ended 31 December 2018 were as below:

Gains/(losses) for the year ended 31 December 2018
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Held-for-trade securities investments as at 31 December 2018

A2018F 12 B3 1B 2B EEEEHRE

Approximate
Percentage to
total assets

Name of listed Stock Brief description of Number of Proportion of Investment Market value of the
securities code the business shares held  shares held cost value Group
BREE
P 5 AR A7 P # IR 17 EERE
FHESEE BRORE EBER 2 A b i REKAK miE BAB
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T
China LNG Group 931 Development of LNG 360,000 0.006% 715 428 0.11%
Limited business
TERXAREES BRRCRARED
YN

The Group disposed all of the listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2019 and reallocated financial resources to other
business segments.

OUTLOOK
Financial services business

During the year under review, the business environment of financial
leasing services business in the PRC continues difficult. The
commercial banks were unwilling to or were not be able to refer new
customers with larger business size due to their tightening fiscal policy
and stricter lending conditions. The Group expects that the
development will remain sluggish in the coming future.

Given the downturn of the PRC financial leasing business, it is the
Group'’s strategy to strengthen and expand its licensed financial
services business under the SFC. In August 2019, the Group
successfully obtained a license from the SFC to carry out Type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activity as defined under the
SFO and expanded its financial service business into the provision of
advisory services on corporate finance. Furthermore, upon the
completion of the acquisition of the remaining 49% equity interest in
MIML in November 2019, the Group expanded its financial service
business to carry out Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities as defined under the SFO. Apart
from the existing engagement in January 2020 as an investment
manager of an open-ended Cayman Islands investment fund with
assets of approximately US$100 million, MIML is in preliminary
discussion with 2 potential investors and/or private funds to act as
investment manager/advisor to provide discretionary investment
management solutions in return for management/advisory fees.
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The Group will continue to explore business opportunities within the
financial services business segment and if suitable opportunities arise,
the Group will expand its traditional financial services business into
the financial technology industry in order to capture the potential
growth of such segment and potentially to create synergy effect with
the Group's existing financial services business.

Further to the Group’s investment in minority stake of YAS Digital
Limited in August 2019, Joy Sunny Investment Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a non-legally binding
memorandum of understanding with two independent third parties
(collectively, the "YAS Vendors”) on 20 March 2020 regarding the
Group's intention to acquire certain number of shares of YAS Digital
Limited owned by the YAS Vendors at a consideration subject to
further negotiation by the parties thereto.

Corporate consulting business

Given the worldwide awareness of corporate governance, the Group
anticipates the demand from Hong Kong listed issuers requesting for
professional services in relation to corporate governance matters and
compliance with the appropriate local rules governing the listed
companies in Hong Kong and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements will persist. The Group grasped the opportunity in the
development of the corporate governance and compliance industry by
completion of the acquisition of the corporate consulting business in
February 2019, which will further enhance the revenue stream of
Group in the foreseeable future.

Trading business

Given The World Health Organization has declared the novel
coronavirus outbreak a public health emergency of international
concern on 31 January 2020. Hong Kong's Department of Health has
introduced the compulsory quarantine arrangement to persons arriving
at Hong Kong from foreign places on 19 March 2020, and noticed
the public should go out less and reduce social activities, and
maintain appropriate social distance with other people as far as
possible. Hong Kong has also restricted travel from the PRC by
suspending train services and closing certain borders with the PRC.
The number of flights from the PRC has been reduced significantly
and person travel permits for people from the PRC have also been
suspended.
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All these additional virus-control policies will hit the Hong Kong
tourism industry hard. Due to the big reduction in the number of PRC
tourists visiting Hong Kong, it is expected that there is a sharp
decline in revenue of the trading business of the Group as it relies
heavily on the PRC tourists consumption. Recently, the business
environment for retail trade has become even more difficult, with the
threat of the novel coronavirus infection heavily weighing on inbound
tourism and local consumption sentiment. The near-term outlook for
retail sales depends critically on how the situation of the novel
coronavirus infection will evolve and therefore, the trading business of
the Group remains uncertain.

Despite the outbreak of novel coronavirus, the Group expects that the
expansion in its service scope in financial industry, including the
provision of advisory services on corporate finance and asset
management services during the year ended 31 December 2019 could
compensate the estimated significantly decrease in revenue and profit
margin of the trading business, hence it is expected that the overall
business performance of the Group would not be significantly
influenced in the coming year.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

FINANCIAL RESOURCES, LIQUIDITY AND GEARING

As at 31 December 2019, the Group recorded cash and bank
balances (including trust accounts) amounting to approximately
HK$47.1 million (2018: approximately HK$18.8 million) and the net
current liabilities value was approximately HK$128.5 million (2018: net
current assets was approximately HK$103.2 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio as at 31 December 2019 was
approximately 0.66 (2018: approximately 0.75), being a ratio of total
interest-bearing debts, including bank borrowings, convertible bonds
and promissory notes of approximately HK$129.2 million (2018:
approximately HK$521.4 million) to the total assets of approximately
HK$197.1 million (2018: approximately HK$697.5 million).

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM SHARE PLACING

The Company completed a placing of shares on 6 August 2019
pursuant to which the Company issued 408,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company of HK$0.001 each at the placing price of HK$0.016
per placing share. The net proceeds from the placing of shares was
approximately HK$6.26 million and intended to be used as i)
approximately HK$3.10 million as to salary, Director's fee and
mandatory provident fund schemes; ii) approximately HK$1.50 million
as to rent and rates; and iii) approximately HK$1.66 million as to
maintain and expand into financial services business. The Company
fully utilised the net proceeds as intended during the year ended
31 December 2019.
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FINANCIAL ASSISTANCES RECEIVED BY THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 December 2019, Mr. Cheung, the
chairman, the chief executive officer and an executive Director of the
Company, advanced fund of approximately HK$12.6 million
(31 December 2018: HK$13.6 million) to the Company at no interest,
no security and no fixed repayment terms.

On 28 September 2018, Mr. Wong Hin Shek (“Mr. Wong"), the
substantial shareholder of the Company, entered into 1st loan
agreement with the Company in which Mr. Wong agreed to grant a
unsecured loan facility to the Company in the principal amount of up
to HK$25,000,000 at an interest rate of 5.125% per annum with an
availability period from 28 September 2018 up to 30 September
2019. The loan will be matured after twelve months from the
drawdown date. During the year ended 31 December 2019,
Mr. Wong agreed to extend the repayment date of those due loans
to 11 August 2020.

On 30 October 2019, Mr. Wong entered into 2nd loan agreement
with the Company in which Mr. Wong agreed to grant an unsecured
loan facility to the Company in the principal amount of
HK$10,000,000 at an interest rate of 5.0% per annum. The loan will
be matured on 29 October 2020.

As Mr. Cheung and Mr. Wong are the connected persons to the
Company, the loans constitute financial assistance received by the
Company from connected person. The loans were conducted on
normal commercial terms or better to the Company and not secured
by any asset of the Group, the loans were fully exempted from all
disclosure, annual review, circular and shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 December 2019, the Group pledged bank deposits of

approximately HK$4.1 million (2018: approximately HK$4.0 million) to
secure banking facilities of the Group.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 6 August 2019, 408,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company of
HK$0.001 each were issued at the placing price of HK$0.016 per
placing share.

On 19 August 2019, the Company implemented a share
consolidation with the basis that every ten issued and unissued shares
of the Company of HK$0.001 each were consolidated into one
consolidated share of the Company of HK$0.01 each.

On 17 December 2019, 17,391,304 ordinary shares of the Company
were issued upon the conversion of the convertible bond with face
value of HK$40 million at a conversion price of HK$2.3 per share.

On 22 November 2019, pursuant to the approval from the Board and
consent from each of the relevant share option holder, 21,303,061
share options were cancelled.

Save as disclosed, the Company had no other changes in capital
structure during the year ended 31 December 2019.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had a zero coupon
convertible bond with principal amount of approximately HK$124.1
million (2018: approximately HK$124.1 million) conferring rights to
convert into a total of 130,597,895 ordinary shares upon the
effective of share consolidation on 19 August 2019 (2018:
1,305,978,947 ordinary shares) with the conversion price of HK$0.95
per share (2018: HK$0.095 per share).

INVESTMENT POSITION AND PLANNING

Acquisition of 100% equity interest in Merdeka Professional
Services Limited

On 18 February 2019, the Company through a direct wholly-owned
subsidiary entered into a sale and purchase agreement, pursuant to
which the Company conditionally agreed to acquire the entire interest
in  MPSL Group (the *“Acquisition”) at a consideration of
HK$8,000,000, which was settled by way of issue of the promissory
notes by the Company. MPSL Group is principally engaged in
corporate consulting services including company secretarial services,
accounting and financial reporting services and management
consulting services. The completion of the Acquisition took place on
28 February 2019. MPSL become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and financial results of the MPSL Group were
consolidated into financial statements of the Company. Details of the
Acquisition are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
18 February 2019 and 28 February 2019.
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Disposal of 100% equity interest of Merdeka Resources
International Limited

On 1 April 2019, End User Investments Limited, a direct wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as vendor entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Mr. Cheung, the Chairman, the Chief
Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company, as
purchaser to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Merdeka
Resources International Limited (“MRI”) and the sale loan in cash at a
total consideration of HK$1. The completion of the disposal took
place on 1 April 2019 and MRI ceased to be the subsidiary of the
Company. The disposal was classified as fully exempted connected
transaction under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Acquisition of the remaining 49% equity interest of Merdeka
Investment Management Limited (formerly known as Heng
Assets Management Limited)

On 4 November 2019, the Company acquired the remaining 49%
equity interest of MIML at cash consideration of HK$10,000,000.
Details are set out in the announcements of the Company dated
27 August 2019 and 4 November 2019.

Disposal of 100% equity interest of Gold Coin Development
Limited

On 23 December 2019, End User Investments Limited, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as vendor entered into a
sale and purchase agreement with Mr. Cheung, the Chairman, the
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the Company, as
purchaser to dispose of the entire issued share capital of Gold Coin
and the sale loan in cash at a total consideration of HK$1. The
completion of the disposal took place on 23 December 2019 and
Gold Coin ceased to be the subsidiary of the Company. The disposal
was classified as fully exempted connected transaction under Chapter
20 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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LITIGATION

On 22 January 2015, the Company received a writ of summons
(HCA 170 of 2015) issued in the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) by Mr. Au Kai To Karel, as
the plaintiff claiming against (i) End User Technology Limited (“End
User”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as the
first defendant; (ii) the Company, as the second defendant; and (iii)
Lau Chi Yan Pierre, the then managing Director and executive
Director, as the third defendant for, inter alia, (1) specific
performance of an agreement dated 2 May 2013 in relation to a
discloseable transaction of the Company (details of which were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 2 May 2013);
(2) alternatively, the damages in the sum of HK$8,000,000 in lieu of
specific performance; (3) the interest; (4) further and/or other relief;
and (5) the costs.

On 29 September 2017, the Company received a judgement dated
29 September 2017 handed down by the High Court (the
“Judgement”) ordering, among others, that the Company and End
User, to pay, jointly and severally, damages to Mr. Au Kai To Karel in
the sum of HK$4.4 million.

As announced by the Company in its announcement on
14 November 2017, the Company has appealed against the Judgment
by way of Notice of Appeal filed on 25 October 2017 with the Court
of Appeal (the “Appeal”) (CACV 237 of 2017) and has taken steps
to seek further legal advice on the Judgement, the Appeal, and other
appropriate actions to be taken thereon.

On 13 November 2017, the Company received a petition made by
Mr. Au Kai To Karel (the “Petition”) in the matter of the Companies
(Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance, Chapter 32 of
the laws of Hong Kong (the “CWUMPO") from the High Court
(HCCW 343 of 2017) that the Company may be wound up by the
High Court under the provisions of the CWUMPO on the ground that
the Company is deemed to be unable to pay the sum of HK$4.4
million as stipulated therein the Judgement.

On 7 May 2018, upon the Company having paid into court the
judgement sum of HK$4.4 million pursuant to a court order dated
16 April 2018, the Petition was adjourned until the determination of
the Appeal.

On 4 January 2019, the Court of Appeal allowed the Company’s
appeal despite dismissing End User’s appeal. Reasons for judgement
was handed down on 18 January 2019.
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On 20 May 2019, the High Court ordered that the Petition made by
Mr. Au Kai To Karel (the “Petitioner”) under HCCW 343 of 2017 to
wind up the Company be dismissed with costs payable by the
Petitioner to the Company. Application for the return of HK$4.4
million together with the interest accrued to the Company has been
submitted to the High Court. On the hearing of the High Court on
18 December 2019, the High Court ordered that such application be
adjourned sine die and costs be reserved. It was ordered by the High
Court that the case be placed before a judge of the Court of Appeal
for direction or determination. The case is currently pending the
direction or determination of the Court of Appeal.

For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
22 January 2015, 29 September 2017, 14 November 2017,
22 January 2019 and 21 May 2019.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2019, save for the litigation, the Group had no
other significant contingent liabilities (2018: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2019, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (2018: Nil).

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s reporting currency is Hong Kong dollar. During the year
ended 31 December 2019, most of the Group’s transactions were
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"”) and Renminbi (“RMB").
The Group had exposure to the risk of exchange rate fluctuations for
RMB on account of its cost of financial leasing and information
technology operations in the PRC. The Group did not formally employ
any hedging instruments or derivative products considering the
relevant costs and benefits. However, the Group will continue to
monitor closely the exchange rate risk.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2019, the Group employed 41 staff (2018: 35).
The Group’s remuneration policy is based on principle of equality,
motivating, performance-oriented and market-competitiveness.
Remuneration packages are normally reviewed on an annual basis.
Apart from salary payments, other staff benefits included provident
fund contributions, medical insurance coverage and performance
related bonuses. A share option scheme is also established to reward
and motivate the employees of the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors

SSkSHREERBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson, aged 48, jointed in 2012, is currently
an executive Director, the Chairman, the Chief Executive Officer, the
compliance officer, a member of each of the nomination committee
(the “Nomination Committee”) and the remuneration committee of
the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”), an authorised
representative under Rule 5.24 of the GEM Listing Rules and an
agent for service of process in Hong Kong of the Company. He is
also a director of certain relevant subsidiaries of the Company. He
holds a Master of Science Degree in Financial Engineering from City
University of Hong Kong and Bachelor Degrees in Arts and
Administrative Studies from York University, Canada. Mr. Cheung is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. Mr. Cheung has
over 20 vyears of experience in the field of audit, business
development, corporate finance and financial management.

Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping, aged 41, jointed in April 2019 as an executive
Director. Ms. Tsang was an assistant director of MPSL from 2012 to
2018. Ms. Tsang holds Master Degree in Corporate Governance from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a Bachelor Degree in
Accountancy from City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang is a
member of both of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. She is also an associate member of both of The Hong
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators) in the United Kingdom. She is the
company secretary of DeTai New Energy Group Limited (stock code:
559) (“DeTai”), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. She was the chief financial officer of DeTai from 2013 to
2017. Ms. Tsang has extensive experience in accounting, financial
management and company secretarial matters.

and Senior Management
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann, aged 55, jointed in 2012 as an
independent non-executive Director and is a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”). She holds a
Bachelor Degree of Retail Marketing with honours in the United
Kingdom and a Diploma in Marketing from The Chartered Institute of
Marketing. She pursued her further study on legal course and has
been awarded a Diploma in Legal Practice in the United Kingdom in
1998. She is a solicitor of Messrs. Fung & Fung, Solicitors, a legal firm
in Hong Kong. Ms. Yeung is an independent non-executive director of
Success Universe Group Limited (stock code: 487), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and E Lighting Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8222), a company listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange. Ms. Yeung ceased to act as an independent
non-executive director of Trillion Grand Corporate Company Limited
(now known as hmvod Limited) (stock code: 8103) in November
2017. Ms. Yeung has over 20 years of experience in legal field.

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina, aged 47, joined in May 2019 as an
independent non-executive Director and is a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee. She holds a Bachelor of Business (Accountancy) Degree
from Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology. Ms. Ng is a member of
both the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
CPA Australia. Ms. Ng was the chief financial officer and company
secretary of GR Properties Limited (stock code: 108), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from August 2019 to
November 2019. She was the group financial controller of Luxey
International (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 8041), a company listed
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange from 2011 to 2018. Ms. Ng has
over 20 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial
management.

Mr. Wong Wing Kit, aged 49, joined in October 2019 as an
independent non-executive Director and is a member of each of the
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit
Committee. He holds a Master of Business Administration Degree
from the City University of Hong Kong and a Bachelor of Arts in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a
fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Wong held senior positions with various local and
international institutions. Mr. Wong has over 27 years of experience
in auditing, accounting management, financial reporting and analysis
and financial system implementation.
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COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has always recognised the importance of the
transparency and accountability to shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”). It is the belief of the Board that the Shareholders
can maximise their benefits from good corporate governance. The
Company is committed to maintaining a good and sensible
framework of corporate governance and to complying with applicable
statutory and regulatory requirements with a view to assuring the
conduct of management as well as protecting the interests of the
Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, to the best knowledge of the
Board, the Company has applied the principles and complied with the
applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code
in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules (the “CG Code") except for
the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

The code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and
chief executive should be separated and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson currently assumes the roles of both the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. Traditionally, the Chief
Executive Officer also assumes the role of the Chairman because it is
believed that the structure of the Board ensures the balance of power
and authority therefore no need to segregate the roles of the
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Mr. Cheung has substantial
experience that is essential to fulfilling the role of the Chairman, at
the same time, he has the appropriate management skills and
business acumen that are the prerequisites for assuming the role of
the Chief Executive Officer in the day-to-day management of the
Group.

The Board is currently composed of five Directors including three
independent non-executive Directors with a balance of skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the Group.
Furthermore, the roles of the management of the Company’s major
operating subsidiaries are performed by the Directors and other
individuals. The balance of power and authority is therefore ensured
by the current structure of the Board. Whilst it does not believe that
such role separation will improve the corporate performance, the
Board, as well as the Company, intends to comply with this code
provision by seeking and appointing suitable candidate with
appropriate background, acknowledge, experience and calibre to
assume the role as the Chairman.
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Code Provision A.4.2

The code provision A.4.2 provides that all directors appointed to fill a
casual vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the
first general meeting after their appointment. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles”), any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.

The Board considers that the Company is in compliance with
paragraph 4(2) of Appendix 3 under the GEM Listing Rules and such
a deviation is not material and duration between appointment to fill
casual vacancy and the next following AGM is less than one year and
is considered to be short.

Pursuant to the Articles, the Chairman and the managing Director
shall not be subject to retirement by rotation or also not be taken
into account in determining the number of Directors to retire in each
year. The Board considers that the continuity of the Chairman and the
managing Director and their leaderships will be essential for the
stability of the key management of the Board. On the other hand, the
Board will ensure that Directors other than the Chairman and the
managing Director will rotate at least once every three years in order
to comply with the code provision A.4.2.

Code Provision A.6.7

The code provision A.6.7 stipulates that independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings, to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders.

An independent non-executive Director could not attend the AGM
held on 20 June 2019 due to other important business engagements.

The Board will continue to review its corporate governance practices
in order to enhance its corporate governance standards, comply with
the increasingly complicated regulatory requirements, and meet with
the rising expectations of the Shareholders and respective investors.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has not adopted a code of conduct nor established
written guidelines regarding the securities transactions by the
Directors and relevant employees of the Company but has applied the
principles of the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48
to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules (the "“Required Standard of
Dealings”).

All Directors have confirmed, following the specific enquiry by the
Company, that they have complied with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the year and up to the date of this Annual
Report.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with the responsibility for the promotion of the
success of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs in a
responsible and effective manner. Directors take decisions objectively
in the interests of the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, are aware of their responsibilities and accountability to
Shareholders and for the manner in which the affairs of the Company
are managed and operated.

The senior management of the Group was delegated the authority
and responsibility by the Board and under the leadership of the
Board, responsible for executing the Board’s strategy and
implementing its policies through day-to-day management and
operations of the business of the Group. The Board determines which
functions are reserved to the Board and which are delegated to
senior management. It delegates appropriate aspects of its
management and administrative functions to senior management. It
also gives clear directions as to the powers of senior management, in
particular, with respect to the circumstances where senior
management must report back and obtain prior approval from the
Board before making decisions or entering into any commitments on
behalf of the Company. These arrangements are reviewed periodically
to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the
Company.

Important matters are reserved to the Board for its decision, including
strategic direction and objectives of the Group, extension of the
Group’s activities into new business areas, appointments to the Board
and the Board committees, appointment or change of auditors,
monitor the performance of the management of the Group, annual
budgets and effective control measures, material acquisitions and
disposals, material transactions, material banking facilities, risk
management and internal control, announcements of quarterly,
interim and final results and payment of dividends and other
significant operational matters of the Company.
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The Directors are enabled, upon reasonable request, to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. The Board shall resolve to provide separate
appropriate independent professional advice to the Directors to assist
the relevant Directors to discharge their duties.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged in respect of the legal
action against the Directors and the management of the Group. The
Board considers that the Group has sufficient and appropriate liability
insurance to cover the Directors and the management of the Group
against any legal liability arising from their performance of duties.

Composition of the Board

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprised a total of
five members, with two executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors.

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
Mr. Wong Wing Kit
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

The Board possesses a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the businesses of the
Group. The Directors with a variety and a balance of skills and
experience in auditing, accounting, financial management, company
secretarial, business development, legal, management, marketing and
corporate finance which is relevant in managing the businesses in
which the Group is engaged. The biographical details of the Directors
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors
and Senior Management” in this Annual Report. Updated list of
Directors identifying their role and function are maintained on the
websites of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company at www.merdeka.com.hk.

To the best of the knowledge of the Company, there is no financial,
business, family or other material or relevant relationships between
Board members or between the Chairman and the chief executive.
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Appointment, Re-Election and Retirement of the Directors

On appointment, each new Director is briefed by senior management
on, among others, the corporate goals, objectives, business activities
and plans and financial situation of the Group. Each new Director is
also provided a training with a package of materials in respect of a
director’s duties and responsibilities under the GEM Listing Rules and
other applicable law, rules and regulations, corporate governance
matters and financial reporting standards.

In accordance with articles 86(2) and 86(3) of the Articles, the
Company may by ordinary resolution elect any person to be a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition
to the existing Board. The Directors shall have the power from time
to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to
fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing
Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board shall hold office only
until the next following AGM and shall then be eligible for
re-election.

In accordance with article 87(1) of the Articles, notwithstanding any
other provisions in the Articles, at each AGM one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three, the number nearest to but not greater than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything
herein, the chairman of the Board and/or the managing Director shall
not, whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation or
be taken into account in determining the number of Directors to
retire in each year.

In accordance with article 87(2) of the Articles, a retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall
include (so far as necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to
retire by rotation) any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer
himself for re-election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those
of the other Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have
been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and
so that as between persons who became or were last re-elected
Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director
appointed pursuant to Article 86(2) or Article 86(3) shall not be taken
into account in determining which particular Directors or the number
of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
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The Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Board, led by the Chairman, sets the overall direction, strategy
and policies of the Company.

Presently, Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson assumes the roles of both the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The reasons for the
deviation from the code provision A.2.1 under the CG Code are set
out in the section headed “Compliance with Corporate Governance
Code” above.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are seasoned individuals
from diversified backgrounds and industries and at least one member
has appropriate accounting and related financial management
expertise as required by the GEM Listing Rules. The total number of
independent non-executive Directors represented more than half of the
Board members so that there is a strong independent element on the
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgement.

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for an initial
term of one year and thereafter from year to year, subject to
re-election at the AGM next following their appointment and
thereafter retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGMs in
accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
from each of the independent non-executive Directors. The Company
is of the view that all of the independent non-executive Directors
meet the guidelines for assessing independence as set out in rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers them to be
independent.

During the year, the Chairman has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
executive Directors.

Board Meetings

Board meetings are held regularly and at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals to approve, among other things, the
financial results of the Company. Regular Board meetings are
scheduled in advance to give the Directors an opportunity to attend.
All Directors are invited to include matters in the agenda for regular
Board meetings. For all other Board meetings, reasonable notices are
given to Directors. Directors can attend Board meetings either in
person or by electronic means of communication.
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During the year, a total of twenty-three Board meetings were held.
There was satisfactory attendance for Board meetings, which
evidences prompt attention of the Directors to the affairs of the
Company.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered by the Board which the Board has
determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with by a physical
Board meeting rather than by a written resolution. Independent
non-executive Directors who, and whose close associates, have no
material interest in the transaction will be present at such Board
meeting.

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”)
is responsible for taking minutes of all Board and Board committee
meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to Board or Board committee
members unless a conflict of interest arises and the final version of
minutes are open for inspection by the Directors upon reasonable
notice.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary with a view to ensuring that Board procedures and all
applicable rules and regulations are followed. The Directors also have
separate and independent access to senior management to make
further enquiries or to obtain more information where necessary.

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

During the vyear, all the current Directors have participated in
appropriate continuous professional development training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills pursuant to code provision
A.6.5 of the CG Code. Reading materials and training webcasts on
relevant topics are sent to the Directors where appropriate. The
following shows the training of each of the Directors received during
the year:
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee. They are each
established with specific written terms of reference. The main roles
and responsibilities of these three committees, including all authorities
delegated to them by the Board, as set out in the terms of reference
and are published on the websites of the Stock Exchange at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company at www.merdeka.com.hk. The
different committees’ independent views and recommendations not
only ensure proper control of the Group but also the continual
achievement of the high corporate governance standards expected of
a listed company. The chairman of each committee reports the
outcome of the committee’s meetings to the Board for further
discussion and approval.

There was satisfactory attendance for meetings of the Board
committees during the year. The minutes of the committee meetings
are circulated to all members of the relevant committee unless a
conflict of interest arises. The committees are required to report back
to the Board on key findings, recommendations and decisions.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.

The responsibilities and authorities of the Nomination Committee
include such responsibilities and authorities set out in the relevant
code provisions of the CG Code and the terms of reference, its main
duties include: (i) to review the structure, size and diversity (including
without limitation, gender, age, culture and educational background,
skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy; (i) to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; (iii) to assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and (iv) to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.
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Members of the Nomination Committee are:

REZEGRERETE

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson (Executive Director)

RIEE R4 (B17E=)

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed on 7 May 2019)
REERL (BIEWMITES) (R20194 5487 AEZF)

Mr. Wong Wing Kit (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed on 14 October 2019)
ARG EE (BEHITES) (R20194 105 14 HEZF)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann (Independent non-executive Director)

HREL L (BIEHITEE)

Mr. Au-yeung Sei Kwok (Independent non-executive Director) (resigned on 31 October 2019)
R 5 4 B 5 A (BIIFERITES) (R20194F 10431 H BEHTF)

Mr. Lau Chi Yan, Pierre (Executive Director) (resigned on 31 May 2019)
£l (BITEE) (R2019F5H31H FFE)

Mr. Ng Kay Kwok (Independent non-executive Director) (resigned on 1 April 2019)
REBEE (BIIEHITESE) (R2019% 4.4 1HFFF)

The Nomination Committee will at all times, have a minimum of three
members, a majority of which shall be independent non-executive
Directors and presently consists of four members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors. The chairman of the Nomination
Committee is elected by the members who are present at the
meeting.

The Nomination Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. Four
meetings were held during the year. During the year, the Nomination
Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition and
diversity of the Board, assessed the independent of the independent
non-executive Directors, adopted the nomination policy of the
Company (the “Nomination Policy”) and resolved to recommenced
to the Board the appointment of an executive Director and two
independent non-executive Directors.

During the vyear, the Nomination Committee was provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties and responsibilities and at the
Company’s expense to seek independent professional advice, where
and when necessary.
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Board Diversity Policy

In order to maintain its competitive advantage and achieve a
sustainable and balanced development, the Company recognises the
benefits of having a diverse Board. The Board has adopted a diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach by
the Company to achieve diversity on the Board. According to the
Board Diversity Policy, selection of candidates will be based on a
range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background and professional experience.

Nomination Policy

The Board approved and adopted the Nomination Policy which sets
out the nomination procedures, criteria and process in the nomination
and appointment of Directors. Details of the Nomination Policy are set
out below:

1. Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall consider the
following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for
directorships:

o character and integrity;

o qualifications including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience and diversity aspects under the
Board Diversity Policy that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;

o any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity
on the Board;

o requirement in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules and
whether the candidate would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in
the GEM Listing Rules (in case of independent non-
executive Directors);

o any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the
Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience,
independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to

discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or Board
committee(s) of the Company; and
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any other perspectives that are appropriate to the
Company’s business and succession plan and where
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the
Board and/or the Nomination Committee from time to
time for nomination of Directors and succession planning.

Nomination Procedures

The Board has the relevant procedures for Directors’ nomination
which are pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the Articles as
below:

2.1

2.2

Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee or the Board or the Company
Secretary shall call for a meeting of the Nomination
Committee upon receipt of any nominations of
candidates. The Nomination Committee should evaluate
such candidate based on the selection criteria mentioned
above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. The Nomination Committee should then
recommend to the Board to appoint the appropriate
candidate for directorship. For any person that is
nominated by the Shareholder(s) for election as a Director
at the general meeting of the Company (the “General
Meeting”), the Nomination Committee and/or the Board
should evaluate such candidate based on the same
selection criteria as mentioned above to determine
whether such candidate is qualified for directorship, and
where appropriate, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should make recommendation to the Shareholders
in respect of the proposed election of Director at the
General Meeting. The Board should have the final
decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any General Meeting.

Re-election of Director at General Meeting

Retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by the Board
to stand for re-election at the General Meeting according
to the Articles. The Nomination Committee and/or the
Board should review the overall contribution and service
of the retiring Director to the Company, his/her level of
participation and performance on the Board and
determine whether the retiring Director continues to meet
the above selection criteria. The Nomination Committee
and/or the Board should then make recommendation to
the Shareholders in respect of the proposed re-election of
Director at the General Meeting.
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Remuneration Committee

FMEES

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee in ARG EREGEIMETRAIR I FMEZE S - H4F

compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and with specific written terms

of reference in accordance with the CG Code.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for (i) making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for the
remuneration of the Directors and the senior management of the

ERERENTELEE AT -

FHZEEIZRARNIARTEHEFTLSMER
BezHMBRhRBRESSREEER © ()FEH
TEFEZRARBERTEERE A LQRIE (i)

Group; (i) assessing performance of executive Directors’ and EREERFHRITEELRAEESHREIEE 2 HMIEME -

approving the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts; (iii)
reviewing the remuneration package including the performance-based
bonus and incentive rewards for the executive Directors and the

senior management of the Group; and (iv) reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board the compensation, if any, payable to
the executive Directors and senior management in connection with
any loss or termination of their office or appointment.

The primary objective of the Group’s remuneration policy is to retain
and motivate the executive Directors and the senior management of
the Group by linking their rewards to the corporate and individual
performance, job complexity and responsibilities, so that the interests
of the executive Directors are aligned with those of the Shareholders.

No Director can, however, approve his/her own remuneration.

Members of the Remuneration Committee are:

FMEEERERE

BREEXRREN LA REE  Riv)EHEM TH
TEERSREELEABEMNRBIR TR 2
BnE)  UHAEESRMERE -

AEEFMBRRZEZBHN  DHATEERAE
BeREEEzHFMECXREAZRE HETHE
MERBEHD  BUERELABEEAL  EH5
TEFERRROMERE % - A EFFEH
BERG ZHH -

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
REBLE

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina
REEL+

Mr. Wong Wing Kit
TR E

Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann
BRELL

Mr. Au-yeung Sei Kwok
BRRS = B 5 A

Mr. Lau Chi Yan, Pierre
B kA&

Mr. Ng Kay Kwok

(Executive Director)

(BTES)

(Independent non-executive Director)
(BIERITESE)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(B ERITESR)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(B IERITES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(B ERITESR)

(Executive Director)

(BITES)

(Independent non-executive Director)

(BIIFMTESR)

(appointed on 7 May 2019)
(R2019%F5 /77 HEZE(E)

(appointed on 14 October 2019)
(R2019F 10814 HEZ(T)

(resigned on 31 October 2019)
(R2019% 10431 H EHE)

(resigned on 31 May 2019)
(R20194F 5431 H & HE)

(resigned on 1 April 2019)
(R2019%F 4.5 1H B 1F)

The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is elected by the

members who are present at the meeting.

FHMERE T RALFEER KB EE -
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The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. Six meetings
were held during the year. During the year, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group. The
Remuneration Committee also considered and approved the
remuneration and service contract of a newly appointed executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors. Also, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and approved the performance-
based remuneration package of each individual executive Director and
approved the salary payable.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in 2001 with
specific written terms of reference formulated in accordance with the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules. The main duties of the Audit
Committee are to (i) review the quarterly, half-yearly and annual
results of the Group; (i) review the risk management and internal
control systems, the effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Group; and (iii) ensure the objectivity and credibility of the Company’s
financial reporting and internal control procedures as well as to
maintain an appropriate relationship with the external auditor of the
Company.

Members of the Audit Committee are:

ERZEEEREERE
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ERTEFTEMBBIUIFATESTZHFHRRBEAE
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Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina

(Independent non-executive Director)

(appointed on 7 May 2019)

REERL (BIFAITES) (R2019%F5 77 H#EZE(E)

Mr. Wong Wing Kit (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed on 14 October 2019)
Bk E (B ERITES) (R2019F 104 14 A EZEE)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann (Independent non-executive Director)

BREZ L (BIFERTESR)

Mr. Au-yeung Sei Kwok (Independent non-executive Director) (resigned on 31 October 2019)
BRfs B4 (BIIEMTESR) (R20194 10431 H B 1(F)

Mr. Ng Kay Kwok (Independent non-executive Director) (resigned on 1 April 2019)
REEEE (B EHITEE) (R2019%F 4.8 1 H B HT)
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The Audit Committee consisted of three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, at least one of whom with
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required in rule 5.05(2) of the
GEM Listing Rule.. The chairman of the Audit Committee is elected by
the members who are present at the meeting. All members of the
Audit Committee possess appropriate professional qualifications and
experience necessary to give advice on the Board's strategies and
other related matters. All members of the Audit Committee have
complete and unrestricted access to the external auditor of the
Company and all employees of the Company.

The Audit Committee meets at least four times a year and as and
when there is any issue which requires its consideration. Four
meetings were held during the year.

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed together with senior
management and external auditor of the Company, the annual audit
plan, the risk management and internal control system, the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and other
financial matters. The Audit Committee also considered and approved
the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018, the
financial statements for the six month ended 30 June 2019, and the
financial statements for the periods ended 31 March 2019 and 30
September 2019 of the Group, and confirmed that the preparation of
such complied with the applicable accounting standards and practices
adopted by the Company, the requirements of the under the GEM
Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
requirements and adequate disclosures has been made.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board the re-
appointment of Elite Partners CPA Limited as the Company’s external
auditor subject to the Shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming
AGM.
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EXEBRS
Attendance at Meetings of the Board, the Board Committees EZSRESZEEER RRAFAERREH
the AGM and the Extraordinary General Meetings of the AAE(REFSIREDVWEHEESR !

Company (the “EGM"):

During the year, the attendance of each Director and member of HR G SEEBEENEECETZEeRENESE -
Board committees at the Board, the Board Committees and ZEZEHE (ZETEREATHEELSEGESH
shareholders’ meetings (either in person or by phone) are set out (ASKATFEFLRN) HINWT « R ERNPEREZ TR
below. The attendance of a Director is stated by reference to the EEME B EHETHRILBETAMETZES
number of meetings held during his/her tenure if he/she was XERMFIH o

appointed part way during the year.

Number of meetings during the year

FREHAY
Attended/Eligible to attend
BHE/GERLRE
AGM held on  EGM held on  EGM held on
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration 20 June 15 August 19 September
Board  Committee Committee Committee 2019 2019 2019

R2019%68  R2019488  R2019498
20HETH 15EETH 19R8TH
EZ® ENZEY REZ£8E FHZEE RRBAFAE RREBIXE RREIKE

Executive Directors

HITES
Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson 22/23 N/A 44 6/6 n n ”n
REERE TR
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (appointed on 1 April 2019) 18/19 N/A N/A N/A 7 " "
BEMLL (R2019%4 515 EZ(F) TEm TEm TEm
Mr. Lau Chi Yan, Pierre (resigned on 31 May 2019) 8/8 N/A 23 3/5 N/A N/A N/A
s (R2019%5 431 B&(F) TEA T8A TER TEA
Independent Non-executive

Directors
BUFHTES
Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina (appointed on 7 May 2019) 14/16 3/3 n ”n n n ”n
REELT (R2019%5 57 A#E(F)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit (appointed on 14 October 2019) 3/7 ”n N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
BKBERLE (R2019% 105 14 B EZ(F) TEm TEm TEm 1@ TEm
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann 22/23 4/ 44 6/6 n n ”n
BEERL
Mr. Au-yeung Sei Kwok (resigned on 31 October 2019) 15/16 3/3 4/4 5/6 0N " "
BELELE (R2019%F 10431 BE#HE)
Mr. Ng Kay Kwok (resigned on 1 April 2019) 3/4 ”n 12 2/4 N/A N/A N/A

REBA%E (R2019%4 5188 ) TiE TiEH TiE A
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties as set out in the code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code which
include (i) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board; (ii) reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management of the
Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and (v) reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is Ms. Hau Hei Man, Sonya (“Ms. Hau").
Ms. Hau is mainly responsible for supporting the Board by ensuring
good information flow within the Board and that Board policy and
procedures are followed and advising the Board through the
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance
matters and also facilitate induction and professional development of
Directors.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer while all Directors have access to the advice and
services of her to ensure that Board procedures, and all applicable
law, rules and regulations, are followed.

During the year, Ms. Hau has taken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training as required under rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2019 provided by the external auditor of the
Company, Elite Partners CPA Limited, are as follows:

1% 21 6M 8l &

HZE2019F 12 A31HILFE » AR B)INEZEATF
TLIEECRI BRI AR AR IR EZ R IEEZ
RFSE BT -

Fees paid/payable

Services rendered FriZ RS BN EFER
HK$'000

FHT

Audit services BAZ R 920
Non-audit services (Note) JET AR (B 5E) 40
Total #Er 960

Note: The non-audit services mainly included professional fee in relation to share
consolidation.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company and ensure that they are
prepared in accordance with the statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards. The Directors also ensure the timely
publication of such financial statements. The Directors aim to present
a balanced and understandable assessment of the Group’s position
and prospects.

The statement of the external auditors of the Company, Elite Partners
CPA Limited, with regard to their reporting responsibilities on the
Company’s financial statements is set out in the section headed
“Independent Auditors’ Report” in this Annual Report.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, they are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to the events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The Board therefore continues to
adopt the going concern approach in preparing the accounts.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility for establishing
and maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
system and reviewing its effectiveness. The Group has established a
risk management and internal control system covering all the business
units to monitor, assess and manage various risks in the Group’s
business activities.

The main features of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group include the identification of risks, the
assessment and evaluation of risks, the development and continuous
update of responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of risk
management and internal control procedures to ensure their
effectiveness. Such risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable but not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The system
identifies, evaluates and manages the significant risks through regular
risk assessments, including both compliance assessment and self-
assessment on risk management and internal control.

The Group risk management and internal control system of the Group
comprises four levels based on the corporate governance structure: (1)
the Board, responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives and to ensure the defects found in reviews of the
risk management and internal control system can be resolved in a
timely manner; (2) the Audit Committee, responsible for reviewing the
quality, integrity and effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control policies of the Group and to approve and make
suggestions to the Board the revisions on the risk management and
internal control policies; (3) management, responsible for the day-to-
day risk management in all departments and subsidiaries of the
Company and (4) the members of the Group, responsible for
performing the daily risk management task.

To ensure timely, fair, accurate and complete disclosure of inside
information and for compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations, the Group has in place, as an internal control element, a
serious of disclosure procedures of price sensitive information on
reporting and dissemination of inside information and preservation of
confidentiality. Under the current practice, the directors aware any
potential/suspected inside information event as soon as practicable
when it materializes for determining the nature of developments, and
if required, making disclosure. All staff are also required to observe
the code of ethical standards to keep non-public information
confidential.
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During the vyear, the internal audit team of the Company has
conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control system of the Group covering the period from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019 in compliance with the
requirements under code provision C.2 of the CG Code which covers
the risk management control of the Group’s major segments and
operation controls of human resources and payroll management, fixed
assets management and revenue management.

The result of the review has been summarised and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board with recommendations and follow-up
results. All the recommendations have been properly followed up by
the Group to ensure that they will be implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board considered that the risk
management and internal control system of the Group is adequate
and effective.

During the year, the Board also reviews the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of the staff of the Company, the
Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board approved and adopted a dividend policy which outlines
general principles for the determination and payment of dividend to
its Shareholders (the “Dividend Policy”). Dividends or distributions by
the Company shall be determined and declared in accordance with
the applicable laws and regulations, the Articles and the Dividend
Policy. The Board may amend any provision in the Dividend Policy if it
considers necessary.
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Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, the Company may declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders by way of cash or by other means that
the Board considers appropriate. The Board, in recommending
dividends, to allow the Shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits, and at the same time, to ensure the Company to retain
adequate reserves for future growth. The Company's decision to
declare or to pay any dividends in the future, and the amount of
such dividends will depend upon, among other things, the current
and future operations, financial condition, liquidity position and
capital requirements of the Group, as well as dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associates, which in turn will depend
on the ability of those subsidiaries and associates to pay a dividend.
In addition, any final dividends for a financial year will be subject to
the approval of the Shareholders. The declaration and payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the
laws of Cayman Islands, the laws of Hong Kong, the Articles and any
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholders
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at General Meetings shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
the EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Sending Enquiries to the Board
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the

attention of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as
a Director

Article 86(2) of the Articles sets out that the Company may by
ordinary resolution elect any person to be a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board,
subject to the Articles and the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands.

Pursuant to article 88 of the Articles, no person other than a Director
retiring at the meeting shall, unless recommended by the Directors for
election, be eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting
unless a written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the
person to be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the
meeting for which such notice is given of his intention to propose
such person for election and also a written notice signed by the
person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the head office or at the Registration Office provided
that the minimum length of the period, during which such written
notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven (7) days and that the
period for lodgement of such written notice(s) shall commence no
earlier than the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general
meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven (7)
days prior to the date of such general meeting.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely disclosure of
relevant information to its shareholders and investors and discloses
information in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules, and publishes
periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance with
the relevant laws and regulations.

The Board strives to encourage and maintain constant dialogue with
its shareholders through various means. The Directors host the AGM
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries. The
Company also updates its shareholders on its latest business
developments and financial performance through its annual, interim
and quarterly reports.

The website of the Company has provided an effective
communication platform to the shareholders and the investors as well
as the general public.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during
the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to the date of this Annual
Report.
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INTRODUCTION

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Merdeka Financial Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively “we"”, “us”,
“ours”, or the “Group”) are pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report in accordance with the ESG
Guide ("ESG Guide”), as set out in Appendix 20 of the Rules (the
"GEM Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The ESG Report stated
the efforts made by the Group for the period from 1 January 2019
to 31 December 2019 (the “Reporting Period”) which aligns with the
financial year as the 2019 Annual Report of the Group.

OUR COMMITMENT AND APPROACH

We recognize the importance of strong ESG performance in meeting
the changing expectations of stakeholders and enhancing the
performance of the Group. The Board, working together with the
management and our ESG working taskforce, has assessed, identified
and managed ESG risks associated with the Group for the purpose of
ESG strategy and reporting.

Using a top-down approach, we integrate ESG concepts into our daily
operations at our workplace through the Group’s policies and
guidelines, so that each of our employees is fully aware our
sustainability efforts.

SCOPE OF OUR REPORT

The Group is principally engaged in (i) financial services business
including the securities brokerage services, provision of corporate
finance advisory services, asset management business, money lending
services and financial leasing business; (i) corporate consulting
business including company secretarial services, accounting and
financial reporting services and management consulting services; (iii)
trading business; and (iv) information technology business.

Our ESG Report content is mainly focused on the trading business
located in Sheung Shui, and the Group’s Hong Kong headquarter
office (the “Selected Business Segments”), which the Board believes
that they are the areas that could best reflect our social,
environmental and economic impacts.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT MRS 20

AEEERENBBBEENER  AEERBTE
REHEFSABEEDR YIS HBEENHERE
KRB ER LB RMAEE - AREFREBREDEET

The Group places high value on communication with stakeholders.
Through several channels, the Group maintains active and open
attitudes towards expectations and demands of stakeholders. The

preparation of this report, which was supported by stakeholders of
the Company, enabled the Company to have a clear understanding
on the Company’s current environmental and social development. The
information we gathered and analyzed was not only the summary of
the environmental and social works carried out by the Group during

2019, but also the basis for the Group to make strategies for
sustainable development. The following table summaries stakeholders’
participation channels and their expectations and demands.

A A 25
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Stakeholders Participation channels Topics concerned
MEEEE SHERE BIEE
Internal Stakeholders Management e Regular meetings e Financial results
R REEE EEE o THEHR e Sustainability business development
o UBEE
o XBAMREERE
Employees e Regular performance appraisals e (Career development
== ¢ Frequent meetings e Health and Safety
e Training programs e Remuneration and benefits
o TEHRFTR e Sustainability development
o TYEHER o BEER
o BHIRE o REELZE
o FHEERER
o ARELR
External Stakeholders Customers e Customer service e Product/service quality
SHEBRBEEEE P * Daily communication e Protection and management on customer
o EPRHB information
o AERRN e Environmental responsibility
e Integrity and business behaviors
o Em/RBER
o XPEHRENER
o RERME
o BERBETR
Shareholders/Investors e  General meetings e Financial results
R REE o Quarterly/Interim/Annual Reports ~ ® Sustainability business development
e Daily communication e Environmental responsibility
e Group website e Company transparency
o REXE * Product/service quality
o FE/RE®RE /FERS o UWEE
o HERR o EBURKEER
o KE®U o REERME
o REBEHE
o Em/RBER
Suppliers e Close communication e Product/service quality
e e Order placed e Environmental responsibility
o TYER o Ef/RGEER
o TEFE o RFEM
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SUBJECT AREA A: ENVIRONMENTAL SUBJECT AREA

The Group is aware of the risk associated with climate change and
the importance of the efforts in managing these risks in the global
community. Although the Group does not engage in activities that are
generally regarded as having a high environmental impact, it has been
our mission to conduct our business in a manner that is
environmentally responsible as far as possible. The Company has
always attached great importance to the protection of the
environment and has adopted a number of measures which are
regularly carried out to manage emissions and waste in the course of
our business operations.

At all time, the Group is committed to complying with all applicable
environmental laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the
Group had not discovered any cases of violation of the environmental
laws and regulations.

In this section we shall detail the ESG performances of the Group
with regards to emissions and waste, use of resources, and
environment and natural resources.

Aspect A1: Emissions and Wastes
Air and Green House Gases (“GHG”) emissions

Emissions generated by the Selected Business Segments were mainly
indirect GHG emissions generated from the use of purchased
electricity. In 2018, a small amount of air emissions was generated
from the use of company vehicles. The emissions were mainly
Nitrogen Oxides, Sulphur Oxides and Particular Matter exhausted from
the engines when petrol is combusted. However, subsequent to the
disposal of company vehicles in September 2018, the Selected
Business Segments did not generate direct air emissions during the
Reporting Period (2018: Nitrogen Oxides of 0.9 kilograms; Sulphur
Oxides of 0.07 kilograms; and Particulate Matter of 0.07 kilograms).
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The approximate volume of different types of GHG emissions in CO, EF XKD BRERNMFEMNTEERREREH
equivalent emissions (“CO,e") during the year of the Selected Business ~M#AI#E A —EbimE = HR((—ELHBRE
Segments were as follows: BHRREL)WNT

For the year ended 31 December

BIE12831ALFE
(Units: tonnes of CO,e) 2019 2018
(B M-S BREEHR 20195 20184
Volume Volume

Greenhouse gas emissions Emission source(s) emitted Intensities emitted Intensities
BERBHEHRY BERRIR HHE BE BEmE B
Scope 1 Use of company vehicles = = 10.6 0.30

Direct emissions FRAARER
LEN

HEHERY
Scope 2 Purchased electricity 54.7 1.48 48.7 1.39

Energy indirect emissions PriEE 7
&[22

e R B R
Scope 3 e Electricity use for fresh water and sewage 4.1 0.11 6.7 0.19

Other indirect emissions processing by government departments
&[E3 o WATEMPISERAKRTKBNE D

Hth R B o Air travels by employees for business

purposes
o EEHNEEEMRERM LT

Total
5t 58.8 1.59 66.0 1.88

Scope 2 GHG emissions were the major contributor of the Selected — #EEI2H)E EREEHEMWH R TE XKD BRI H
Business Segments’ emissions, which were generated indirectly as a T E&D  THRERFABEES IMBEZEELS - 8F
result of the use of purchased electricity. Electricity consumed by the ¥#BoHAMERNE N NEATHAG (AFESE
Selected Business Segments is purchased from electricity companies JARAGMNEBEBERAR) @ MazmEAF 8
(i.e. CLP Power Hong Kong Ltd. and Hongkong Electric Company) BEBREMRHEBEELEZSEZTRE - RAREH
which generated these GHG directly by burning of fuel. During the & » A&t HERAI54. 78 B A &1 B 2108 = F 82 HE W
Reporting Period, a total of approximately 54.7 tonnes of Scope 2 ¥ HHE NS A FHPEMLI4.560 -

GHG emissions were emitted, representing a monthly average

emission of approximately 4.56 tonnes.
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The environmental impact of scope 3 GHG emissions were relatively
small for the Selected Business Segments. The total emissions from
scope 3 GHG for the Selected Business Segments were approximately
4.1 tonnes during the Reporting Period, of which approximately 4.0
tonnes were emitted indirectly as a result of the air travels by
employees for business purposes, while the remaining were due to
the use of electricity for fresh water and sewage processing by
government departments.

During the Reporting Period, the Selected Business Segments did not
have any company vehicles, thus, no emissions from scope 1 GHG
were recorded.

Wastes

Wastes generated by the Selected Business Segments are non-
hazardous in nature. Major wastes generated by the Selected Business
Segments included consumables such as bubble wraps, carton boxes
and papers from office printing. However, due to various waste
reduction measures implemented in the Selected Business Segments as
described in the later section headed “Environmental Protection
Measures”, the amount of wastes generated during the Reporting
Period were negligible, and hence no meaningful data from waste can
collected for analysis.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The major source of energy used by the Selected Business Segments
was electricity. It is used in all areas of the Selected Business
Segments’ business operation, for instance, general lighting and
powering of laptops, monitors, printers, Point-of-Sales systems and
other equipment in the office and retail store in Sheung Shui.

The major resource used by the Selected Business Segments was
paper, which was mainly for printing at the head office. Other than
paper, water, though its use in operation is minimal, was mainly used
in the pantries and toilets.
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The amount of energy and resources used by the Selected Business
Segments during the year were as follows:

BEEBHBAAREBENERLEREEEN
T~

For the year ended 31 December

BE12A31BLEE
2019 2018
20194 20185
Consumption Consumption

Energy and Resources Units amount Intensities amount Intensities
BERRER B HIEE BE HIEE BE
Electricity kWh 82,999 1,659.98 76,992 2,199.77
BN TRE
Water Tonnes 2.47 0.05 2.1 0.42
K U
Paper (A4 sized 80 gsm) Reams 275 515 140 4.00
3R (A4R/1N803E) 5

The energy and resource consumption for the Selected Business
Segments during the Reporting Period remain fairly low. Nonetheless,
energy and resource conservation are essential parts of the ESG
strategy of the Group which will be detailed in the later section titled
"Environmental Protection Measures”.

Aspect A3: Environment and Natural Resources

The Group does not use any natural resources in the process of its
business, and hence the adverse impact on the environment or natural
resources was minimal during the Reporting Period. Nonetheless the
Company is well aware of the importance in environmental
protection, and has adopted policies and a range of measures to
minimize current impact and manage any potential adverse impact in
the future, persisting in conducting our business in an
environmentally responsible manner. These policies and measures are
described below:

BEEBDANRARE HROGEREEREFEEK
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Environmental Protection Measures

Energy saving

o Lights and air-conditioning in office premise are turned off when
not in use.
o Workplace temperature is maintained at a comfortable level to

reduce over-cooling or under-cooling and thus reducing
excessive use of electricity.

o Electronic appliances, such as computers, photocopy machines,
printers, are turned off when employees are off duty or on
leave.

Use of paper

o Other than formal documents that require the use of papers,
each department is advised to handle documents electronically
and employees are also encouraged to communicate
electronically.

o When the use of paper is required, duplex printing and reusing
single-side printed papers are recommended.

Reduction of waste

o When procuring office equipment and supplies, considerations
are taken on environmental protection, resource saving and
recycling readiness.

o We do not use additional packaging materials on finished
products other than those supplied to us by suppliers and we
encourage customers to bring their own bags to purchase our
products at our retail stores.

o Waste produced in the course of business operations such as
plastic bottles, bubble wraps, carton boxes are reused wherever
possible, for example use by packing products to customers
with bulk purchase, otherwise recycled by disposing them into
the appropriate local waste collection points.

We conduct regular operational meetings to ensure our employees are
fully aware of the above policies and to align our practices, one of
which is fostering environmental protection awareness.
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SUBJECT AREA B: SOCIAL ASPECTS
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES
Aspect B1: Employment

The Company highly values its employees, as the workforce is not
only the most valuable asset of the Group but is also the solid
foundation of sustainable development. In order to fully develop staff
competence and potential, the Group has an employee handbook in
place for the employees to understand the policy of the Group.
Employee recruitment and remuneration decisions are made on the
basis of merits and working experience, including qualifications,
industrial expertise, general aptitude and competence for the job the
candidates applying for. As a company which is committed to equal
opportunity, these recruitment decisions are never based on gender,
family position or ethnic background. There is no limit imposed on
age other than the legal minimum age limits.

Our workforce

During the Reporting Period, the Selected Business Segments had a
total of 37 employees (2018: 22 employees). The workforce
categorised by gender, age groups, and hierarchy are depicted below:

Gender

23]l

=Female &

="Male 2
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Hierarchy
Bk

=Management = General Staff
EIRE —MET
Retaining talents BEAL

Employees are the most valuable assets of the Group. To retain and
motivate employees, the Group recognises their contribution by
offering competitive remuneration package. The management
regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration policy in relation to
relevant market standards. Apart from salary payments, other staff
benefits included provident fund contributions, medical insurance
coverage and performance related discretionary bonuses. A share
option scheme is also established to reward and motivate the
employees of the Group. During the Reporting Period, 12 employees
(2018: 1 employee) left the Selected Business Segments.

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group is committed to providing employees with a safe and
healthy working environment. The office and retail store layouts are
designed based on relevant safety provisions. The exit aisles are
equipped with lighting panels “Exit” to guide the way out of the
workplace when an emergency occurs. Smoking is strictly prohibited
in the entire office premises.

We continued to build a safety-first culture and engage employees to
keep incidents as low as possible. During the Reporting Period, there
was no reported case of work-related injury (2018: Nil) for the
Selected Business Segments.

During the Reporting Period, the Selected Business Segments were not
aware of any non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
had a significant impact on it relating to employment, health and
safety, and labour standards as mentioned in aspects B1, B2 and B4
of the ESG Guide.
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Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group is subject to various ordinances, rules and guidelines such
as, but not limited to, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance, the GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Securities and
Futures Commission’s Guideline on Anti-Money Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing (“AML Guideline”). Every licensed
individual must fulfill prescribed hours of continuous professional
training for each type of regulated activity in each calendar year. Also,
pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary and all
Directors are required to participate in continuous professional
training to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.

Knowledge and skills of employees are vital to the continuous
business growth and success of the Group. As such, the Group is
committed to providing support to its employees in continuous
professional training and encourages them to attend professional
training programs. Subject to management’s approval, the Group will
subsidise the studying fee of the staff members with a maximum
annual cap, however, the Group may consider granting more
subsidise if it sees fit. Summary of training recorded from the
Selected Business Segments is present as below:

B3/EME : & RIF
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During the Reporting Period
REBEHE

Number of

employees as at

31 December

Total training Average training

2019 hours hours
M2019%
12A31H
HIEB A" BT R 155 HI B B
By gender 12 1 Bl &l 5
Male 5 20 94.0 4.7
Female Z 17 110.5 6.5
Total @t 37 204.5 55
By hierarchy RERE D
Management BEIRE 8 81.5 10.19
General staff —®ET 29 123.0 4.24
Total 5t 37 204.5 5.5
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Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Company attaches great importance to and strictly abides by all
applicable labour laws on employment in Hong Kong.

At all time, the Group strives to create a workplace that is free from
discrimination and provide equal employment and promotion
opportunities by recruiting or promoting people mainly based on job
requirements and employees’ performance. No one is subject to
discrimination due to nationality, age, gender, religion, marital status,
disability, and/or other forms of difference. The Group has published
an employment hand book that includes the terms and conditions of
employment, the staff benefits and the office rules and policies.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child and forced labour.
Through the well-established recruitment policies, the Group ensures
that its employees are all above the minimum legal working age and
no forced labour is hired. Apart from it, the Group regularly review
the employment practice and guidelines on staff recruitment to
ensure that it is in full compliance with the Employment Ordinance
and Republic Act No. 9231 and other regulations related to, among
other things, prevention of child labour and forced labour.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

Our Selected Business Segments supply chains mainly cover two
general categories: (i) office supply chains; and (ii) trading segment
supply chains. At the office level, supply chains cover procurement for
headquarter office and are mainly focused on routine office items
such as stationery, toner and paper. At the trading segment, most
items are procured for running a retail store and that cover a wide
variety items including milk powder, dairy products, beauty and
cosmetic products, and pharmaceutical Over-The-Counter products.

The Group is committed to operating in an ethical and safe
environment and employ sound supply chain practices to ensure that
the performance remain sustainable. The Group recognises the supply
chains play in an important role in the overall sustainability
performance. Guidelines were adopted to guide the assessment of
suppliers. Suppliers are assessed for their capability to fulfil our
business needs based on a price and non-price factors such as labor
practices, environment and quality. And at all time, the Group
required suppliers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations
and align with environmental protection management at a minimum.
Supplier assessment guidelines will be reviewed and updated from
time to time to ensure suppliers’ best meet our business needs.
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The Group will also continuously seek potential new suppliers in an
attempt to find more reliable and price competitive products for
operation. To further enhance the sustainability of the supply chains,
the Group tried to source goods locally whenever possible. During the
Reporting Period, suppliers of our Selected Business Segments are
100% (2018: over 75%) located in Hong Kong.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
Quality Assurance

We control the quality of our products from suppliers’ selection as
mentioned in the previous section. To be responsible to our
customers, the Group has registered as a food importer/food
distributor under the Food Safety Ordinance.

Apart from product quality, the quality of our employees is also a
crucial element of our Company’s continuous success which
differentiates ourselves from other competitors in the industry.
Through our comprehensive recruitment process, we ensure our
employees are sufficiently qualified and experienced. In addition, the
Group has in place a risk management structure and implemented
compliance and operational manuals to ensure its full compliance
with all applicable laws, rules and regulations. This is controlled and
monitored by a team of experienced management, including
responsible officers and compliance officers.

Complaint Handling

We treat all complaints seriously and view them as means to
consistently improve the quality of our services and the products we
offer.

We have an email address as well as front-line staff at the retail store
in Sheung Shui to handle complaints from customers, and from other
stakeholders. We take immediate action upon receipt of any
complaint, resolving or following up the complaint until resolution,
offering replacement or refund where appropriate.
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Protection of Customer Information

The Group emphasises the importance of confidentiality of personal
data and privacy of its clients. We pay extra attention to customer
data management and no substantiated complaint regarding leakage
of customer privacy or loss of customer data were reporting during
the Reporting Period. Apart from complying with the provisions of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance when collecting, processing and
using clients’ personal data, the Group has implemented various
measures to prevent unauthorised access of clients’ data, such as
installation of firewall and storing clients’ data in a secured place.

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to promoting a culture of integrity, fairness,
honesty and openness when doing business and zero tolerance of
bribery and corruption. All employees of the Group are regulated by
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong and required to
adhere to high standards of business and ethical conducts as lay out
in the Group’s employment handbook. In addition, all employees of
the Group are required to adhere to the requirements set out in the
Anti-Money Laundering and Counter- Terrorist Financing (Financial
Institutions) Ordinance and the AML Guideline and any update in
relation thereto. The Group has adopted policies and procedures in its
operations and procedures manual to identify and detect money
laundering activities, covering policies in relation to, among others,
customer due diligence, records retention, handling of cash and
reporting of suspicious transactions to the management of the
Group.

The Group has complied with all applicable laws and regulations in
relation to anti-corruption matters during the Reporting Period.

REFZEFEH

FEEREES EAGHOREYRALEY - R
BAEEEFAREE  RARSHMELEEEE
FRLABLEFAAKNRIEHES - B
SFEAER (L) OIS - NIE - RERERAE
FEAGHE  FEBREESEREHETEE
BEFER  MBEGIERER2 T HRRE S
Exto

BHEB7 : RES

AEBEBHREBELLEEBEHRFIHE  2F  #
BERAFANXI  BHEEEESERTERRERE -
AEERBEEOXEENH EEREIRE LA
BEASEEBRTMRARSHERERBRET -
BN AEEZBEEAZETIERABERRMN D F
B85 (L REE) R0 MITERERSIAREE
AEFRAFAERE - ARBECHRRELERER
FHROBEEREF - LB RERLEES R
B (AR EFPERES  RELH  KBER
ERMAEEEEEERTRRHHBK -

RARERR  AEECEBTERRESEENMN
BEREDIFOER -



7 T

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIg - HENKEIBRS

Aspect B8: Community Investment

The Group is committed to be a socially responsible corporation by
improving the well-being and contributing to the development of ESG
conscious community to support our sustainable growth in the future.
The Company encourages staff to contribute their time and efforts in
participating in local community activities and events.

These community investment events include the following:

. In September 2019, the Group sponsored the annual charitable
dinner held by Ten Percent Donation Scheme Foundation, a
local charity organization which aimed to subsidise the
education expense for local students in need. Management and
staffs of the Group also participated in the annual charitable
dinner.

3 In October 2019, the Group sponsored the annual charitable
dinner “PAZ [A17" held by Love Foundation Limited, a charity
organization that aimed to help the “Left-behind Children” in
the mainland China.

In the future, the Group will continue to explore more opportunities
in contributing to community services.
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Report of the Directors

SEESHREE

The directors (the “Directors”) of Merdeka Financial Group Limited
(the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) present
the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in Cayman
Islands and its principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room
1108, 11/F., Wing On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central,
Hong Kong.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.

The subsidiaries are engaged in (i) financial services business including
the securities brokerage services, provision of corporate finance
advisory services, asset management business, money lending services
and financial leasing business; (ii) corporate consulting business
including company secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services and management consulting services; (iii) trading
business; and (iv) information technology business. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the vyear.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2019 set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 83 to 84.

The board (the “Board”) of the Directors resolved not to pay any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2019 is set out in the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 6 and pages 7
to 18 respectively.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the results and assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests of the Group for the last five financial years are set out on
pages 212.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARE OPTIONS AND CONVERTIBLE
BONDS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital, share options
and convertible bonds during the year are set out in notes 32, 42
and 27 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year
are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2019, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution (2018: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers, respectively, during
the financial year is as follows:

FTEEFRUERD

ERIZEP RHEANMBEREDBIFMEHAS
B ERRRBREARENDT

Percentage of the Group’s

total sales

EAEEAEERERS L
2019 2018
20194 20184
Largest customer SN 84.01% 75.47%
Five largest customers hARBEF#E 90.87% 88.58%

Percentage of the Group’s
total purchase

HrAEEARBEESL
2019 2018
20194 20184
Largest supplier BAGEER 39.97% 80.73%
Five largest suppliers BN Y 94.82% 96.11%

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) (which, to the best knowledge
of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group had not made charitable or other donation during the year
ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).
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EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

(b)

Impact of novel coronavirus outbreak

Since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
in January 2020, a series of precautionary and control measures
have been and continued to be implemented across the
counties including but not limited to the subsequent quarantine
measures and travel restrictions imposed by the respective local
government. The COVID-19 has impacts on the business
operation for various industries and overall global economy. It is
expected that the COVID-19 has certain impact of the financial
performance of the Group in the first half of 2020. The Group
will keep continuous attention on the situation of the
COVID-19, assess and react actively to its impacts on the
financial position and operating results of the Group.

(i) Proposed rights issue on the basis of four (4) rights
shares for every one (1) existing share held on the record
date; (ii) Connected transaction — subscription of
convertible bonds under specific mandate; and (iii)
Connected transaction — proposed amendments to the
terms of the 2008 convertible bonds

(i) The Company proposed to implement the rights issue on
the basis of four (4) rights shares for every one (1)
existing share of the Company held on the record date at
the subscription price of HK$0.110 per rights share, to
raise not less than approximately HK$115.37 million
before expenses (assuming no outstanding share options
being exercised), and not more than approximately
HK$115.38 million before expenses (assuming all
outstanding share options being exercised) by issuing not
less than 1,048,802,876 rights shares and not more than
1,048,935,672 rights shares.

(b)
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(ii)

(iii)

On 10 January 2020, the Company entered into the
subscription agreement (as supplemented by the
supplemental agreement dated 20 March 2020) with
Team Sunny International Holdings Limited (“Team
Sunny”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands and is wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Hin Shek (“Mr.
Wong"), pursuant to which Team Sunny has conditionally
agreed to subscribe and the Company has conditionally
agreed to issue the convertible bonds in the principal
amount of HK$39,805,651 (which are convertible into
conversion shares at the conversion price of HK$0.110
per share (subject to adjustments)) for the settlement of
the outstanding debt due from the Company to Mr.
Wong of HK$39,805,651 (the “CB Subscription”). The
subscription amount payable by Team Sunny under the
subscription agreement shall be satisfied by way of
offsetting (i) the principal amount of HK$8,000,000 under
a promissory note with principal amounts of HK$8.0
million issued by the Company (the “2019 PN”) as a
consideration for the acquisition of Merdeka Professional
Services Limited (“MPSL") (formerly known as Veda
Corporate Services Limited) together with its subsidiaries
(“MPSL Group”) and payable by the Company to Mr.
Wong (which will be assigned to Team Sunny by Mr.
Wong at the completion of the subscription to facilitate
the set-off); and (ii) the outstanding principal amount and
part of the accrued interest in an aggregate amount of
HK$31,805,651 under Mr. Wong’s facilities payable by
the Company to Mr. Wong (which will be assigned to
Team Sunny by Mr. Wong at the completion of the
subscription to facilitate the set-off).

On 10 January 2020, the Company and the holder(s) (“CB
Holders”) of the convertible bonds issued by the
Company on 12 August 2008 (the “2008 CBs"”) entered
into the fourth supplemental deed, pursuant to which the
Company and the CB Holders conditionally agreed to
amend certain terms of the 2008 CB such that (a) the
maturity date of the 2008 CB be extended for a further
term of three years from 13 August 2020 to 12 August
2023; and (b) the conversion price of the 2008 CB be
revised from HK$0.95 per conversion share to HK$0.110
per conversion share with effect from 13 August 2020
(subject to adjustments). Save for the above
amendments, all other terms of the 2008 CB shall remain
unchanged and valid.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 10 January 2020, and 20 March 2020 and the
Company’s circular dated 27 March 2020.

(ii)

(iii)
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(9]

(d)

Extension of the maturity date of the promissory note

On 28 February 2020, Mr. Wong entered into an extension
deed (which was agreed and accepted by the Company),
agreeing that (i) the maturity date of 2019 PN shall be
extended to the date of completion of the CB Subscription or
the date on which the CB Subscription lapses, whichever is the
earlier, or such later date as Mr. Wong and the Company may
mutually agree in writing (the “New Maturity Date”) and; (ii)
all interest accrued on the outstanding principal amount of the
2019 PN shall be repayable on the fifth business day
immediately after the date of completion of the proposed rights
issue or the date on which the proposed rights issue and the
underwriting agreement are terminated or lapse, whichever is
the earlier, or such other date as Mr. Wong and the Company
may mutually agree in writing. For the avoidance of doubt, no
interest shall continue to accrue after the full repayment of the
principal amount of the 2019 PN on the New Maturity Date.
Save for the above amendments, all other terms and conditions
of the 2019 PN shall remain unchanged and in full and effect
in all aspects.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 28
February 2020.

Memorandum of understanding in relation to the possible
acquisition of the digital insurance and related business

On 20 March 2020, Joy Sunny Investment Limited, a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a non-legally
binding memorandum of understanding with two independent
third parties (collectively, the “YAS Vendors”) regarding the
Group's intention to acquire certain amount of shares of YAS
Digital Limited owned by YAS Vendors at a consideration
subject to further negotiation by the parties thereto.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20
March 2020.
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(d)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2019 and up to
the date of this Annual Report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (appointed on 1 April 2019)
Mr. Lau Chi Yan, Pierre (resigned on 31 May 2019)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina (appointed on 7 May 2019)
Mr. Wong Wing Kit (appointed on 14 October 2019)
Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann

Mr. Au-yeung Sei Kwok (resigned on 31 October 2019)
Mr. Ng Kay Kwok (resigned on 1 April 2019)

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
one year and thereafter from year to year subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meetings of the
Company (the “AGM") in accordance with the articles of associations
of the Company (the "Articles”). According to the Articles, all
Directors (except the Chairman and the managing Director) are
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the AGM.

In accordance with articles 86(2) and 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. Wong
Wing Kit will retire at the forthcoming AGM. Pursuant to article 87 of
the Articles, Ms. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and, both retiring Directors are eligible and will
offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and, as at the date of
this Annual Report, still considers them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a term of
one year and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the AGM in accordance with the Articles.

The two executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
("Mr. Cheung”), and Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping have each entered into a
two-year service contract with the Company commencing from 24
August 2012 and 1 April 2019 respectively, and would continue
thereafter until terminated by either party.

No Director had a service contract with the Company, which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS IN
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, the Directors and chief executive of the
Company and/or any of their respective associates had the following
interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and/or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO")), as
recorded in the register kept by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to
Model Code contained in the Rules (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange:

(i) Long positions in the shares of the Company:
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percentage of the
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Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REE 55,781 55,781 0.02
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(ii)

Long positions in the underlying shares of the convertible  (ii)
bonds of the Company:

Principal
amount of the
convertible

RAEQXFTRBRESASREABRD TR -

Approximate
Number percentage of the

of the total total issued share

bonds underlying shares capital of the Company
RN
Name of the holder AR R E S ARRES DRITRAHAE
of the convertible bonds BEAKE ZEREEHE HERGEAE ZHABEDE
HK$ (%)

I
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson KEE 110,000,000 115,789,473 4416

Note: These convertible bonds (originally due on 12 August 2011 and
extended to 12 August 2020) were issued by the Company on
12 August 2008 as part of the consideration to acquire the
forestry business. They are unlisted, interest-free and convertible
into the shares of the Company at the adjusted conversion price
of HK$0.095 per share of the Company (subject to adjustment
according to the terms of the convertible bonds). The interest is
held by Ivana, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands owned as to 100% by CW Limited, which in turn is
wholly-owned by Asiatrust Limited, a trust company in its
capacity as the trustee of a discretionary trust, the founder (as
defined in the SFO) of which is Mr. Cheung and the
discretionary objects which are family members of Mr. Cheung
(including Mr. Cheung himself).
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2019, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company and/or any of their
respective associates had any interest and short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and/or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of the SFO or the GEM
Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2019, so far as was known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company based on the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, the following persons
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register of interests
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO
and were directly or indirectly interest in 5% or more of the nominal
value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote on all
circumstances at general meeting of any other members of the
Group:
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(i)

Long positions in the shares of the Company: (i)

RERARGZHFE -

Approximate
percentage of total
Number of issued share capital of

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest/capacity Shares the Company
HARQTEBHITRA
BRRERB EEME 54 RHEAR BE2HBANEIE
(%)
Team Sunny International Holdings Beneficial owner 47,164,000 17.99
Limited (Note 1) BED#EEA
SERREIBERR B IR A A(KTFE)
Wong Hin Shek (Note 1) Controlled corporation 47,164,000 17.99
TEE (1) ZPEHEE
Yihua Enterprises Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 17,391,304 6.63
wmEPEER AR (HFE2) BE=mEAA
Yang Biao (Note 2) Controlled corporation 17,391,304 6.63
5% (M 5E2) ZPEHEE
Notes: MsE

(1

)

The interest is held by Team Sunny International Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands owned as to
100% by Mr. Wong Hin Shek.

The interest is held by Yihua Enterprises Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands owned as to 100% by
Mr. Yang Biao.

The percentage represented the percentage of the Company’s
share capital as stated in the relevant disclosure of interests
forms.

(2)
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(ii)  Long positions in the underlying shares of the convertible

(i) RAERATRREFITERIEBEK G 2L

bonds of the Company: E:
Approximate
Principal Number of percentage of
amount of the the total the total issued
Name of the holder of convertible underlying share capital of
the convertible bonds Nature of Interest bonds shares the Company
EEAT
]R8 E % ERITRAEE
TRREFBFEALRE EEME ZEREHE HE R D AR ZHABESE
HK$ (%)
BT
Ivana Beneficial owner 110,000,000 115,789,473 4416
EHEEA
CW Limited (Note) (Mf3F) Controlled corporation 110,000,000 115,789,473 44.16
SEHEE
Asiatrust Limited (Note) (Fff3¥) Trustee 110,000,000 115,789,473 4416
ZFEA
Note: The interest is held by Ivana, a company incorporate in the British M5 ZEmAvanats A o vana R EBE LB
Virgin Islands owned as to 100% by CW Limited, which in turn BaEMMEZLZ AR - BCW Limited#H
is wholly-owned by Asiatrust Limited, a trust company in its 100% # % - MCW Limited B4 Asiatrust
capacity as the trustee of a discretionary trust, the founder (as Limited® & A ° Asiatrust Limited &— &
defined in the SFO) of which is Mr. Cheung and the EE AR BEHERZITA  Z2E
discretionary objects of which are family members of Mr. EREZAIMA (EERFHFRIEEN) B
Cheung (including Mr. Cheung himself). REE R ABREEZREKE (BIE
REERAN) ©
Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive of the PFRENEEEIN  ARAREZRERITRABLT

Company are not aware that there is any party who, as at 31
December 2019, had an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company and the
movements during the year are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year ended 31 December 2019.

The 2008 CBs as part of the consideration for the acquisition of
forest concessions in Papua, Indonesia, upon the completion of the
acquisition of the entire issued share capital of Blossom Height.

As at 31 December 2019, the Company had outstanding 2008 CBs of
aggregate principal amounts of HK$124,068,000 which could be
converted into 136,597,895 Shares.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s Interests in securities of the Company” and “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2019 was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated
corporations, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and
chief executive of the Company (including their respective spouse and
children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any of its associated corporations.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping (“Ms. Tsang”), an executive Director, is a
director of a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
which is principally engaged in the provision of company secretarial
services for non-listed Hong Kong companies in Hong Kong (“HK Co
Sec Business”). Ms. Tsang has irrevocably and unconditionally
provided the Company an undertaking in accordance with the terms
and conditions under outside interests and non-competition
undertaking set out in her service agreement (“Ms. Tsang
Undertaking”).

Pursuant to Ms. Tsang Undertaking, save for the HK Co Sec Business,
(i) without the prior written consent of the Board, Ms. Tsang shall
not, and shall procure her close associates not to, whether directly or
indirectly, carry on a business which is, or be interested or involved or
engaged in or acquire or hold any rights or interest or otherwise
involved in any business which competes or is likely to compete
directly or indirectly with the business currently and from time to time
engaged by the Group (”“Ms. Tsang Restricted Business”); (ii) if Ms.
Tsang and/or any of her close associates is offered or becomes aware
of any project or new business opportunity (“Ms. Tsang New
Business Opportunity”) that relates to the Ms. Tsang Restricted
Business, Ms. Tsang shall (a) promptly within ten (10) Business Days
notify the Company in writing of such Ms. Tsang New Business
Opportunity and provide such information as is reasonably required by
the Company in order to enable the Company to come to an
informed assessment of such Ms. Tsang New Business Opportunity;
and (b) use her best endeavors to procure that such Ms. Tsang New
Business Opportunity is offered to the Company on terms no less
favorable than the terms on which such Ms. Tsang New Business
Opportunity is offered to her and/or her close associates; and (iii) if
the Group has not given written notice of its desire to invest in such
Ms. Tsang New Business Opportunity or has given written notice
denying the Ms. Tsang New Business Opportunity within thirty (30)
Business Days of receipt of notice from Ms. Tsang, Ms. Tsang and/or
her close associates shall be permitted to invest in or participate in
the Ms. Tsang New Business Opportunity on her own record.

Save as disclosed, no other Directors or their respective associates (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed, no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which any of the
Company’s subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in
which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time
during the year or at the end of the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the share option scheme and convertible bonds of the
Company, no other equity-linked agreements were entered into by the
Company, or existed during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to Code Provision A.1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code
set out under Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules and subject to
the provisions of the Companies Ordinance, the Company has
arranged for appropriate insurance cover for directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of any losses or liabilities incurred, or any legal
actions brought against the directors and senior management of the
Group which may arise out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as
required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the share option scheme, at no time during the year was
the Company or its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole and any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or in existence during the year.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed, the Company did not have any other connected
transactions which were subject to the reporting requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules for the year ended 31
December 2019.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the vyear, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
business and operations of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY AND RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The emolument policy of the senior employees of the Company is set
and recommended by the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”) to the Board on the basis of the
employees’ merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are formulated and recommended
by the Remuneration Committee to the Board, having regards to the
Company’s operating results, individual performance of the Directors
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to
the Directors and eligible employees of the Company, details of which
are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial statement.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Company encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection. The Company has
adhered to the concepts of recycling and reducing by implementing
green office practices such as double-sided printing and copying,
using recycle papers and reducing energy by switching off those idle
lighting. The Board will review the Company’s environmental saving
practices and identify other energy efficiency opportunities from time
to time.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are our valuable assets. Thus
the Group provides competitive remuneration package to attract and
motivate the employees. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration package of employees and makes necessary adjustments
to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with business partners to achieve its long-term goals.
Accordingly, our senior management have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business update with them
when appropriate. During the vyear, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its business partners.

KEY RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group has reviewed the possible risks and uncertainties which
may affect its businesses, financial condition, operations and
prospects. The followings are the key risks and uncertainties identified
by the Group. There may be other risks and uncertainties in addition
to those shown below which are not known to the Group or which
may not be material now but could turn out to be material in the
future.

Risk pertaining to trading business

Trading business continues to provide a stable source of revenue to
the Group. The business is running steadily but competitive with a
thin profit margin, the Group is expanding its trading business into
more variety of consumer products. The Group’s trading outlet is
located in Sheung Shui, where is nearer to its customers visiting Hong
Kong from the People’s Republic of China. The variety of the Group’s
trading products has been enlarged to confectioneries and pharmacy
products and sourced locally and from overseas, such as Japan and
other Asia countries. Any amendment or addition to existing laws and
regulations of such countries may affect future profitability of the
operation.

Given the profit margin is minimal, any further decrease in market
price or increase in competition will further reduce profit margin of
the business. The Group has been actively seeking to secure
appropriate suppliers at reasonable cost. Before that is achieved there
is a risk that the Group may not be able to operate the trading
business at sufficient profit margin continuously under a competitive
environment.
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Furthermore, as the targeted customers of the Group are those
visiting Hong Kong from the PRC, if hostility between Hong Kong
civilians and PRC visitors continue to rise and intensify, it could result
in a negative impact on the tourism and retail industries in Hong
Kong which could deter PRC tourists from visiting Hong Kong.

Due to the outbreak of the novel coronavirus over the world, Hong
Kong’'s Department of Health has introduced the compulsory
quarantine arrangement to persons arriving at Hong Kong from
foreign places on 19 March 2020, and noticed the public should go
out less and reduce social activities, and maintain appropriate social
distance with other people as far as possible. Hong Kong has also
restricted travel from the PRC by suspending train services and closing
certain borders with the PRC. All these additional virus-control policies
will hit the Hong Kong tourism industry hard. As the big reduction in
the number of PRC tourists visiting Hong Kong, the Group expects
that there will be a sharp decline in revenue of the trading business
of the Group as it relies heavily on the PRC tourists consumption.

Risk pertaining to financial services business

The Group’s financial services business in relation to securities
brokerage services, provision of corporate finance advisory services and
asset management business are highly dependent on the activeness of
the financial market in Hong Kong. Any sudden downturn in the
global economic and sudden change in political environment, which
are beyond the control of the Group, may adversely affect the
financial market sentiment. Severe fluctuation in market and economic
sentiments may also lead to a prolonged period of sluggish market
activities which would in turn incur adverse impact on the business
and operating performance of the Group. As such, the revenue and
profitability of the Group may fluctuate and there is no assurance
that the Group will be able to maintain our historical financial results
under difficult or unstable economic conditions.
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In addition, the Hong Kong financial market in which the Group
operates is highly regulated. There are changes in rules and
regulations from time to time in relation to the regulatory regime for
the financial services industry, including but not limited to, the SFO,
the Securities and Futures (Financial Resources) Rules (Chapter 571N
of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modified from time to time, the GEM Listing Rules, the trading rules
of the Stock Exchange and the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and
Mergers. Any such changes might result in an increase in the cost of
compliance, or might restrict the business activities of the Group. In
case the Group fails to comply with the applicable rules and
regulations from time to time, it might result in fines, restrictions on
the Group's activities or even suspension or revocation of some or all
of the licences for carrying on the business activities of the Group.
Accordingly, the business operation and financial results the might be
materially and adversely affected.

Regarding to the Group’s financial leasing business and money
lending business, these two segments are subject to risks that a
customer or counterparty may fail to perform its contractual
obligations or that the value of collateral held to secure the
obligations might be inadequate. While the Group has internal
policies and procedures designed to manage such risks, these policies
and procedures may not be fully effective. Any material non-payment
or non-performance by a customer or counterparty could adversely
affect the Group’s financial position, results of operations and cash
flows. In addition, both businesses are highly pegged with the
fluctuation of interest rates and change of monetary policies, which
may be affected due to the economic, political and social conditions
both locally and globally and are beyond the Group’s control.

Risk pertaining to corporate consulting business

The Group's corporate consulting business segment may be affected
by, among other things, demand for its services, its capacity to
undertake new projects, the number of listed companies and
corporate actions conducted by them in Hong Kong as well as other
external factors which may be outside the control of the Group.
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Also, we materially rely on our staff to provide reliable and quality
corporate consulting services to our clients, and believe that our
experienced staff has developed strong relationships with our clients
through their ability to provide personalised services through
understanding clients’ needs. There is however no guarantee that our
staff will or are willing to continue to serve our Group which might
negatively influence our client base and business relationship with
them.

Market competition is another key factor affecting our business. Apart
from the large multi-national corporate consultancy institutions with
global network and local presence in Hong Kong, the Group faces
local competition from branded medium-sized and well-established
corporate consultancy firms, which offer similar range of services as
our Group. The Group may not be able to compete effectively and
successfully with the competitors and its results of operations may be
adversely affected should such competition is being intensified.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Company is not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company's securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed shares during the year

ended 31 December 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Full details on the Company’s corporate governance practices are set
out on pages 21 to 41.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) was
established with written terms of reference which are in line with the
Corporate Governance Code in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules
and comprises three independent non-executive Directors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of the
Company and the external auditor the Group’s annual results for the
year ended 31 December 2019, and was of the opinion that the
preparation of such results are in compliance with the relevant
accounting standards, rules and regulations and that adequate
disclosures have been made.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the total
issued share capital of the Company as required under the GEM
Listing Rules throughout the financial period under review and up to
the date of this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019 have been audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditors of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
4 May 2020
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elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF MERDEKA FINANCIAL GROUP LIMITED
(FORMERLY KNOWN AS MERDEKA FINANCIAL SERVICES GROUP LIMITED)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Merdeka
Financial Group Limited (formerly known as Merdeka Financial Services
Group Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the
"Group”) set out on pages 83 to 211, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2019 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the consolidated financial statements, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 3(a) in the consolidated financial
statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$113,421,000 during the year ended 31 December 2019 and, as
of that date, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by HK$128,453,000. As stated in Note 3(a), these events or
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3(a),
indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant
doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key Audit Matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

Allowance for impairment assessment of trade receivables,
finance lease receivables and other receivables

The Group’s trade receivables, finance lease receivables and other
receivables are accounted for approximately 60% of the Group’s total
assets. The assessment of impairment of trade receivables, finance
lease receivables and other receivables under the expected credit loss
("ECL") model is considered to be a matter of most significance as it
requires the application of judgement and use of subjective
assumptions by management.

Management performed periodic assessment on the recoverability of
the trade receivables, finance lease receivables and other receivables
and the sufficiency of provision for impairment based on information
including credit profile of different debtors, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement status, expected timing and amount of
realisation of outstanding balances, and on-going relationships with
the relevant debtors. Management also considered forward looking
information that may impact the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to estimate the expected credit losses
for the impairment assessment.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our major audit procedures to address the management’s impairment
assessment of trade receivables finance lease receivables and other
receivables included the following:

o Understanding and evaluating the key controls that the Group
has implemented to manage and monitor its credit risk, and
validating the control effectiveness on a sample basis;

o Performing independent credit reviews of trade receivables,
finance lease receivables and other receivables on a sample
basis, considering the credit profiles of the debtors, guarantors
and the collaterals (if any), as well as external evidence and
factors, to assess whether management’s assessment of ECL
was appropriate; and

o Assessing management’s forecast of future repayments and
current financial conditions of the debtors, based on historical
experience, value of collaterals (if any) and observable external
data.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibility of Directors and Audit Committee for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determined is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

3 obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

3 evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

3 conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

3 evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

3 obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Man Kin with practising certificate number
PO7174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 4 May 2020

10th Floor,
8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

HoBRmMEMERWNAR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z 201912 A31HIEFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FHEIT
REVENUE ON 5 482,705 559,785
Cost of sales $HE AN (465,767) (544,650)
Gross profit EF 16,938 15,135
Other income and gains or losses H A R e sk Es 1R 6 2,496 1,412
Operating expenses e (23,068) (36,419)
Administrative expenses THER (13,539) (12,134)
Impairment loss on goodwill EEREER 15 — (5,803)
Impairment loss on intangible assets B ERERE 16 (1,205) —
Impairment loss on trade receivables Z HREKFIBREER 21 (4,496) (5,217)
Impairment loss on prepayments, TEIFRIE « Re R E A ERGR
deposits and other receivables B EEE 22 (2,005) (64,422)
Impairment loss on finance lease Al & 10 & WK IE R B B 1R
receivables 18 (77,458) —
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B ARz W 41(a)&(b) 533 —
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries  Fff/E A A5 8 B 50 2 Yk 41(c)&(d) 1,204 —
Finance costs A& KA 7 (13,292) (12,256)
LOSS BEFORE TAXATION MBS 18 8 (113,892) (119,704)
Income tax FriE it 11 471 —
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AEEEIE (113,421) (119,704)
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MOBRMHEHMEBAWNAR

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHIT
Other comprehensive income: Htz2mEmEA -
Items that may be reclassified HEAREET D EE B
subsequently to profit or loss: EA :
Exchange differences arising on BREBIMNEEEBHIE K
translation of foreign operations R (3,002) (9,855)
Release of exchange reserve upon HEMBRRHEAR
disposal/deregistration of subsidiaries & #5 & s0 12 MR R IE 5 Rh @ 41(b)&(c) 132 =
Item that will not be subsequently RET S8BT EEBDZ
reclassified to profit or loss: EA :
Changes in fair value of financial assets MARAFEET AH b2 E
at fair value through other WAZEREEATEMR
comprehensive income #E) 19 32 —
Other comprehensive income for AEEHME2EEBA
the year (2,838) (9,855)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AEEZEARA
FOR THE YEAR (116,259) (129,559)
Loss for the year attributable to: EhEEAFEERE:
Owners of the Company RABREREE A (84,110) (92,051)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (29,311) (27,653)
(113,421) (119,704)
Total comprehensive income EH2EARA :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company KARIREER A (85,704) (97,880)
Non-controlling interests FEEAR e (30,555) (31,679)
(116,259) (129,559)
LOSS PER SHARE TO OWNERS OF AAFRREHEEAEEER
THE COMPANY (]
(Restated)
(#&751)

Basic and diluted AR #E 13 (HK$0.357% 7T) (HK$0.427 7T)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

fn © B 15 A I ¥R &R

As at 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment - BE R 14 1,891 2,682
Statutory deposit EERE 510 510
Goodwill GRS 15 5,470 —
Intangible assets EmRAE 16 5,450 5,705
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 8,706 —
Finance lease receivables A& pE Y IE 18 — 5,283
Financial assets at fair value through other MAAFEBEFAEMEE
comprehensive income WAZEMEE 19 2,032 —
Total non-current assets EMBEERE 24,059 14,180
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 20 485 1,010
Trade receivables E 5 ' W RIE 21 29,888 2,460
Prepayments, deposits and TERNRIE - Re REM
other receivables JE WK IE 22 14,479 112,731
Finance lease receivables B & & R WGRIR 18 81,071 547,941
Held-for-trade investments AHEEKE — 428
Bank balances — trust accounts RITHEEH — EEEF 23 31,651 6,543
Bank balances and cash — RITHEB RIS
general accounts —RERP 23 15,454 12,255
Total current assets MEEEMLE 173,028 683,368
Current liabilities REAE
Borrowings B 25 4,884 415,788
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 5,003 —
Convertible bonds A AR & 27 116,344 —
Promissory note LRI 28 8,005 —
Trade payables B 5 R 5IE 29 60,183 13,652
Other payables and accruals Hth fE T 0B R FEEH B R 30 106,721 149,709
Tax payables FET IR 341 1,048
Total current liabilities mEAEER 301,481 580,197
Net current (liabilities)/assets FE(EE) EBERE (128,453) 103,171
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERABERS (104,394) 117,351
Non-current liabilities kRBER
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEAR 31 1,128 941
Convertible bonds Al AR & 5 27 — 105,651
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 3,842 —
Total non-current liabilities EMBBEERE 4,970 106,592
Net (liabilities)/assets (BB BEFHE (109,364) 10,759




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

#n © W 85 R i R =

As at 31 December 2019 72019412 A31H

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$"000 HK$'000
Bt FET FAT
EQUITY fEm

Share capital &7 32 2,622 2,040
Reserves i (146,725) (60,351)

Equity attributable to owners of the AT REREE A
Company EhER (144,103) (58,311)
Non-controlling interests FE PR R 2 34,739 69,070
Total (deficiency)/equity (4 HEmEE (109,364) 10,759

These consolidated financial statements on pages 83 to 211 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors

May 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
REE
Director

EF

R EBE2NENZEGRAUBERREHESTS
R2020F5 B4 BZAERFEETE - WHIATESAR
BEE

Tsang Kwai Ping
BN
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
uﬂ' (] HR $T fm ek ij] %

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # Z 201912 A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARAREES AL
Fair value
Equity through other
component of Capital Exchange comprehensive Non-
Share  Contributed  convertible ~ Share option reduction  fluctuation income Other  Accumulated controlling
Share capital ~ premium* surplus* bonds* reserve* reserve* reserve* *reseg% reserve* losses* Total interests  Total equity
WA¥

TRkEE:  ERERRE Bx  EXRE FARB2E
Bx  BfaEr  #ARG  REds B HEEE R WARE  RbRE  RiTER & FERRs Al
HK§000 HK§000 HKSO00  HKS'000  HKS000  HK§'000 HK§000 HK§000 HK§000 HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK§'000
TR TR ThR T T TR TR TR TR ThR T T TR

As at 31 December 2017 520175128318 &
and 1 January 2018, as 2018$1ﬂ1ﬁ 0

original presented oA 2,040 957,059 66,710 53,115 2138 163,191 (3,542) - - (1,225,781) 40,114 101,046 141,160
Effect on adoption of M’]@?WW&*@W
HKFRS 9 oz e - - - - - - - - - (545) (545) (297) (842)

As at 31 December 2017 W20176 12318 R
and 1 January 2018, 201881818

as restated fEL]) 2,040 957,059 66,710 53,115 2138 163,191 (3,542) - - (1,226,332) 39,569 100,749 140,318
Comprehensive income ~ 2EKA
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - (92,051) (92,051) (27,653) (119,704)
Other comprehensive Ef2ERA
income
Exchange difference BEENMIEEDN
arising on [ 3531
translation of
foreign operations - - - - - - (5829) - - - (5829 (4,026) (9,855)
Total comprehensive loss 2 EHEE = = = = = = (5,829) = = (92,051) (97,380) (31,679 (129,559)
As at 31 December 2018 R2018%12A318 2,040 957,059 66,710 53,115 2138 163,191 (9,371) - = (1,318,383) (58,311) 69,070 10,759
As at 31 December 2018 H20185 124318 R
and 1 January 2019, 201981418
as original presented kA2 2,040 957,059 66,710 53,115 2138 163,191 9371) - - (1,318,383) (58311) 69,070 10,759
Effect on adoption of REEIBRSER
HKFRS 16 F16% 27 - - - - - - - - - (68) (68) L (1)

As at 31 December 2018 K2018%12A318 R
and 1 January 2019, 201981418

as restated FEL]) 2,040 957,059 66,710 53,115 2138 163,191 9371) - - (1,318451) (58379) 69,066 10,687
Comprehensive income ~ 2EKA
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - - (84,110) (84,110) 9311)  (113421)
Other comprehensive H2ERA
income
Exchange difference BEEMIEERY
arising on [ 3531
translation of
foreign operations - - - - - - (1,758) - - - (1,758) (1,244) (3,002)
Release of exchange HEHBAT/HEA
Teserve Upon AREREER
disposal/ B 6E
deregistration of (1) RC)
subsidiaries
(note 41(b)&(c) - - - - - - 132 - - - 132 - 132
Changes in fai value of NATEET ALY
finandal assets at 2EhAZER
fair value through LELTEERD
other
comprehensive
income - - - - - - - 2 - - 32 - k7]
Total comprehensive loss 2 EHEE - - - - - - (1,626) 2 - (84,110) (85,704) (30,555 (116,259
Lapse of share options BRELH - - - - (2.32) - - - - 234 - - -
Disposalideregistration of ~ HEHBA 'I/ HEAR
subsiciares it e
(note 41(b)&(d)) (WBIM( )R (d) - - - - - - - - - - - (320) (320)
Placing shares EERD 408 6,120 - - - - - - - - 6,528 - 6,528
Arsing from transaction EMMFW&%M&%
with non-controling (Hiz4
interest (note 40) - - - - - - - - (6,548) - (6,548) (3.452) (10,000)
Shares issued upon exercse ~ WEREHEFEELT
of convertible bond it 174 30213 - (30,387) - - - - - - - - -
As at 31 December 2019 20195128318 2,622 993,392 66,710 2,18 25,004 163,191 (10,997) 2 (6,548)  (1,400,237) (144,103) 34739 (109,364)

@ These reserve accounts comprised the reserve balances as presented in ~ * ZEFEBRE BREREA W BIRIRE T 2580
the consolidated statement of financial position. fEaEekR o



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= /A AN =]
REIREMER
For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F12 A31HIEFE

2019 2018
20195 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5E FERT FH&IT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXEEBESHRE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before taxation B 756 Al BT 18 (113,892) (119,704)
Adjustments for: HEE
Finance costs A& A A 7 13,292 12,256
Interest income FEUA 6 (59) (57)
Amortisation of intangible assets T A EE RO GR 16 190 —
Depreciation of property, plant and M¥E - BEREETE
equipment 14 1,151 1,832
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 17 4,944 —
Gain on disposal of property, plant and H&E¥% - HEME#H
equipment W zs — (545)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENB AR WK 41(a)&(b) (533) —
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries i@ AlsE i B 2 Wi 41(0)&(d) (1.204) -
Loss/(gain) on sale of held-for-trade HEREEEREZERE
investments (W z5) 6 233 (77)
Unrealised loss on held-for-trade AHEEREREHEBRE
investments — 98
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2 5 RN IE R EEE 21 4,496 5,217
Impairment loss on prepayments, TERTRIE - e R H b FEUL
deposits and other receivables RIEREEE 22 2,005 64,422
Impairment loss on finance lease BEHEEYGRIBREEE
receivables 18 77,458 =
Impairment loss on goodwill B R E 1R 15 — 5,803
Impairment loss on intangible assets M & EREEE 16 1,205 —
Proceeds from disposal of held-for-trade & 7] £ & B % & T8 5B
investments 195 85
Written off of bad debts 2 AR 8R — 154
Written off of inventories FE M 155 31
Written off of the liabilities of M —HERAMBARZ
a dissolved subsidiary A& — (961)
Operating loss before working capital 1% & E & & E B Al
changes K EE (10,364) (31,446)
Decrease in inventories FERL 270 239
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables & 5 FEUZIE (3 0) 84 (30,972) 523
Decrease in loan receivables FEWE TR — 400
Decrease in finance lease receivables 7 & 70 & e W SR IR R 384,393 1,476,292
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TBNRIE -~ e REtmEK
deposits and other receivables IR A, (38 h0) 94,638 (107,738)
Increase in bank balances — trust RITHER — EFEERFIG N
account (25,107) (784)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables Z 5 AT IEE M, R 4) 47,297 (32,660)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables ot JE A5 3IE R BT A
and accruals CRLA) /18 70 (43,884) 41,859
Cash generated from operations KEEBELEZRS 416,271 1,346,685
Tax paid [RENES TR — (1,110)
Interest paid B FE (1,513) (881)
Net cash generated from operating CEEFELE S FH
activities 414,758 1,344,694
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2019 2018
20194 20184
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5% FET FHEIT
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REETHRESRE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest income received B ERITH B WA 59 57
Investment in financial assets at fair IAAFEEGAHEA
value through other comprehensive ZHEBAZ 2@
income BERE 19 (2,000) =
Purchases of property, plant and BEWME  BEREE
equipment 14 (354) (2,185)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BEREBHE
plant and equipment KIE — 1,579
Net cash inflow from disposal of HEMRBARIZE®RA
subsidiaries FEE — 2,821
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a  WEE—FM B AR ZRE
subsidiary MA 39 2,654 =
Net cash generated from investing BEFHELEZHSFHE
activities 359 2,272
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METEEESRE
ACTIVITIES
Net cash outflow from transaction with JE#EREE =2 5 HIIR &
non-controlling interest R RE 40 (10,000) =
Interest paid on bank borrowings and ~ FRERITIE R R FEHRE
finance lease obligation EEZNZHE (351) (392)
Proceeds from placing of shares fid & MR 10 FT 15 ﬁlﬁ 6,528 =
Payment of lease liabilities EEHEAE (4,876) —
Repayments of bank borrowings EEIRITER (405,138) (1,369,564)
Repayments of finance lease obligation f{& % g4 & 78 & i — (962)
Net cash used in financing activities BMEEBAA 2B € FHE (413,837) (1,370,918)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH BEeRELZEHEHR
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #i,/(Rd) B 1,280 (23,952)
Bank balances and cash RITHER RIS
— general accounts at the beginning — F#—&REF
of the year 12,255 36,490
Effect of foreign exchange rate SNISTE R BB 2 7
changes, net FER 35 (283)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRBeRRESEHEER
of the year 13,570 12,255
Analysis of the balances of cash and BE&RBRESZEEER &8
cash equivalents 2
Bank balances and cash — general WITHEBERE — — K
accounts iR 23 15,454 12,255
Bank overdrafts RITEX 25 (1,884) —

Cash and cash equivalents as at year FREEKEESEEIEE
ended 13,570 12,255




Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F12 A31HIEFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its share are listed on GEM. Its registered office is
located at the offices of Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman lIslands and the
principal place of business is located at Room 1108, 11F, Wing
On Centre, 111 Connaught Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the principal activity
of the Company was investment holding. The principal activities
of the subsidiaries comprised of financial services business,
corporate consulting business, trading business and information
technology business.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective
1 January 2019

The HKICPA has issued a number of new or amended
HKFRSs that are first effective for the current accounting
period of the Group:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments

Amendments to Prepayment Features and

HKFRS 9 Negative Compensation
Amendments to Long-term Interests in
HKAS 28 Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to
HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11,
HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except for the effect stated below, the adoption of the
new/revised HKFRSs has no material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statement.

NS

AR A —HRREREEMKXLZBRA
Al » RO ANGEM ETh o HeEft i FE LR
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands * M EZ & E AR BEERIRTHA
BRIFKZHOI11HEI1108E °

HE2019F12A31HILEFE  ARRNEE
EBAREER  MHBRARNTEELS
FEEMRBER  CERBRNETS  BFEBR
BABHE 2T ©

AN S B U R IR SR ([ BB X IR

S¥ER )

(@) BAHETRIETEBRBEREER —
M2019F1A1BEX

BRI EAGRMNE T Ha] HEIERT
BAREMBREER  ZFEUARAEKE
BRI ERAERER

BEMBHREREN HE

F165%

s (BB 7% Fr {5 5t e 22 /Y
HwEREBZEY) TETHE
— REFE235

BEMBREEN RFEREFUER
F95% (BRI A) BHE

ARG ER REE QAR
285 (BATA) AEREM
RHEDE

ERVHRELEL BAEMB®RE
F35% - BB EH20154F
B EERE N £20174
5 BAgRE RHEMNFE
BIZE12 R EA  BE
ErERF235%

(E&TA)

BRI XPRE MRS EIN - BRINETET iR
REAVBRERNL BEAKERS
MHBRELEEATE -
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Notes to the Financial Statements

&7 §5 ¥k 2% Bff 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2019 (Continued)

()

Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16

HKFRS 16 brings significant changes in accounting
treatment for lease accounting, primarily for
accounting for lessees. It replaces HKAS 17 Leases
(“HKAS 17"), HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15
Operating Leases-Incentives and HK(SIC)-Int 27
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving
the Legal Form of a Lease. From a lessee’s
perspective, almost all leases are recognised in the
statement of financial position as a right-of-use
assets and a lease liabilities, with the narrow
exception to this principle for leases which the
underlying assets are of low-value or are
determined as short-term leases. From a lessor's
perspective, the accounting treatment is
substantially unchanged from HKAS 17. For details
of HKFRS 16 regarding its new definition of a
lease, its impact on the Group’s accounting policies
and the transition method adopted by the Group as
allowed under HKFRS 16, please refer to section (ii)
to (v) of this note.

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 using the
cumulative effect approach and recognised all the
cumulative effect of initially applying HKFRS 16 as
an adjustment to the opening balance of
accumulated losses at the date of initial
application. The comparative information presented
in 2018 has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKAS 17 and related
interpretations as allowed by the transition
provision in HKFRS 16.

2.

NS B WIS IR SR ([ BB MR
e

SEEH ) )

(a) BR@VER] BT EBHEREER —
MR2019F18 1B EX (&)

()

RANE BB HEERE165
E 7 4

BEMBHRELANE 16K AEE
Bt (EERABANE) NS
FAARESREANE - HRKFE
B ERE17REE ((BEE
sPERE17H]) - FE (BRY
BHRERBEEE)RE — F4
RETRHFEEREHEE BE
(FRIREZEE)— REFI5
REEHEE — BEREE (CER
BEZEE)— RER27HNMG
WREELETVARSHAR
EREAZAE #FmEHEE
BRI R BR AR R LA
REENHERE  WRAHD
HOSMERBEEZHAEER
BEEXEBT/EHHEE - #£h
BAZAE SFREEABLER
BERGERNETREFFTE
BEMBHRELENE165REME
HHEEE EHAEESETH
ROFERBEMBEREELS
165% P /o S A SR B IR M B0 380K 77

ENFE  B2HAMEEHE
(V& e

AEBEERARATEZIEAE
B ERELERNE 16557 - WHER
NEEABERBYHERELEDF 16
WMBRAZEERENIR
RBMZRFTEER 2 RUERZ
HE - mBEEMHRESEAF 16
S BIBIRX AR 252
2018F ZLLEREM W |ES - I
BERBBBGAENFEITRR
HEAREEH -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(i)  Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued)
The following tables summarised the impact of the

adoption of HKFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1 January

2. MBS BUMEREER ([ SBMER

&8 )@

(a) FRMER] BT EMEREER —
A2019F1A1RER (&)

(@)

RANE BB HEERE165F
& ()

T FR AR B A S B R R 5 2E R
F16mH AEER2019F1 A1
BEGZE SRR HRRAOTE D

2019 as follows (increase/(decrease)): T OgmMCRA))
HK$'000
FET
Consolidated statement of financial position 420191818 WA SHERRBHEER
as at 1 January 2019
Right-of-use assets EREEE 9,708
Lease liabilities (non-current) HE G & (GERNER) 6,006
Lease liabilities (current) HEEE(BVE) 3,774
Total lease liabilities HEBERS 9,780
Accumulated losses REtEE (68)
Non-controlling interests JEPE PR RE RS (4)
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING 2. IR&NEBEIISKHEED ([EBIER

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued) SR D
(a) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1 (a) IRMERT REFTEBMIBHRELER —
January 2019 (Continued) R2019F1A 1B £ (4E)
(i)  Impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 (Continued) (i) BFAEBHBEHEERFE165
7 4€ )
The following reconciliation explains how the LATT %5 BR B8t 782018412 A 31
operating lease commitments disclosed applying HREABEGTEAFEI17HER
HKAS 17 at the end of 31 December 2018 could B2 2 4R MH & R A fa] AT B R
be reconciled to the lease liabilities at the date of 201941 A1 B 2R & MISARR ]
initial application recognised in the consolidated KTHEANVFEABHZEE
statement of financial position as at 1 January BEETHER
2019:
HK$’000
FHET
Reconciliation of operating lease REHEREHEEAEEEHE
commitment to lease liabilities
Operating lease commitment as of 31 M20185F 12 A31 8 2 & & EH&IE
December 2018 11,379
Less: non-lease component-management fee & : FFREL L —E R E (902)
Less: future interest expenses W ARRAER X (697)
Total lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019  R2019F1 A 1A HEABAE 9,780
The weighted average lessee’s incremental HARTE201941 A1 B 260
borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities BHRARKTERAZHEEEEZ
recognised in the consolidated statement of nEFEBABEERTER

financial position as at 1 January 2019 is 3.45%. 3.45% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(i)

The new definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a lease is defined as a contract,
or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use
an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. A contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time when the customer,
throughout the period of use, has both: (a) the
right to obtain substantially all of the economic
benefits from use of the identified asset and (b) the
right to direct the use of the identified asset.

For a contract that contains a lease component and
one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, a lessee shall allocate the
consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
unless the lessee apply the practical expedient
which allows the lessee to elect, by class of
underlying asset, not to separate non-lease
components from lease components, and instead
account for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

The Group has elected to separate non-lease
components and account for all each lease
component and any associated non-lease
components as a single lease component for all
leases.

2.

NS BMIERE

R ([ BB R

SEA D@

(a) FRMER] BT EMEREER —
A2019F1A1RER (&)

(i)

HEZHESH

REBEBHMBHREERE 165
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B R AR A P 28 B (o) RE A 36 7R
ERREEZER  AIGHNET
RE A — BB A2 I 58 P 2 33
BEE o

RESHELS R—HNZIERE
SINHEESEREL S, 2680 M
T ABABERBED S 2I8E
BEEERIIFRER S 2 REE
BRASHESSPEEHAZ
RE - BIFABAERATERE
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDAR

DS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1

Janua

ry 2019 (Continued)

(iii) Accounting as a lessee

Under HKAS 17, a lessee has to classify a lease as
an operating lease or a finance lease based on the
extent to which risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of a lease asset lie with the lessor or the
lessee. If a lease is determined as an operating
lease, the lessee would recognise the lease
payments under the operating lease as an expense
over the lease term. The asset under the lease
would not be recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the lessee.

Under HKFRS 16, all leases (irrespective of they are
operating leases or finance leases) are required to
be capitalised in the consolidated statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities, but HKFRS 16 provides accounting policy
choices for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i)
leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases
for which the underlying asset is of low-value. The
Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and
leases for which at the commencement date have
a lease term less than 12 months. The lease
payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group recognised a right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities at the commencement date of a
lease.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(iii) Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets should be recognised at cost
and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liabilities (see below for
the accounting policy to account for lease
liabilities); (i) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of costs
to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease,
unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories. The Group measures the right-of-assets
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities.

For the Group, leasehold land and buildings that
were held for rental or capital appreciation purpose
would continue to be accounted for under HKAS
40 and would be carried at fair value. The
adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore does not have any
significant impact on these right-of-use assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(a)

Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1
January 2019 (Continued)

(iii) Accounting as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The lease liabilities should be recognised at the
present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at the date of commencement of the lease.
The lease payments shall be discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Group shall use the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable: (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise
that option and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee
shall measure the lease liabilities by: (i) increasing
the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liabilities; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to
reflect the lease payments made; and (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change
in future lease payments arising from change in an
index or rate, a change in the lease term, a change
in the in substance fixed lease payments or a
change in assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDAR

DS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1

Janua

ry 2019 (Continued)

(iv) Accounting as a lessor

v)

Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is substantially
unchanged from HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify leases as either operating or finance leases
using similar principles as in HKAS 17. Therefore,
HKFRS 16 does not have an impact for leases
where the Group is the lessor.

Transition

As mentioned above, the Group has applied HKFRS
16 using the cumulative effect approach and
recognised all the cumulative effect of initially
applying HKFRS 16 as an adjustment to the
opening balance of accumulated losses at the date
of initial application (1 January 2019). The
comparative information presented in 2018 has not
been restated and continues to be reported under
HKAS 17 and related interpretations as allowed by
the transition provision in HKFRS 16.

The Group has recognised the lease liabilities at the
date of 1 January 2019 for leases previously
classified as operating leases applying HKAS 17 and
measured those lease liabilities at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using
the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at
1 January 2019.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDAR

DS (“HKFRSs"”) (Continued)

(@) Adoption of new/revised HKFRSs — effective 1

Janua

v)

ry 2019 (Continued)
Transition (Continued)

The Group has elected to recognise all the right-
of-use assets at 1 January 2019 for leases
previously classified operating leases under HKAS
17 as if HKFRS 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, but discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of
initial application. For all these right-of-use assets,
the Group has applied HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets at 1 January 2019 to assess if there was any
impairment as on that date.

The Group has also applied the follow practical
expedients: (i) applied a single discount rate to a
portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics; (ii) applied the exemption of not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
leases with term that will end within 12 months of
the date of initial application (1 January 2019) and
accounted for those leases as short-term leases.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group.

Definition of material’

Definition of a business?
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform!

Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28

between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020.

Effective for business combinations and assets acquisition
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

The amendments were originally intended to be effective
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017. The
effective date has now been deferred/removed. Early
application of the amendments continues to be permitted.
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2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 — Definition of
material

The amendments clarify the definition and explanation of
“material”, aligning the definition across all HKFRS
Standards and the Conceptual Framework, and
incorporating supporting requirements in HKAS 1 into the
definition.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 — Definition of a business

The amendments clarify that a business must include, as
a minimum, an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs, together with providing extensive guidance on
what is meant by a “substantive process”.

Additionally, the amendments remove the assessment of
whether market participants are capable of replacing any
missing inputs or processes and continuing to produce
outputs, whilst narrowing the definition of “outputs” and
a "business” to focus on returns from selling goods and
services to customers, rather than on cost reductions.

An optional concentration test has also been added that
permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

(b)

New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7
— Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The amendments deal with issues affecting financial
reporting in the period before the replacement of an
existing interest rate benchmark with an alternative
interest rate and address the implications for specific
hedge accounting requirements in HKFRS 9 and HKAS 39
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement,
which require forward-looking analysis. The amendments
modify specific hedge accounting requirements so that
entities would apply those hedge accounting
requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark
on which the hedged cash flows and cash flows from the
hedging instrument are based will not be altered as a
result of interest rate benchmark reform. The
amendments also require specific disclosures about the
extent to which the entities’ hedging relationships are
affected by the amendments. There are also amendments
to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding
additional disclosures around uncertainty arising from the
interest rate benchmark reform.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 — Sale or
Contribution Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to
be recognised when an entity sells or contributes assets
to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
involves a business the gain or loss is recognised in full,
conversely when the transaction involves assets that do
not constitute a business the gain or loss is recognised
only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in
the joint venture or associate.

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the potential impact of these new pronouncement upon
application.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. The
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the GEM Listing Rules.
The adoption of new and revised HKFRSs and the
impacts on the Group’s consolidated financial statements,
if any, are disclosed in Note 2.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost convention except for certain
financial instruments which are measured at fair values.
Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for assets.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the following: (i)
the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
HK$113,421,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019
and the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current
assets by approximately HK$128,453,000 as at
31 December 2019; and (ii) included in the current
liabilities, the outstanding principal amount of convertible
bonds of approximately HK$124,068,000 will be matured
on 12 August 2020.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

These conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
therefore it may be unable to realise its assets and
discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.
As of the date when the consolidated financial
statements are authorised for issue, as disclosed in note
47(b), (i) the Company proposed to implement the rights
issue on the basis of four (4) rights shares for every one
(1) existing share of the Company at the subscription
price of HK$0.110 per rights share, to raise not less than
approximately HK$115.37 million, and not more than
approximately HK$115.38 million; and (ii) the Company
entered into a supplemental deed with the holder of
convertible bonds to extend the maturity date of the
convertible bonds for a further three years to 12 August
2023. Under these circumstances, the Directors are of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019 on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue to operate as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to write down the
value of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for future liabilities which might arise and to reclassify
non-current assets and non-current liabilities to current
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. The
preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates. The estimates and the underlying assumptions
are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved where the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

3 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiaries and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of over
the years are included in the profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other member of
Group.

All intragroup transaction balance, income and expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition related costs are
generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their
acquisition-date fair values, except that:

o a deferred tax asset or liability arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business
combination and the potential tax effects of
temporary differences and carryforwards of an
acquiree that exist at the acquisition date or arise
as a result of the acquisition are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Tax;

o assets or liabilities relating to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

o liabilities or equity instruments relating to share-
based payment transactions of the acquiree or
share-based payment arrangements of the Group
entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree are measured in
accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at
the acquisition date (see accounting policy below);
and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
are measured in accordance with that standard.

FEEHBERIBE (@)

(c)

EBA G

WIBEBRARBRETERIE - ¥
BEcBEREUQNTEETE M
RN EEZRAEERNEE B HE kS
THBEBEANEREE  MEENEEN
R AR B R M B e i 0 HE R R T 3R 1T
ZRBRAER Z AT ESE - iBHERE
MAE—REREERERBRER -

RUREE B R 8 2 A BRI B B e P
ZRBERREENBR 2 ATFEEBET A
R AT BRSO

. REBAHPMEE 2 BEERM
AEZRBEMELE CBRENIAE
EREE  URREBAFERX
HBEREmMEL 2 REB T
RNEBERFEE 2 BERBZE
TiRBE ARG ERE 125
BB T AER R E

. BFREBRMNZHZEEXAR
TiRBER G ERE 19 E
ERAN] FUERKE

. 4% Yo B 05 DA B 4D A8 BT 2 153K
RPEEHAREB AR HE
it 2 5 RE2 5 B U8 77 DA B
MRERZINRRHEHZEE
FRATE  DRKEBRRES
AR REEANFE2RIARND B
EMZNRIAE (BHTRER
BE) Rk

o  REFEMBREERESHRF
EHEZFRBEERERIEL
BEBINBRBELHEZEE
(R EEE) WRFEZEAFE -



7 T

Notes to the Financial Statements

&7 §5 ¥k 2% Bff 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of
the acquirer’'s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if
any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss
as a bargain purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
may be initially measured either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-
controlling interests are measured at their fair value or,
when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRSs.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the
contingent consideration is measured at its acquisition-
date fair value and included as part of the consideration
transferred in a business combination. Changes in the fair
value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted
retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts
and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Business combinations (Continued)

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value
of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the
contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or
a liability is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement, or HKAS 37 Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Goodwill

Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill
is allocated to each of the cash-generating unit, or
groups of cash-generating units that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually, or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
reporting period, the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less
than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment
loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for
goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Leasehold improvement Over the lease term
Computer and office equipment 20% to 33%
Motor vehicles 25%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life of
an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed
annually.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of
an item of property, plant and equipment are determined
as the difference between the net proceeds on disposal
and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised
in profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(f)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite
useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses or at
revalued amounts, being their fair value at the date of
the revaluation less subsequent accumulated amortisation
and any subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being
accounted for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets
with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset are measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and are recognised in profit or loss in the period
when the asset is derecognised.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)A Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January

2019)

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or
finance leases) are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are
short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the
underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected
not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for
low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and
would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee and (iv) an estimate of
costs to be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and
removing the underlying asset to the condition required
by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the
lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(g)A Leasing (accounting policies applied from 1 January

2019) (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered to
be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable: (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts
expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value
guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option
and (v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying
amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii)
reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying
amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)B

Leasing (accounting policies applied until 31
December 2018)

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are
recorded as receivables at the amount of the Group’s net
investment in the leases. Finance lease income is
allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a
constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net
investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an
expense on the straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as
assets at their fair value or, if lower, the present value of
the minimum lease payments. The corresponding lease
commitment is shown as a liability. Lease payments are
analysed between capital and interest. The interest
element is charged to profit or loss over the period of
the lease and is calculated so that it represents a
constant proportion of the lease liability. The capital
element reduces the balance owed to the lessor.

The total rentals payable under the operating leases are
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognised
as an integrated part of the total rental expense, over the
term of the lease.

The land and buildings elements of property leases are
considered separately for the purposes of lease
classification.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to
estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a
reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
identified.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication
that the asset may be impaired. Recoverable amount is
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or the cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 during the Track
Record Period. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset
or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter
period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”):

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL"), except that at
the date of initial recognition of a financial asset the
Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in OCI if
that equity investment is neither held for trading nor
contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a
business combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business
Combinations” applies.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(@

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

()

(ii)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and calculated by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of a financial asset except for
financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial
asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the
determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI or
designated as FVOCI are measured at FVPL.

Financial assets at FVPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend earned on the financial asset
and is included in the “other income and gains or
losses” line item.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECL") on financial assets which are subject
to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade and other
receivables, other financial assets measured at amortised
cost and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated
at each reporting dates to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after each reporting date. Assessment
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed
individually for debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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31 December 2019 #H E2019F 12 A31HIEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at each reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that s
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse change in
the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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For the year ended

Financial Statements

31 December 2019 #H E2019F 12 A318I-FE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are
capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
data about the following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial
difficulties.
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87 5 ¥k 2% Bff 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(@

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, whichever
occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still
be subject to enforcement activities under the
Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a de recognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at
the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or
cater for cases where evidence at the individual
instrument level may not yet be available, the
financial instruments are grouped on the following
basis:
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31 December 2019 #H E2019F 12 A31HIEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Nature of financial instruments (i.e. the Group’s
trade and other receivables, finance lease
receivables and amounts due from customers are
each assessed as a separate group. Loans to related
parties are assessed for expected credit losses on an
individual basis);

Past-due status;
Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
External credit ratings where available.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortized
cost of the financial asset.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue
to share similar credit risk characteristics.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by
adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception
of trade and other receivables and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost, where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definition of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by group
entities are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

All financial liabilities including trade and other payables
and amounts due to the Controlling Equity Holders are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable, is recognised in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components

The component parts of the convertible bonds issued by
the Company are classified separately as financial
liabilities and equity in accordance with the substance of
the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument. Conversion
option that will be settled by the exchange of a fixed
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability
component is estimated using the prevailing market
interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments. This
amount is recorded as a liability on an amortised cost
basis using the effective interest method until
extinguished upon conversion or at the instrument’s
maturity date.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole.
This is recognised and included in equity, net of income
tax effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In
addition, the conversion option classified as equity will
remain in equity until the conversion option is exercised,
in which case, the balance recognised in equity will be
transferred to share premium. Where the conversion
option remains unexercised at the maturity date of the
convertible bonds, the balance recognised in equity will
be transferred to retained profits. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or expiration
of the conversion option.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(@

()

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Convertible bonds contains liability and equity
components (Continued)

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the
convertible bonds are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity
component are charged directly to equity. Transaction
costs relating to the liability component are included in
the carrying amount of the liability portion and amortised
over the lives of the convertible bonds using the effective
interest method.

When the Company extinguishes a convertible bonds
before maturity through an early redemption or
repurchase in which the original conversion privileges are
unchanged, the Company allocates the consideration paid
and any transaction costs for the repurchase or
redemption to the liability and equity components of the
instrument at the date of the transaction. The method
used in allocating the consideration paid and transaction
costs to the separate components is consistent with that
used in the original allocation to the separate
components of the proceeds received by the Company
when the convertible instrument was issued. The gain or
loss relating to the equity component is recognised in
equity. The gain or loss relating to the liability
component is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated using
the first-in first-out. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

3.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

(0]

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances and cash comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current
tax and movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities
are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that
they relate to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, in which case the relevant
amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period,
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax
bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax
losses and unused tax credits.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

()

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal
of existing taxable temporary differences, provided that
those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse
either in the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary differences or in periods into which
a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be
carried back or forward. The same criteria are adopted
when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which
the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from goodwill not deductible for tax purposes, the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part
of a business combination), and temporary differences
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future or,
in the case of deductible differences, unless it is probable
that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

F2SHBCERIBE ()

0]

FR&®E (4)

BTETERZOISMERS - PIBEIRITE
IR B B MR R AT B2 B FE AR Bt A1l T PA
EHMBETEHIREEY THR - KKE
ARTE R M R ST R B A AR 2 E R R S
BEERBEEZHER  BRREFIE
M TR ERE EE  BREERAR
R — SR RERHER - AR
SR B AR AR < & i Z R s
EETHRABZEEREEEEL L
BB R AW @ S8 4% - R IR EE
FRE )6 38 B T H0RL T B E RRAE A SO
BHAPBHBEBEXRARLELZR
ERIRE EFER - BV RBR R — 7%
MR R ERTIE R - DA RTEFHE S AR
P Rl 5 T TR S 18 3l B TR SR T {5 R T
EIfs - Gt AREER -

EERPISMERT « NERBENIAE
ENAGZEREZAGRAIHHR A
2 MR ERR T E G RERM
B zEEXAB(RATEAEAMHZ
—#5)  REBREWNBAR TR
ZH RERBEZEMS - TEBAE
I8 T 4% 1) 5% 2= BRI (B O ;] 10 "% =2 BRAE
ARAERTEED Mt B ERE N
5 BRIERERAEN BRI ARE -

HEREENECEDREZEERAE
ZEREEZEMEREEESTR - B
BREHRE BIERAB LI ERH X
BE - BELHAEERRETENE -



7 T

Notes to the Financial Statements

87 5 ¥k 2% Bff 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(0]

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and is reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to
be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent
that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution
of dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the
related dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from each
other and are not offset. Current tax assets are offset
against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets
against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has the
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

= in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

= in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if
they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

° the same taxable entity; or

° different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Provisions and contingent liabilities

i)

i)

Contingent liabilities assumed in business
combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination which are present obligations at the
date of acquisition are initially recognised at fair
value, provided the fair value can be reliably
measured. After their initial recognition at fair
value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at
the higher of the amount initially recognised, less
accumulated amortisation where appropriate.
Contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination that cannot be reliably fair valued or
were not present obligations at the date of
acquisition.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the
time value of money is material, provisions are
carried at the present value of the expenditure
expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the amount
cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of an outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will
only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of an outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n) Related parties

a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family,
is related to the Group if that person:

) has control or joint control over the Group;

i) has significant influence over the Group; or

i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).

ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

V) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in a).
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Related parties (Continued)
b) (Continued)

vii) A person identified in a) i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised in profit or loss when the Group
satisfies a performance obligation by transferring a
promised good or service (i.e. an asset) to a customer.
An asset is transferred when the customer obtains control
of that asset. Revenue may be over time or at a
particular point in time. Revenue is recognised over time
when one of the following criteria is satisfied:

(@)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance
as the Group performs;

(b)  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced; or

(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Revenue is recognised at a particular point in time (i.e.
when the customer obtains control of the promised
goods or service) when none of the abovementioned
criteria are satisfied.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(o) Revenue recognition (Continued)

i)

ii)

Sale of goods

Revenue (net of value added tax or other sales
taxes) is recognised at a particular point in time
when customers have control over the promised
goods, which is generally the time when goods are
delivered to customers and customers have
accepted the goods.

Rendering of services

Revenue is recognised at a particular point in time
when the services are rendered.

(p) Employee benefits

i)

Short term employee benefits and
contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution plans and the
cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in the
year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are carried at their present values.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (“the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF
scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan
administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000
(HK$25,000 prior to June 2014). Contributions to
the plan vest immediately.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p) Employee benefits (Continued)

i)

Share-based payments

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which
operate in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC")
are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of its payroll costs
to the central pension scheme. The contributions
are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central
pension scheme.

The fair value of share options granted to
employees is recognised as an employee cost with
a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. Where the
employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the share
options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking
into account the probability that the options will
vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share
options expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised
in prior years is charged/credited to profit or loss
for the year under review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to capital
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number
of share options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the capital reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company'’s shares. The equity amount is recognised
in capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released
directly to retained profits).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Employee benefits (Continued)
iii)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a
result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed
formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

Foreign currencies translation

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional and
presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are
initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange
ruling at the end of the reporting period. All differences
are taken to profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of
the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at
fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined.

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the
end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of
these entities are translated into the presentation
currency of the Company at the exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in the other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(r)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to
Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and are
similar in respect of the nature of products and services,
the nature of production processes, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to distribute the products
or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made certain key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimated uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, as discussed below.

()

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation charges for its
property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment of similar nature and
functions. It could change significantly as a result of
technical innovations and competitor actions in response
to severe industry cycles. Management will increase the
depreciation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of finance lease receivables

The Group’s finance lease receivables are assessed for
impairment based on the expected credit loss model
required by HKFRS 9, taking into account: (i) whether the
finance lease receivables have been past due; and (ii)
whether the repayments are in accordance with
repayment schedules together with forward looking
information and other assessment indications. Changing
the assumptions selected by management to determine
the level of impairment, could materially affect the
amount of impairment.

Impairment on trade receivables, other receivables
and deposits

The Group’s trade receivables, other receivables and
deposits are assessed for impairment based on the
expected credit loss model required by HKFRS 9. The
assessment made by management has taken into account
relevant historical information adjusted for forward
looking information available to management at the date
of assessment (to the extent that such information is
reasonable and supportable without undue cost or effort).
Impairment losses are also recognised for the current year
(please see Notes 21 and 22). Management has exercised
judgment in estimating the amount of expected credit
loss. If the actual outcome is different from
management’s estimate, an additional impairment loss or
reversal of impairment loss may arise.

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets

Determining whether goodwill and intangible assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been
allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
directors to estimate the future cash flows expected to
arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
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4. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENT
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

v)

Income tax
The Group is subject to income taxes in several
jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in

determining the worldwide provision for income taxes.
There are transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be charged.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different
from the amounts that are initially recorded, such
differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

5.1

5.2
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5. WARRNEBIRS

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable 51 WABFARE TIBEFERHBEK
for goods sold to outside customers, net of returns and MEWFIE  EHREERTE ©f
discounts, income from financial services operations and RISEEFTBWA R P ERREEFE
income from corporate consulting operations during the N
year.
2019 2018
201945 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Financial services business A RIS ET 11,817 73,812
Corporate consulting business 1 B A AR 7% 8,912 —
Trading business B 5% 461,976 485,469
Information technology business BB B — 504
482,705 559,785
Segment reporting 52 ZSEEHE
(a) Reportable segments (a) HEHDE

The Group determines its operating segments
based on the reports reviewed by the chief
operating decision-maker that are used to make
strategic decisions. The chief operating decision-
maker has been identified as the Company’s
executive directors.

FEERBEFERKERKENE
B A BLE SRR KM BT
HEENE - BEERERRED
WRIEERARBNAITES -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. WARDIBIHRS (&)
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 5.2 2EEHEE)
(a) Reportable segments (Continued) (a) HWEHHEZH)

The Group currently has four reportable segments.
The segments are managed separately as each
business offers different products and services and
requires different business strategies as follows:

There were no inter-segment transactions between
different operating segments for the year (2018:
Nil). Central revenue and expenses are not
allocated to the operating segments as they are not
included in the measure of the segments’ results
that is used by the chief operating decision-maker
for assessment of segment performance.

(@) The financial services business includes the
securities brokerage business, provision of
corporate finance advisory services, asset
management business, money lending
business and financial leasing business;

(b)  Corporate consulting business segment is
engaged in the provision of company
secretarial services, accounting and financial
reporting services and management
consulting services;

() The trading business segment is engaged in
the trading of goods, components and
accessories; and

(d)  The information technology business segment
is engaged in distributorship of information
technology products and the provision of
relevant technical support services.

AEEBRAEENZ2HD
DB RIER - ARREER
B AR HO 2 fm B AR TS - LA
FIEVEEREE A NATR

FA-ARKED B 2RI ED
AR5 (20184 : ) - MR
ARRAXARBEREBRERE
%)ﬂl«/{uﬂﬁ"iﬁi “AIE’J’“‘B%E
FBZA  MARDEEIEE DT o

(a) BEZBFCLER RHE
CEBRELZARS BE
ERER WMEXHEE
EREXEB 2SR
BHER

(o) WRERHEDFAWERS
&t MBS R R AR TS A K
EREARE 2R EEH

EHoE
0 EBEEER EHREMZ
BHEBIE R

d REIHEAMKERR
RUEMBRMEREZ
BBHREB DL -
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. IWARRNBBIRE @)
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 5.2 2EEHEE)
(b) Segment revenue and results (b) AEYUARFEE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue ATRIZA WD BHAEER
and results by reportable segments. WA REBER DT o
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZ2019F12A318LFE
Financial Corporate Information
services consulting Trading technology
business business business business Total
k- ¥ &
HKS$'000 TET PR %75 RS EEES BHER A&t
Segment revenue AEHBA 11,817 8,912 461,976 - 482,705
Segment (loss)/profit 23 (&18) 8 F (88,616) 2,583 (2,866) (743) (89,642)
Finance costs BERK (12,659)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries &M BTz K 533
Gain on deregistration of WEARAZHER WS

subsidiaries 1,204
Unallocated corporate expenses &2 E S ¥ X (K &)

(Note) (13.328)
Loss before taxation BB ATE B (113,892)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31ALFE

Financial Corporate Information
services consulting Trading technology
business business business business Total
£ 34 B
HK$'000 THEL R %7 AR 5% BT Eh
Segment revenue SEBBA 73,812 = 485,469 504 559,785
Segment loss AEEE (88,084) = (3,858) (3,510) (95,452)
Finance costs REKA (11,887)
Unallocated corporate expenses AP ERR ()

(Note) (12,365)
Loss before taxation BRELRTE 1B (119,704)
Note: Unallocated corporate expenses mainly included e : ROECERAZETEREESE

staff salaries, directors’ remuneration and office 20194 K 2018412 A31H 1t
rental expenses for the years ended 31 December FEMEIFHS ZEFWek

2019 and 2018. WMAERESHAZ -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. WARRIBHRSE )
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 5.2 2EEHEE)
(c) Segment assets and liabilities () IHEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets LATRIZAIE/D HHAERE
and liabilities by reportable segments: ERBEHIT
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Segment assets PHEE
Financial services business & B AR 7% 7% 159,790 673,685
Corporate consulting business I EFRER 11,633 —
Trading business =S 12,163 12,597
Information technology business BB B — 1,336
Total segment assets DEPEEEE 183,586 687,618
Unallocated bank balances and cash AOBRITERRIE® 119 262
Unallocated corporate assets AOBEEEEE 13,382 9,668
Consolidated total assets REEEHAE 197,087 697,548
Segment liabilities PHEE
Financial services business SRMBER 65,901 496,849
Corporate consulting business I EFRER 3,442 —
Trading business 25 %% 8,398 6,300
Information technology business BB B 765 1,827
Total segment liabilities NE AR EEE 78,506 504,976
Convertible bonds AR E S 116,344 105,651
Promissory notes HH R 8,005 —
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBEEERE 103,596 76,162

Consolidated total liabilities mEBEEE 306,451 686,789
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. WAKRRDEBEKSE @)
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 52 ZS®EEE)
(d) Other segment information (d) EmnsE#
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BZE2019F12A31B L EE
Financial Corporate Information
services consulting Trading technology
busi k busi L Unallocated Total
SRRBEY  CEINES %K  ERNEER AO® ‘@t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TET TR TET TR TET
Amounts included in the FFAD EEFRARR
measure of segment AHEETEZ
profit or loss or segment S8
assets:
Additions to non-current assets REIFRBEE - 20 - - 354 374
Depreciation of property, plant — #1% « BB REHHE
and equipment (354) 17) - — (780) (1,151)
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEENE
assets (1,329) (1,232) (593) - (1,790) (4,944)
Amortisation of intangible BREESH
assets - (190) - - - (190)
Impairment loss on trade B 5 WA RERE
receivables (1) (2,036) (2,459) - - (4,496)
Impairment loss on BHE  2E& R
prepayments, deposits and H it EURE
other receivables BEBE (648) - (69) (697) (591) (2,005)
Impairment loss on finance RMEHERYA
lease receivables RERE (77,458) - - - - (77,458)
Impairment loss on intangible &/ & E R ERKE
assets (1,205) - — - - (1,205)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & Mt B A2 Yezk - - - 360 173 533
(Loss)/gain on deregistration of iR ElE#HER 2
subsidiaries (B18),/ Wz - (6 - (1,397) 2,607 1,204
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 5. WARDIBIHRS (&)
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued) 5.2 2EEHEE)
(d) Other segment information (Continued) (d) EmMHHBEH (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2018 BZ2018F12A31BLLEE
Corporate Information
Financial services consulting technology
business business  Trading business business Unallocated Total
SRRBEY  CEAAED E5%%  EARRES RAE 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FHT FET FHT FET
Amounts included in the AP HERRH BN
measure of segment profit AHEETEZ
or loss or segment assets: 21
Additions to non-current assets ~ AEIFREBEE 104 — — — 2,081 2,185
Depreciation of property, plant — #1% * BiE Rk &
and equipment (485) — (5) (5) (1,337) (1,832)
Impairment loss on trade B o RUHRERERR
receivables — - (2,163) (3,054) = (5.217)
Impairment loss on prepayments,  TEfIFIE « & R EM
deposits and other Y ERESSE
receivables (64,422) — — = — (64,422)

Impairment loss on goodwill BERESE (5,803) — — — — (5,803)
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued)
(e) Geographical information

The Group’s operations are mainly located in Hong
Kong (Place of domicile) and the PRC.

The Group's revenue from external customers and
information about its non-current assets (other than
financial assets) by geographical markets are
detailed as below:

5. WAKRDIBIME )

52 2EHkE(E)

(e)

Revenue from

external customers

EHEH

REBENEBTZ2UNEE (FE
#) R

SAT R4 4 75 815 K S R

BINBEPHORA KRB BEIR
PEE(EMEERIN) OFFE

Non-current assets

REANREFE ZHWA kRBEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
20195 20184 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTERT TER FET
Hong Kong EE 473,654 486,799 21,667 8,185
PRC H 9,051 72,986 360 5,995
482,705 559,785 22,027 14,180

The geographical location of customers is based on
the location at which the goods and services are
delivered. For goodwill and intangible assets, the
geographical location is based on the areas of
operation. The geographical location of other non-
current assets is based on the physical location of
the assets.

BEPZHBEME T RINER
RIGPAEMETE - BB REFR
BEZHEMEHIREEWRN
E-HMIERBDEEZHEME
DREEZERMEME -
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)
5.2 Segment reporting (Continued)
(f)  Major customers
Revenues from a customer in the segment of

trading business contributing over 10% of the total
turnover of the Group is as follow:

5.

WARRAEBERE (@)

52 2®BHE @)

()

TEEF
HASBEREEBBRI0%NE
SEBDEIELKRAMT :

Year ended 31 December
HZ12A31MBLLEE

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FHET

Customer A ZEEA

405,545 422,450
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the convertible bonds for both years.

(2) Interest on financing the acquisition of motor vehicles. (2)

BEAEREZANE -

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS OR LOSSES 6. HfhRARKREBSNEE

2019 2018

201945 20184F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FHET

Interest income on bank deposit HRITIF R F BB A 59 57

Other operating income H g A 1,008 —
(Loss)/gain on disposal of held-for-trading HEAHEZFEERE 2

investment (E8), W= (233) 77

Sundry income I A 1,662 1,278
2,496 1,412
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. ®ERRK

2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Imputed interest on convertible bonds AR E S 2 AER S (FEE1)

(Note 1) 10,693 9,711
Imputed interest on promissory note AHERZEER R 600 1,272
Coupon interest on promissory note EHBERZEE 133 —
Interest on bank borrowings RITIERAE 2,725 62,717
Interest on other borrowings E {5 A S 933 881
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERME 581 =
Interest on finance lease obligation B EAE A E (FFE2)

(Note 2) — 23

15,665 74,604
Less: interest on bank borrowings included & : 5T A& @RS IS E KA
in cost of sales for financial services ZBRATIEFRAE
business (2,373) (62,348)
13,292 12,256
Notes: MiEE -
(1) It represents the imputed interest on the liability component of (1) EEFEARREFABEISIZHEEFE -
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8. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 8. [MRiRAIEE
Loss before taxation is arrived at after charging: BRELRTESIBAMBR T 5B B B8
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$"000 HK$'000
THExT FHT
(a) Staff costs (including directors’ (@) BEINA (BREZHE) :
emoluments):
Salaries, wages and other benefits e IBERHMER 15,144 14,465
Pension scheme contributions RIKSFTEIf R 754 260
15,898 14,725
(b) Other items: (b) EHMEH :
Auditors’ remuneration ZE R BN & 920 816
Depreciation expenses in respect of: ATEHERS -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERE 1,151 1,832
Right-of-use assets ERELE 4,944 —
Operating lease payments in respect of MAEYEZEEHERNT
office premises - 3,786
Amortisation of intangible assets B EESH 190 —
Impairment loss on goodwill PEEREEE - 5,803
Impairment loss on intangible assets B EEREER 1,205 —
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S EWFIBRERE 4,496 5,217
Impairment loss on prepayments, deposits TBRFIE -« ke REMER
and other receivables RIBREEE 2,005 64,422
Impairment loss on finance lease BMERERNFERESSE

receivables 77,458 =
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9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 9. E5Hi®
The remuneration of directors during the year were as follow: FRNEEMEET :
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$’000
THER FHET
Executive directors: BMITESE
Fees we — —
Other emoluments: Hib B < -
Salaries, housing allowances, other e BERR - AMER
allowances and benefits in kind REYH = 1,475 4,680
Pension scheme contributions RIRE IR 31 36
1,506 4,716
Independent non-executive directors: B IFEARITES ¢
Fees ik 354 360
1,860 5,076
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, no share HZE2019F K2018F 12 A31HIEFE « Wik

option was granted. BRI B



7 5
Notes to the Financial Statements

87 ¥ ¥R %% B 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

9. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) 9. ESME W)
(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIKHTES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FAENBULIERTES2HERESNT ¢

during the year were as follows:

Equity-settled

share option Total
Fees expenses emoluments
UREEEN
e BEEBRERX [k
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHAT THET
2019: 20194 :
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann HRE 120 — 120
Ng Kay Kwok (Note 1) SEB (KT 30 — 30
Au-Yeung Sei Kwok (Note 2) B T B (fTE2) 100 — 100
Ng Ka Sim, Casina (Note 3) RE=(M3E3) 78 - 78
Wong Wing Kit (Note 4) EOKEE (5 4) 26 — 26
354 — 354
2018: 20184 :
Ng Kay Kwok REE 120 = 120
Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann HEE 120 = 120
Au-Yeung Sei Kwok B T B 120 = 120
360 = 360
Notes: Bt 5 -
1. Mr. Ng Kay Kwok resigned as an independent non- 1. REBSAEREB LIFENTES
executive Director (“INED”) with effect from 1 April 2019. ((BIAEHITES]) - B201954A
THRBER -
2. Mr. Au-Yeung Sei Kwok resigned as an INED with effect 2. Bk TR EEBEBIIENITE
from 1 November 2019. = H2019F 11 A1HEBER -
3. Ms. Ng Ka Sim, Casina appointed as an INED with effect 3. REERTEZARBUERNTTE
from 7 May 2019. = H201945A7A AR
4. Mr. Wong Wing Kit appointed as an INED with effect from 4. EKBREEBEZERBIUIERNITE

14 October 2019. E H2019F 108148 BAEK »
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9. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

9. ESEME W

(b) Executive directors (b) BTEE

Salaries, housing Equity-

allowances, other Pension settled
allowances and scheme share option Total
Fees benefits in kind contributions expenses emoluments

e BB AR #E

R HARER RhE HEWESL
we BYR & FFEMHR  BREMX MeBzE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FHET FET

2019: 20194 :
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REE — 1,080 13 — 1,093
Tsang Kwai Ping (Note 1) 45 (MaE1) — 195 10 — 205
Lau Chi Yan, Pierre 20581 (fifaE2)
(Note 2) — 200 8 — 208
— 1,475 31 — 1,506
2018: 20184 :

Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson REE — 3,900 18 — 3,918
Lau Chi Yan, Pierre 2121 = 780 18 = 798
= 4,680 36 = 4,716

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the years
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018.

During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018,
no emolument was paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

Notes:

1. Ms. Tsang Kwai Ping appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 1 April 2019.

2. Mr. Lau Chi Yan, Pierre resigned as an executive Director
with effect from 31 May 2019.

B 220199 N2018412 A31H It F
B YEEEEBIMNESEHESRRE
WEEAME 228 -

H E20199F %2018F12A318 ILF
B AEEMEREEIMETH - LAE
AR {5 L 0 A SR N AR £ B B S A+ Bk
EREBERMEIE -

it

F‘{(

—_

BEFYLTRETANTEES B
2019F4 A1 B AR -

2. RECELEERTHITES - 52019
FESAEEER -
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS 10. h&ssSHMAL

AEFREESHFMALE2EMS (20184 :
MEZ)EE - HE2019F 128318 IEFEE -
HH=22018F : =R)FEFE = FHH

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two
(2018: two) directors. Details of the emoluments of the
remaining three (2018: three) non-director, highest paid

employee for the year ended 31 December 2019 are as EENHMFBTNAT
follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMEREMAE 3,516 2,993
Pension scheme contributions RN FT B K 81 54
3,597 3,047
The emoluments of the three (2018: three) individuals with the Z=%(2018F : ZR) e F AL ZFHN
highest emoluments fell within the following bands: FATER :
2019 2018
2019% 20184
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
HK$ BT AE AEL
Nil=1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000 3 2
1,000,001-2,000,000 1,000,001 % 2,000,000 — 1
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11.

INCOME TAX 1. PRiSHR
On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed M2018F3H21H » EABMIA G BIB20174F
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) Fids (1557 (B79%) G ER ((EHIER])
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill SIARIGT A o EBIERN201843 A28
was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on BEZEEXREELRRA TR - REFE
the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates TRl - & &% EH2,000,00078 7T K&
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of qualifying FIE) = 15 58.25% » M B 82,000,0005% 7T
corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 HEF TR A 516.5% ° TEFAFIEFM
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities in REINEAEEE RN G A EEZ16.5%2]
Hong Kong that are not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax — R -
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.
Accordingly, starting from the current year, the Hong Kong Eit - BARFERS - B2,000,0007% 7T 8l
profits tax is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of STRE R 6 B« B A RS 1R8.25% Bt & &t
the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% on the estimated & MRiE2,000,00078 7T & 4 51 FE R 71 ik A
assessable profits above HK$2 million. ZBBNEHANIR16.5% M ETHE o
The PRC enterprise income tax has been provided at the rate of AR EFT1SRi1225% (20184F : 25%) 2 Bt
25% (2018: 25%). Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have K REBEE EMERRT AN <RIBS
been calculated at the prevailing rates of tax based on existing ERBITAN - RERERBRBINESE -
legislation, interpretations and practices.
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTET FHEIT
Hong Kong profits tax: BEBFEH
— current year — AEE 574 —
PRC enterprise income tax: R ZERTSH
— current year — AEE — —
— over provision in prior years — BAFEBEEE (1,045) —

(471) —
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1.

12.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

11. FREM (&)

Income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss before REEMEREGEERREEBARNOR
taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and A EEEAT
comprehensive income as follows:
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Loss before taxation B AT S 18 (113,892) (119,704)
Tax at the applicable tax rate REARETENTIA (18,792) (19,751)
Effect of different taxation rates of other EMBERTRAMRNFE
countries (459) (5,958)
Effect of two-tiered profit tax rate require R AR FIJ15 Bl & 2 Ay 57 2 (165) —
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax BEARRBANT B ZE
purpose (11,973) (31,810)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for AT FIF: 5T 2 B B 75 57 25
tax purposes 29,997 31,840
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised P THRTIBEEN NG E 1,986 25,679
Over provision in respect of prior years wEFEHRERE (1,045) —
Others Hith (20) —
Total income tax Fir 5 ix 48 58 (471) —

As at 31 December 2019, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$390,383,000 (2018: HK$378,347,000)
available for offset against future profits that may be carried
forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the tax losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

MK2019F 128318 ' AEE RS AT IEEE
#9/4390,383,0007% 7T (2018 4F : 378,347,000
Y&IT) ¢ Al YRR BRI S R 2R F) o AR
BETER AR AR AR - AE B EFFHIBE
BRREERBEEE -

12. BBR

SESTEFREEE2019F12 8318 L4
EREMKZE (20184 « #&) o
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13. LOSS PER SHARE 13.

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share is based on
the loss attributable to owners of the Company and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share based on the
following data:

SREE

BREARBEEEDRBARRRERS
AEEBARFNEETEBBINE T8

BEREARREGERIREATBURE

2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Loss attributable to owners of the Company BLEtEEREARRESEEZ
for the purpose of calculating basic and RATIREHEE A B EE
diluted loss per share (84,110) (92,051)
Number of shares
R4 E
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
‘000 ‘000
(FRR) (FA)
Weighted average number of ordinary R EERERNREEFER 2
shares for the purpose of calculating LR ke
basic and diluted loss per share 237,944 204,009
Effect of 2015 CB (as defined in 2015 AT R EFH
note 27(2)) (B RME27(2)) 2 — 17,391
237,944 221,400

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise
prices of those options were higher than the average market
price for both 2019 and 2018.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 15 August 2019,
every ten ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each in the issued and
unissued share capital of the Company were consolidated into
one consolidated ordinary share of HK$0.01 each in the issued
and unissued share capital of the Company. As a result of the
share consolidation, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares adopted in the calculation of the basic and diluted loss
per share for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been
adjusted retrospectively.

For the year ended 31 December 2018 comparative figure has
been restated with the effective of share consolidation as
presented in Note 32(1).

R AR RR BN 2019 KX 2018 F 1T
FEHRREIME BRAESKREEES
BRTEBRZEEREETE -

RIER 201958 A 15 A RITHAR AR5
A LRABAN—BELTEIAZER 5+RAQ
RIE BT M ARBITRAT ZAEE0.0015 T
HEBRAEFAE —RARARE BT MAET
AR EIEO.01 B TR A HF L BA% - AR ETT
RaE O MR ETE#E E£2019F12A318 1t
FENTREARREEBERRFN LB
MEFHEEELBHARE -

HZE2018F 12 A31HIEEFE » BN E32(1)AT
22BN EHZEE EBRBEFEET -
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. ME -  WERRK
Computer
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment Motor vehicles Total
BERRBRAE
HEWEEL B RE A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT FHBT FHBT FHBT
Cost: PRAS
As at 1 January 2018 M2018F1A1H 3,432 2,262 6,842 12,536
Addition BE 2,040 145 — 2,185
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uk BB B A 7 = (748) (2,557) (3,305)
Disposal and written off R R (2,498) (316) (3,101) (5,915)
Exchange realignment VE 5 A% (49) (38) (62) (149)
As at 31 December 2018 and 72018412 H31H

1 January 2019 %2019F1A1H 2,925 1,305 1,122 5,352
Addition BE 315 39 — 354
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KT B A A

(note 39) (P zE39) — 20 — 20
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHTE A R (HiEE41@))

(note 41(a)) -_ (285) -_ (285)
Exchange realignment bE X AR (16) (5) (21) (42)
As at 31 December 2019 7#2019%12H318 3,224 1,074 1,101 5,399
Accumulated depreciation and R E KR EEIE

impairment losses:

As at 1 January 2018 R2018F 1818 2,718 1,715 4,092 8,525
Depreciation for the year FNIFTE 860 186 786 1,832
Disposal of subsidiaries HEH B AR — (748) (1,953) (2,701)
Written back on disposal o5 IR i 88 (2,498) (316) (2,067) (4,881)
Exchange realignment PE 5 & (50) (14) (41) (105)
As at 31 December 2018 and M2018F 124318

1 January 2019 &2019F1H1H 1,030 823 817 2,670
Depreciation for the year FRHE 731 180 240 1,151
Disposal of subsidiaries o BT BB A B (Pt E41(a))

(note 41(a)) — (273) — (273)
Exchange realignment bE X AR 17) (6) (17) (40)
As at 31 December 2019 7"2019%12H318 1,744 724 1,040 3,508
Net Book Value BREFME :

As at 31 December 2019 720196128318 1,480 350 61 1,891
As at 31 December 2018 R2018%F12A31H 1,895 482 305 2,682
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15. GOODWILL 15. BHE
HK$'000
FET
COST: A
At 1 January 2018, 31 December 2018 and M2018F1 418 -
1 January 2019 2018412 A31B &
20191 A1H 5,803
Acquired through acquisition of a subsidiary FHBUE — KB A R (B 5E39)
(note 39) 5,470
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12 831H 11,273
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES: ZETRERA :
At 1 January 2018 201841 A1H —
Impairment loss for the year FAREEER 5,803
At 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 and R2018F12831H -
31 December 2019 201941818 X20194F12831H 5,803
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: R FE
At 31 December 2019 R2019412A31H 5,470

At 31 December 2018

M2018%12H31H

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
the cash generating units (“CGU") identified as follows:

RREANRAME  BEIEEERSIREE
AEN((REEEEMDNT :

HK$'000
FHxT

Year ended 31 December 2019 HZE2019F12A31BLLEE
Corporate consulting business EFAE 5,470
Financial services business SR —

5,470
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15.

GOODWILL (Continued)
Notes:

Corporate consulting business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of corporate consulting
business. The carrying amount of goodwill is HK$5,470,000 as at
31 December 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the recoverable amount of the
cash generating unit of corporate consulting business (“Corporate
Consulting Business CGU"”) is determined by the Directors with
reference to a valuation report issued by an independent qualified
valuer. The recoverable amount of the Corporate Consulting Business
CGU has been determined from value-in-use calculation. The calculation
used cash flow projections based on latest financial budgets approved
by the management covering a period of 5 years and at a pre-tax
discount rate of 17.19%. The cash flow projections beyond the 5 years
periods are extrapolated using a growth rate at 2%. Cash flow
projections during the budget period are based on past performance
and the Group management’s expectations for the market development
and future performance of the Corporate Consulting Business CGU. The
discount rate is determined based on the cost of capital adjusted by the
specific risk associated with the Corporate Consulting Business CGU. As
the recoverable amount of the Corporate Consulting Business CGU is
higher than its carrying amount, the Directors of the Company are in
opinion that no impairment loss was considered for the year ended
31 December 2019.

Financial services business

The goodwill was arising from the acquisition of financial services
business. The carrying amount of goodwill is nil as at 31 December
2019 and 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group performed its annual
impairment test for goodwill allocated to the cash generating unit of
financial services business (“Financial Services Business CGU") by
comparing its recoverable amount to its carrying amount. The
recoverable amount of the Financial Services Business CGU is
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations used
cash flow projections based on a five-year financial budget approved by
management. Cash flows beyond a five-year period approved by
management have been extrapolated with an estimated general annual
growth of not more than 3% for a five-year period. The discount rate
used of for the year ended 31 December 2018 was 15.0% reflects
specific risks related to the business. At the year ended 2018,
management considered to recognise full impairment of goodwill
allocated to Financial Services Business CGU.

15.

BE )
B -
P TLETE 30

B TRRKECELZRER - K2019F12 A31
B BEMRMAEAS5470,000/8 7T °

HE2019F12A31AILFE - ©EFBAXBREE
BN ((CEBHERRESEESEN]) DHESK
2E-—ZBUCARGEMEENGEREETE -
EBRNERRSELB MR UL SETIEER
BETEET A ERAREEREN EZ RN
BEEELEZRERETEA  HERAFHE WK
TRATARIRE17.19%853R - AFHHZ 2 RS RETE
BITHRAGER2%EE - BEBARZ R RERA
DIRERATFRBEUNRASEEEEHECELZNE
BREELBNZMBRERRRKEMET ° Bh
BRDBEBCCEZDAEFESEEBN Z BB
ERBAEZERAKANMETE - AR ELAES
REELBNNAIMESESREREE  ~AA2H
BEERABBEEREE2019F12 A31 B IEFEE
LR E &S -

& B AR IS 2 7%

BETRRIRESBRIEERS - R2019%F &20184F
12A318 - BENEEERT -

HZE2018F 12 A31BLEFE  AEBUBROIRE T
BEEEBRSELEN ((SRBEEERSEE
B zEEnkEcHEEERAE YT
FERBENR SRREEBRSEELBMAATU
EleBEOBBEREETEREERE - Z55MEA
AERKEEEEBHEANAFYHKBEENESRE
FEB o REIBE LM T EHI NN IR & R Ty LA EF
—REERRTBBIN A EREHEEL - B E
2018F 12 A3 HILFEMEANMIREAE15.0%
= BR B2 57 o5 B0 48 B A R E RV o BR = 20184F IE
B ERERAARIEZCRRGERECES
Bz EEERAEZEME -
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. B &EE
Customer

Trading right relationship Total

X5 EFBEF #Er

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET

COST: RN :
At 1 January 2018, 20181 H1H -

31 December 2018 and 2018%F 12 A318 &

1 January 2019 201941 /81H 5,705 — 5,705
Acquired through acquisition FHRUE —FME A A

of subsidiary (note 39) EE (F7E39) — 1,140 1,140
At 31 December 2019 RK2019412H31H 5,705 1,140 6,845

ACCUMULATED R BERRESE :
AMORTISATION AND
IMPAIRMENT LOSSES:
At 1 January 2018, 20181 A1H -

31 December 2018 and 2018%F 12 A318 &

1 January 2019 201941 /81H — — —
Impairment loss for the year FRREEE 1,205 — 1,205
Amortisation for the year FNHE — 190 190
At 31 December 2019 2019512 A31H 1,205 190 1,395

NET CARRYING AMOUNT: BRTH FE ¢
At 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 4,500 950 5,450
At 31 December 2018 ©K2018F12A31H 5,705 — 5,705
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16.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Trading right have indefinite useful life and therefore no
amortisation has been provided. The recoverable amount of the
trading right is determined by the Directors of the Company
with reference to a valuation report issued by an independent
qualified valuer. The recoverable amount of the trading right
has been determined from fair value less cost of disposal,
which is primarily making reference to the recent sales of
similar transactions in the market. As the recoverable amount of
trading right amounted to HK$4,500,000 is lower than its
carrying amount, an impairment loss of HK$1,205,000 has been
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: Nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group acquired the
following intangible assets through the acquisition of a
subsidiary. Details of the acquisition of subsidiary are set out in
note 39.

Customer relationship of HK$1,140,000 represented the
intangible assets arose from the acquisition of corporate
consulting business and was valued as of the respective date of
acquisition by an independent qualified valuer on the basis of
the excess earnings method under the income approach. The
management of the Group considered customer relationship has
finite useful lives and is amortised on a straight-line basis over
5 years.

16.

BEEE @)

RPEEETFERHR - BB EEHEE 5
REE RSENTJKRESBEHAARES
K2E—ZBIAERGEMEENGEER
BT - XRSENAIRESE - BATFEER
HERNERFEET - AR ZEA AT
5] < 584,500,000 TR RN HIREEE - Bt
HZE2019F 12 A31H It FEE BRRBEEIE
1,205,000 7T (20184 : 4&) °

HE2019F12A31HIEFE » REEFEBIK
B-EHEARERTINEREE - KEW
B AR FBEHRHIFES °

ZFERIE1,140,0008 TR W B S 2B AERS
EENEREE TRASKBEAHH 278
VA ERGEMZKAEE THBERRE
EEETHE AEEEREERBEFBRE
MAERAFHRER - WHRSFANIREREESR
8 ©
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5
I

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 17. (EFIE

ESE
HK$'000
FERT
COST: B
Recognition upon initial application of BARERBE B BHREERZE 165 RRER

HKFRS 16 11,171
Acquired through acquisition of a subsidiary 7 i@ U i — FE P B8 22 R & X (Bfd 5£39)

(note 39) 3,943
Exchange realignment R (18)
As at 31 December 2019 K20194F12A31H 15,096
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION: RIWE
Depreciation recognised upon initial BRAERBESYBHMEERNE165HRERINE

application of HKFRS 16 1,463
Depreciation for the year FRFE 4,944
Exchange realignment b = (17)
As at 31 December 2019 ®20194F12A831H 6,390
NET CARRYING AMOUNT: REFRE
As at 31 December 2019 K2019412A31H 8,706
The right-of-use assets represent the Group’s right to use FTREEEEASBERBRESHELTHRME
underlying leased premises under operating lease arrangements HANERBEAEEYENERN - B IR AR
over the lease terms, which are stated at cost less accumulated BEMERZRFREBEZY - WHEE
depreciation, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease BEMNEMENAEETHE

liabilities.
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18. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES 18. RETHEEWFRIA

2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT T T
Current finance lease receivables BN HA Bb & A0 & e W 5k 158,529 547,941
Non-current finance lease receivables JEBNHA g & 70 & e e — 5,283
158,529 553,224
Less: Provision for impairment losses W R EEERE (77,458) —
81,071 553,224

Amount receivable under finance leases MEREETEKRRE

Present value of minimum

Minimum lease payment lease payment
BEREESRK BEEREEMSRRE
2019 2018 2019 2018
20194 20184 20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FExT FAT
Within one year —F R 172,059 565,346 158,529 547,941
In more than one year but not ZR—4% » LR
more than two years — 4,554 — 3,388
In more than two years but ~ ZRME » LRAAF
not more than five years — 2,281 — 1,895
172,059 572,681 158,529 553,224
Unearned finance income AR BRER b & WA (13,530) (19,457) N/A FER NA TEHA
Present value of minimum =EEEMRIRE
lease payment 158,529 553,224 158,529 553,224
Less: Provision for impairment J& : JRU{E &5 18 B 5
losses (77,458) = (77,458) =
81,071 553,224 81,071 553,224
The interest rate inherent in the leases was fixed at the BEBHAZEEHENERERENBEHE
contract date for the entire lease term. The interest rates of the B2KFE - Fili@mERENFEFNENT4.81%
above finance leases range from 4.81% to 9.40% per annum £9.40% (20184F : 4.05%%£9.40%) °

(2018: 4.05% to 9.40%).
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18.

19.

20.

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Amount receivable under finance leases (Continued)

Finance lease receivable balances are secured over the
equipment held by the lessee. The Group is not permitted to
sell or repledge the collateral in the absence of default by the
leasee.

As at 31 December 2019, the terms of finance leases entered is
one year (2018: one to five years).

Impairment loss of HK$77,458,000 (2018: Nil) has been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for
the year ended 31 December 2019.

FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

On 16 August 2019 the Group acquired 10% of the issue
share capital of a private company as financial asset at fair
value through other comprehensive income at cash
consideration of HK$2,000,000. As at 31 December 2019, the
Group's shareholding in this private company was diluted to
approximately 9.9% due to further allotment of shares of the
private company to investors. The increase in fair value of this
financial asset of HK$32,000 has been dealt with in other
comprehensive income and fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve for the year ended 31 December
2019 (2018: Nil).

18.

19.

ST SEUWFRIE (@)
BEHEE T EWEIE ()

MEHERUFBEHRERATEARTA 2R
BIEHER - REBEERBALEEHNE
AT TEHEABEABRER -

R2019F12A31H ' EF VW@ EHRE/H
RA—H (20185 : —EAHF) °

BB E51877,458,00078 7T (20184F « ) B RN
HZE2019F 12 A31 B L FEMGZEABRERT

MRAFEEGFAHMEBBRAZER

MR ==

=33

2019488168 AEEUB &N (E
2,000,000 7T I B8 — I AL A R B B BT AR AR
H10% ' EAA A FEEBEGFAEMEEKA
ZEMEE - R2019F12A318 - AR A
BEE—PEBLARRRD  AEERZ
FARRIHBREEEE499.9% - ZTHSHE
EH A FE{EEHN32,0000% T2 R E E2019
F1N2AMBLEFENEMEEKARNAAF

BEFAEMZEBRAFEANRE (20184F :
) o

INVENTORIES 20. 75
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Finished goods BIRK o 485 1,010

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the
year was approximately HK$459 million (2018: HK$482 million).

FAERBHALHNTFENKAL A459,000,000
7 70 (20184F : 482,000,0007/8 7T) ©
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21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. BZERFRIE
2019 2018
201945 20184F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHEIT
Trade receivables 2 5 FE W RIA 36,546 7,677
Less: Provision for impairment losses W OREEERE (6,658) (5.217)
29,888 2,460
The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on REBMEERFP  BHRREENMEERE -
credit. The credit period is generally two months. Each EEH—RAMEAR BEEFBEEREEE
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to PREE - AEBBREIEGIRGE 2 BIKER - I
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has SREEERFUEREERE mREEA
credit control procedures established to monitor credit risk. BEgrHRTBHARK - EHEBKRIENL R
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior BB o
management. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.
Details of trade receivables as at the end of reporting period, RBERAR  BIEBRBEBHFBAT :
are as follows:
2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHIT
Trade receivables from financial services BEHEEEIINSRRBEBHE
business other than dealing in securities 2 FEWGRIE 1,249 —
Trade receivables from the business of BHEEEXEBNE S EWFIE
dealing in securities
— HKSCC — BREE 27,579 =
Trade receivables from corporate consulting B EIEHNE 5 EWFA
business 920 =
Trade receivables from trading business B XEBHNE S EIWRFIA 140 2,414
Trade receivables from information BB EBNE 5 R YGRIE
technology business — 46

29,888 2,460
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21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

21.

An aged analysis of the trade receivables arising from business
other than dealing in securities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date and net of impairment losses,

are as follows:

B EWFRIE ()

EFBEMINEBHE S RBUKBAR RSB
R DM (IRBERE B HLMBRERRE)

mT

2019 2018

20195 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within 30 days 30HA 590 283
31 to 60 days 31260H 312 24
61 to 120 days 612120H 978 24
Over 120 days 1208 JA E 429 2,129
2,309 2,460

The movement in the expected credit loss for trade receivables
for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as

HZE20195 %2018 12831 B ILEENE S

EUFERREEBRESHNT :

follows:
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT
At 1 January M1A1R 5,217 =
Written off of trade receivables 34 & 5 e W E 8 (3,055) —
Expected credit loss for the year AEEFBHEEEE 4,496 5,217
At 31 December M12HA31H 6,658 5,217
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22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 22. FAfTRIE - BENRHEMEWKRFRIE

RECEIVABLES

2019 2018

20196 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T T

Prepayments T 5RIE 550 64

Trade deposit B 5%e 6,205 6,416

Deposits and other receivables e RH M EWRIE 70,965 171,515

77,720 177,995

Less: Provision for impairment losses OB EBERE (63,241) (65,264)

14,479 112,731

The impairment loss of HK$2,005,000 has been recognised for HZE2019F12 A31H It FECERAREEIE

the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: HK$64,422,000). 2,005,000/ 7T, (20184F : 64,422,000/ 7T) °
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23.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

23. ROTGHRIRE

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHET FET

Bank balances — trust accounts (note) RITHEER — EFEERP (M5 31,651 6,543
Bank balances and cash — general accounts SR7T##K&EE — —REP 15,454 12,255
47,105 18,798

Note: The Group receives and holds money deposited by clients in the
course of the conduct of the regulated activities. These clients
money are maintained in one trust bank account and bear
interest at commercial rates. The Group has recognised the
corresponding accounts payable to respective clients (note 29).

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s bank balances and cash
— general accounts amounted to approximately HK$15.5
million (2018: approximately HK$12.3 million), approximately
HK$127,000 was denominated in RMB and approximately
HK$15.3 million was denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (2018:
approximately HK$1.0 million and approximately HK$11.3
million respectively). Therein, approximately HK$15.1 million
(2018: approximately HK$10.8 million) were bank balances
deposited with credit worthy banks of high credit ratings in
Hong Kong, in which approximately HK$15.1 million (2018:
approximately HK$10.7 million) was denominated in Hong Kong
dollars. Included in bank balances and cash — general
accounts, there is a pledged deposit of approximately HK$4.1
million to secure a general banking facility (note 25).

Mk AEBEETRAERDFRRIFERP
TFRREFRIA ° ZEEPHFER —EEER
THRPREXIZFENRNE - AEHEH#E
RENZE P B REERR (E29)

MK2019%F 128310 ' AEEZRITEH KR
& — —MEKRF4/A15,500,0007% 7T (2018
4 : 4912,300,00077T) + 493127,0008 LA A
R+ {E & #915,300,00078 7T A7 JT 5t &
(20184 : ¥ B A 41,000,000/ 7t & 4
11,300,000 7) H & + 4915,100,0007% 7T
(20184 : #910,800,000/8 7T) B1F KR &
B EEFREEERTRITZRITERS
H A 415,100,000 7T (20184 : &
10,700,000 7T) LAB TLEHE © $RITAE R R
& — —RIEFPBERERERAI4,100,000
BT - EEA—MRIRITRE KA (FiFE25) °
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24. OHHERE
Available-for-sale investments comprise: AHEERE CEREAAT :
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Unlisted investments FERRE
Debt securities — Debentures, fair value BESHS — EES
(Note) BAFEE M)
As at 1 January ®1A1H — 1,475
Disposal of subsidiaries LEMRBAR — (1,475)
As at 31 December ®12A31H — =
Note: M &E -
As at 31 December 2018, the debenture securities with a carrying MR2018F12A31H  ZEEIZHFEEMES
amount of HK$1,475,000 represent the Group's interest in unlisted zero 1,475,000 7T ' IEAEBERNET AT Z AR
coupon debentures issued by companies incorporated in Hong Kong, BT LEMT BRI 2ER - NIRRT EE

which are measured at fair value. g
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25.

BORROWINGS f& =™
2019 2018
2019% 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T T
Bank overdrafts RITEX 1,884 —

Bank borrowings, secured MITHER - BEM

— current portion (Note) — BNERER S (BfsE) 3,000 415,788
4,884 415,788

Note: MI&E -

A general banking facility amounted to HK$7.0 million was secured by
a deposit of HK$4.1 million (2018: HK$4.0 million). The facility was
utilised to the extent of approximately HK$3.0 million as at 31
December 2019 (2018: HK$5.0 million). This general banking facility is
subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to certain of the security
coverage ratios, as are commonly found in lending arrangements with
financial institutions. If any of the security coverage ratios shall at any
time fall below the level required, the Group shall provide additional
security acceptable to the bank and/or reduce the outstanding of the
facilities designated by the bank. The Group regularly monitors its
compliance with these covenants.

No bank borrowings obtained in the PRC as at 31 December 2019. As
at 31 December 2018, bank borrowings obtained in the PRC were
secured by the finance lease assets held by the leasee with the carrying
value of approximately RMB554.1 million (equivalent to approximately
HK$630.8 million). The interest rate of the bank loans was 4.0% per
annum in 2018.

— A% R 77 A1 & 7,000,0007% JT LA 1% 584,100,000 7T
YEHE 8 (20184F : 4,000,000 7T) ° 12019412 A
318 - B & H % & 43,000,000 7T (20184 :
5,000,000 7T) ° 2 —MRIRTTR A AfF S THEA
BELNRAMRBEEREBHIEEE Mt HE
SREBIELERTHENEBHEE - WEMKHRE
SRR ERERERATREKTE  AEEARE
RITRAI BN 2 SEOME R KU D RITFTIE 2 18
REOARMERE AEETHERRETHZEZRZ

fBR

2019612 A318 » WERF HEFRITER - B
201812 A31H  EHBEEEHIRT T R AREE
% & A R ¥554,100,0007T (48 & 7 £9630,800,000
BIT) ZEMAAFMBEERERSEEFEER - 12018
FRTERZHETF HE40% °
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26.

LEASE LIABILITIES

26. THE&E

2019
20194
HK$'000
FHExT

Minimum lease payment due S AR & P LA T R [ 21 B
— Within one year — &R 5,200
— In the second to fifth years, inclusive — F_EERF(BEEEMRT) 3,894
9,094
Less: Future finance charges W RREEE A (249)
Present value of lease liabilities HEBBERE 8,845
2019
20194
HK$'000
FET
Within one year —FR 5,003
In the second to fifth years, inclusive F_EFRF(REEEMRSE) 3,842

8,845




Notes to the Financial Statements

87 5 ¥k 2% Bff 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

(1

2008 CB

On 12 August 2008, the Company issued a Convertible
Bonds as part of the consideration for the acquisition of
forest concessions in Papua, Indonesia (“2008 CB").

Subject to the restrictions specified below (the
“Conversion Restriction”), the 2008 CB are convertible
at the option of the bondholders into ordinary shares in
the Company at the initial conversion price of HK$0.1 per
share (subject to adjustments as provided in the terms
and conditions of the 2008 CB) at any time from the
date of issue and ending on the fifth business day before
the third anniversary of the date of issue:

o The bondholders do not have the right to convert
any principal amount of the 2018 CB into new
shares of the Company thereof, if upon such
conversion, Merdeka Commodities Limited and the
parties acting in concert with it will be interested
in 30% (or such amount as may from time to time
be specified in the Codes on Takeovers and
Mergers and Share Repurchases as being the level
for triggering a mandatory general offer) or more
of the enlarged issued share capital of the
Company at the date of relevant conversion;

o The conversion of the Convertible Bonds shall not
cause the Company to be in breach of the
minimum public float requirement as stipulated
under Rule 11.23 of the GEM Listing Rules; and

o The bondholders do not have the right to convert
any 2018 CB with the principal amount falling
between the range of HK$350,000,000 to
HK$776,880,000 at any time during the period
from the issue date up to and inclusive of the date
that falls on the first anniversary of the issue date.

27. OJRIEH

(1

2008 A2 IR & 25

R2008F8 H12H » AR A EE1T A%
&% {ERUWBENE B 1 an & R 7F
BB RAE ([2008 F AR IRES |) -

BEFBAIER  RETAHERT
RERm=BAF 2 EAEE %A FHE
A - BRI R EER0.1E T (7]
1R 1% 2008 F AR (B 75 IR BRI P
RIPAE M) 52008 F AR E S
BB R REBL - X T XATFIIR
(MERRE ) :

. MMM #®®%E Merdeka
Commodities Limited f& B2 H — %
THALTRIBRERBHBHES
KRB E R 2 LA BITRA
30% (kA AU EE - & O R R0
88 2] 57 Bl °] B B 36 E A i 25 0R
FllEE2EKBELNKE ZHRE
Stb) A B - AIEFRAA
EENE B EMNALEE 22018
FAMBRER LB BARRRHK

[

. HBA R EHF TS EHA R A
ERGEM ET R AIE11.2316 1
Rz B ARFRERT &

. BHFE AZ2018FE A R ES
K4 %8/ 350,000,000 T &=
776,880,000 70 2 E#& © IREETT
BHREZHTASR —BF2H (8
FEEEM A ) (EHAR A I b &
W o
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For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(1

2008 CB (Continued)

The 2008 CB are unsecured, interest-free and have an
initial maturity date at 12 August 2011. Unless converted
into the shares of the Company (the “Shares”), the
outstanding balance of the 2008 CB would be redeemed
in full on maturity.

By the first supplemental deed dated 30 May 2011, the
maturity date of the 2008 CB was extended for 3 years
and the conversion period was accordingly extended from
12 August 2011 to 12 August 2014. Upon becoming
effective of the first supplemental deed, the Company
might at any time during the period commencing from
the date of extension to the new maturity date to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CB at
par on a pro rata basis. Also, the Conversion Restriction
was removed. Apart from the extension of the maturity
date, the conversion period, the early redemption right
and the removal of the Conversion Restriction, all terms
of the 2008 CB remain unchanged.

By the second supplemental deed dated 9 July 2014, the
maturity date of the 2008 CB was extended for 3 years
and the conversion period was accordingly extended from
12 August 2014 to 12 August 2017. Upon becoming
effective of the second supplemental deed, the Company
might at any time during the period commencing from
the date of extension to the new maturity date to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CB
on a pro rata basis.

Upon effective of the second supplemental deed, the
2008 CB was valued by the directors with reference to a
valuation report issued by Roma Appraisal Limited, an
independent qualified valuer not connected to the Group.
Gain on extinguishment of convertible bonds of
approximately HK$39,480,000 was recognised in the
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2014.

27. Ok fEH @)

(1

2008 F A AR E H (1)

2008 F AR EH BERA - 2B R
IREIHA A A20114F8 8128 « BrIER R
BARNBKRS (B4 - & RI20084F
A AR (B 55 18 R R ER R S O B HR I 36
HED -

#EIHEAE2011F5830B2F—1H
HFELE - 2008 F A R EH 2 B H A
ER=F - MAEZTRRIAE20115F
SHI2EERZE2014588128 - R &
— AR ZIEERE - ARRAIRER
I BREE DA M 2 TSR
RHERLFIERZ PRI DR ALBRZ
2008 F AJ AR ES - BI - IR HIHE
Ik - BRI REIHA A R AR - 129
HE (o) 4 % 51 B AR HI 5N - 2008 4F AJ 42
f& B FH 0 2 BB R MR T o

#EFIVBEA201467A98 25 —
HFELE - 2008 F A R EH 2 B H A
ER=F - MAEZJRRAAE20145F
SHINEBERZE2017F88 128 - R &
ZIRERZIEERIE - ARRAIRER
I BREE D H A M 2 TSR
12 L 51 BE 0] 2= Ep 2k 2B 5 K 3R 2 2008
AR ES -

F_OBARBER R  EE2EHAN
EEWERENE LA BREEMES
B EER AR HAMMERS - ¥
2008 F A AR EHEITIHE - AR
% f& % 2 W25 439,480,00078 7T B FA &
E2014F 12 A31 B L FEM B AR

.
27
s ©
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(1

2008 CB (Continued)

By the third supplemental deed dated 20 January 2017,
the maturity date of the 2008 CB was extended for 3
years and the conversion period was accordingly extended
from 12 August 2017 to 12 August 2020 (the “Existing
Maturity Date”). Upon becoming effective of the third
supplemental deed, the Company might at any time
during the period commencing from the date of
extension to the Existing Maturity Date to redeem the
whole or part of the outstanding 2008 CB on a pro rata
basis. Also, the conversion price and the adjustment
events to the conversion price had been changed. The
conversion price have been adjusted to per share.

Upon effective of the third supplemental deed, the 2008
CB was valued by the directors of the Company with
reference to a valuation report issued by International
Valuation Limited, an independent qualified valuer not
connected with the Group. Gain on extinguishment of
convertible bond of approximately HK$31,162,000 was
recognized in the profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2017.

Upon effective of the Share consolidation on the basis
that every ten issued and unissued shares of par value of
HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company will
be consolidated into one consolidated share of par value
of HK$0.01 each, the conversion price of 2008 CB
adjusted to HK$0.95 per share.

The outstanding principal amount of the 2008 CB as at
31 December 2019 was HK$124,068,000 (2018:
HK$124,068,000) conferring rights to convert into a total
of 130,597,895 ordinary Shares (2018: 1,305,978,947).

The 2008 CB contain two components, the liability and
equity components. The equity component is presented in
equity as an “Equity component of convertible bonds”.

27. Ok EZHF @)

(1

2008 F AR fE F (%)

RIEBHA2017F1 20BN E =M
FEZ2YE - 2008 F AR AR EHHEIHI B IE
R=%F MABHEEB2017F8H12
HiE R £2020F8H12H ([H 172 5
B -RE=ZORAZBERE - AR
AN E R A BRI ITEI A B M (E B
fEl ¥ Lt Il B [0 2= 2B sk 20 9 K .48 2 2008
FAMRES - BE - ABRERHLKRE
FAREHEEE - ARECARAEE
Hﬁ °

REBE=DRFTZIEERIE + 2008F AJ#
BEFHARAESLLERERNER
7 4 RS Y B LA & RS (B A B BR AT A
ERARHAMNGBERSETHE - F
SHA AR E S 2 W a4931,162,0008 7T
EREZE2017F12A31H L FERE

RERD & GHERIE - ERAR R IRAF
F+REREEC.00E THEREITR
REITRDEE M A —REBAREEOC.01
BITHA R » 2008 F AJ AR EHF H
BREC AR ESR0.95B T -

R2019F 12 A31H © 20084 A # % (&
M R RN € 58 5 124,068,000 7T
(20184F : 124,068,0005 7T) - [ff %5 #
FIE] MR A4 $£130,597,895 % & & A%
(20184 : 1,305,978,947 %) °

2008 4F AI AR {E 75 B 45 B (& R A i i
MRER D - AR D N[ AR E R Z

BmEBY 25 -
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

(1

(2

27. Ok fEH @)

2008 CB (Continued) (1) 20084 AT BR & 35 (&)
The effective interest rate of the liability component is as BEMONERFNENT
follow:
Third Second First
Supplemental Supplemental Supplemental
deed deed deed
F-HREREE F-OBREE E-HHETRE
Effective interest rate =GV 10.11% 14.13% 11.66%

The movement of the liability component of the
convertible bonds for the year was set out below:

FARRRESR A EBDHE S50
T~

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHEIT

At the beginning of the year REFA) 105,651 95,940

Interest charged FEER 10,693 9,711

At the end of the year RER 116,344 105,651
2015 CB (2) 2015FAEKRES

On 21 April 2015, the Company issued the convertible
bonds as part of the consideration for the acquisition of
Blossom Height Ventures Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“2015 CB").

The 2015 CB are convertible at the option of the
bondholders into ordinary shares in the Company at the
initial conversion price of HK$0.32 per share (subject to
adjustment as provided in the terms and conditions of
the 2015 CB) at any time from the date of issue and
ending on the fifth business day before the third
anniversary of the date of issue.

As a result of open offer of shares on 10 August 2015,
the conversion price of 2015 CB have been adjusted to
HK$0.23.

The 2015 CB are unsecured, interest-free and have a
maturity date fall on the third anniversary from the date
of issue.

201564 A218 » KR AIEITAHRAR
&% fEAB W HEBlossom Height
Ventures Limited [ EFft & A RIHIEE 1K
B ([2015F AR EH]) -

BERBATERE  RETRHERT
BEm=RE 2 F REZ %R 1FHHE
W BERIZY S S RESR032ET
(AT R 4R 20154 AR AR & 27 2 {5k 3K B fif
PrETBA A 1 A8 2 ) #5201 55F Al AR B
HFRIBRRN R E B

BRE2015E8 108 AR ERD -
2015 F AT R ES M IRE D E AR
£0.2387T °

2015 F AR E S R EEA - 2B RR
ERTHHR=BFERIH -
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27. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)

28.

(2

2015 CB (Continued)

Upon effective of the share consolidation on the basis
that every ten issued and unissued shares of par value of
HK$0.001 each in the share capital of the Company will
be consolidated into one consolidated share of par value
of HK$0.01 each, the conversion price of 2015 CB have
been adjusted to HK$2.30 per share.

At the maturity date, any outstanding principal amount of
the 2015 CB will be compulsorily converted into ordinary
shares at HK$2.30 per share. The compulsorily conversion
feature of the 2015 CB is, in substance, a prepaid
forward purchase of the fixed number of shares of the
Company. Accordingly, at the date of initial recognition,
the fair value of the 2015 CB was wholly recognised as
equity and will not be remeasured subsequently.

On 17 December 2019, 17,391,304 shares issued as the
convertible bonds with face value of HK$40,000,000
were fully converted into shares of HK$0.01 each at the
conversion price of HK$2.30.

PROMISSORY NOTE

On 28 February 2019, The Company issued a promissory note
with principal amounts of HK$8.0 million (the “2019 PN”) as a
consideration for the acquisition of MPSL Group (as defined in
note 39). The 2019 PN bears interest at 2% per annum and is
due on the date falling on the last day of the 12th month
from the date of issue of the 2019 PN (the “2019 PN Maturity
Date”). The maturity date is 28 February 2020. The Company
has the right to repay in full or in part of the principal amount
of the 2019 PN prior to the 2019 PN Maturity Date at par.

27.

28.

o[k EH @)
(2) 2015FETHEBES (8)

RN A BHERRE - ERAA B A
HF+ K FREE0.001E THE TR
REBITRD A O A—REBREEO0.01
EITHIA IR » 2015 FE AR AR ES K,
BEEFABRAEER230ET -

REIEAR » (FR2015F [ R ES 2 &
HIBASEEE R IZENR2. 308 TH B
AT - BREMmE - 2015F B E
Sz oa il H s AR R EEE AR T
HEHZARRRG - Bt - RIIFHER
BHE - 2015F Al fE5 2 AT EEE
THEHERAEER ERBETEEH

=
= °

2019412 178 - 231717,391,304
A% A% 17 T {8 4 40,000,0007% 7T &9 A #2 B
BEHERIBE2308 TEHERATR
0.01 B THIRR D -

R RIR

MR2019F2H28H ' AR R EEITAESEAE
8,000,000/ 7T 2 7 X E 15 ([2019F & X &
Bl (FAKBESEXREKEECNRE(CE
R M FE39) c2019F A K ZEFRE A
2% + R 2019F & 5 B Ik H 817 H HiBET
TE@A 2 &x%&— A ([2019F & X EE T H
BI)EIH - B8 B 520202 828H « AR
AIARENR2019F A X RER I A Z AR EE
BB D 2019F A XL EHE 2K -
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28.

PROMISSORY NOTE (Continued)

The movement of the promissory note was as follows:

28. EARERE )

REERRRBEEHMT

2019 2018

20194 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At the beginning of the year RE ) — 27,622
Issuance upon acquisition of MPSL Group — W EE4EE HE LR

(as defined in note 39) (E&RMF39) BEAT 7,272 —

Coupon interest charged SENEER 133 —

Imputed interest charged HEFEEA 600 1,272

Transfer to other payables upon maturity I 26 88 &= H i g ( Z00E — (28,894)

8,005 =

The fair value of the 2019 PN was approximately HK$7.2
million as at the issue date, calculated at the effective interest
rate of 10.01% per annum. The promissory note was carried at
amortised cost until settlement on due date. As a result, the
carrying amount of outstanding 2019 PN was HK$8.0 million.

2019F & A EBRREITRAHZATEENE
BREFIZE10.01%51E + £9/47,200,000/87T °
AAEBRZBERATE BEEREERAE
BALE B - MARTTHE Z2019F & K B &
BR H & /48,000,000 7T °
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29. TRADE PAYABLES

Details of trade payables as at the end of reporting period are

B R RIA

RBEMR - BHRNRENFENAT

as follows:
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Trade payables from financial services BHREBENINERRTE EBHE
business other than dealing in securities 2 FE 5RIE — 4,503
Trade payables from the business of REBHFBEEED
dealing in securities
— Cash clients —REEF 58,665 6,554
— HKSCC — BREEE — =
Trade payables from trading business B OXEBHE 5 ENIEA 1,518 1,285
Trade payables from information technology & MEHZEI5HE 5 EN B
business — 1,310
60,183 13,652

An aged analysis of trade payables arising from business other
than dealing in securities as at the end of reporting period

RBEHRR REFHEENIEENE S

ERNREREREY AOPNRES TN

based on the invoice date/contractual term, are as follows: T
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 30 days 30HRA 57 4,490
31 to 60 days 31260H 294 22
61 to 120 days 612120H 26 202
Over 120 days 120BA £ 1,141 2,384
1,518 7,098
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30.

31.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

30. EfthfEfTRIBKEST IR

2019 2018
201945 20184
HK$°000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Other payables (note) B A< SR IE (T EE) 103,872 145,189
Accruals FE& IR 2,849 4,520
106,721 149,709

Note: B 5
Included in other payable, the amounts of approximately H b S BB A B 5 412,636,000 T (20184F -

HK$12,636,000 (2018: HK$10,671,000) and HK$31,521,000 (2018:
HK$8,938,000) represented the amounts due to Mr. Cheung, the
chairman, the chief executive officer and an executive Director of the
Company, and loans from Mr. Wong, a substantial shareholder of the
Company respectively.

The amounts due to the Director are unsecured, interest-free and no
fixed repayment terms.

The loans from the shareholder are unsecured, interest bearing at 5%
to 5.125% and repayable within one year. During the year ended 31
December 2019, Mr. Wong agreed to extend the repayment date of
those due loans to 11 August 2020.

10,671,0005% 7T) % 31,521,000 7T (20184 :
8,938,00077T) DRI R EMNRILE (RARER -
TRBHFHTESR) RBEBRRATEE (KRARE
ERE)MER

ENEFFR/EEA 2EREETEERY -

REBROERBERA - 5% 25.125% F £ 5t
BRER—FAEE - RBIE2019612A31HIEF
B ThRERZBCERZEINHEXNERBHE
202048 A118 »

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 31. EERIBEEE
2019 2018
20194 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
As at 1 January M1A1H 941 941
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39) W B8 — FEIBT B A =) (M 5E39) 187 —
As at 31 December M®12H31H 1,128 941
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32. SHARE CAPITAL 32. BRI
Number of
shares Amount
BROEHE 2]
Notes in"000 HK$'000
B F & FHT
Authorised: EE
As at 1 January 2018, R2018F1 818 »
31 December 2018 and 1 January 2019 201812 A31H
%2019F181H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each BRMEEO0.001 T 2 LAk 200,000,000 200,000
Share consolidation B0 & B 1 (180,000,000) =
As at 31 December 2019 M2019F 12 A31H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FREEC.0E L TBR 20,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRME:
As at 31 December 2018, 1 January 2019 2018 12H31H »
20191 A1H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each FRETEE0.001 /570 2 LAk 2,040,094 2,040
Placing of shares it & B 15 2 408,000 408
Share consolidation %15 & o 1 (2,203,285) —
Convertible bonds converted into shares AR EFE R D 3 17,391 174
As at 31 December 2019 2019412 A31H
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each SREEBTZEER 262,200 2,622

Notes:

(1

(2)

3)

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed in the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company on 15 August 2019, every ten
issued and unissued shares of the Company of HK$0.001 each
were consolidated into one consolidated share of the Company
of HK$0.01 each with effective on 19 August 2019.

On 12 July 2019, the Company entered into a placing agreement
with a placing agent whereby the Company conditionally agreed
to place through the placing agent, on a best endeavor basis, up
to 408,000,000 placing shares to not less than six placees at a
price of HK$0.016 per placing share. The placing of shares was
completed on 6 August 2019.

On 17 December 2019, 17,391,304 shares were issued as the
convertible bonds with face value of HK$40,000,000 were fully
converted into shares of HK$0.01 each at the conversion price of
HK$2.30.

@)

(©)

RIFA AR R201958 A 158 MR RIK
FBEAMNTERZER  B201948H19H
i AAREFTREREE0.001EITAHE R
TRAEITRGEHA—RESREEOH
TTHARREA GRS ©

M201967H128 » "R R HEEERERZ
& W Hit - AR BEFLRZRBE
ERBIRBEAMERELER T DRINEEEA
il & 5% 408,000,000 % Bl 81D - Bl EEA
FRESRM0.01678 L - BRHEEE R
201948 A6 H %K °

2019128178 » B #1717,391,304%
T {8 440,000,000 7T B 7] #2 B% (& 5 3% 5 iR
B2 308 L BB ATR0.01BTARD -
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33.

34.

OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES Al S iH &SR
2019 2018
20195 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT
As at 1 January ®1A1H — 1,026
Repayment B — (962)
Disposal of subsidiaries o &5 B BB A R — (64)
As at 31 December Mm12A31H — =
RESERVES 34. f#fE
Nature and purpose of the reserves REEERBEN
(i)  Share premium (i) KREG=EE
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the REBERASHSARE  WREBEREZES
share premium account is distributable to the KRB E A% - ARRIgEMENBEE
shareholders of the Company, provided that immediately BRI HAER - AIRDEERA
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to DR T AR FIRLER o
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as and when they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.
(i)  Contributed surplus (i) HAZEE
The Company's contributed surplus represents the excess KRB A RBIEN T FRER —H
of the fair value of the shares of a subsidiary acquired in MEARMRKRGAFEEE  BHBER
prior years, over the nominal value of the Company’s MM BEITHARBIRMDEENZRE -
shares issued in exchange thereof.
(iiij) Equity component of convertible bonds (iii) FREREFE w5
The value of unexercised equity component of convertible ARATFABEITIRRES 2 RITEER
bonds issued by the Company recognised in accordance HozEBEDREBEEBAIRRKRZESS
with the accounting policy adopted for convertible ST T LATERR -
bonds.
(iv) Share option reserve (iv) ELBEREFE

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of share
options granted which are yet to be exercised, The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

BEABRERBRRBRDROMEARITE
ZBEBREZ AFEE - ZBREIN
BRBREBREETERERERME
B - N A BRI BAENRE X
BORWRE R ERE RN
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34. RESERVES (Continued)

Nature and purpose of the reserves (Continued)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Capital reduction reserve

Capital reduction reserve is the credit arising from the
capital reduction.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve comprises all foreign
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the overseas subsidiaries.

Fair value through other comprehensive income
reserve

Fair value through other comprehensive income reserve
represents gain/losses arising on recognising financial
assets classified as financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income.

Other reserve
Other reserve arose from the acquisition of additional

equity interest in a subsidiary from non-controlling
interest set out in note 40.

34. & E)

EEEER B (&)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

AR 3 Bl 78 1 1

A BB o 1 R B A BB AR RO HEBR -

ELZKERE
bE SR B R A R A R R B SNKT B X R
MBHRRELZAEELER -

URFEEFARMZERAFE

AAFBEFARMEE R A FHERE
REBB/URFEEFARBEEKA
ZERMEENSRMEEMEEN RS
18 o

At

HAth A EE & B M 5L 40 P 51 6 SEHE ) 14
WM B AR EIMES
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise finance
lease receivables, financial assets at FVOCI, trade receivables,
held-for-trading investments, cash and short-term deposits,
trade payables, other payables, convertible bonds, promissory
notes and bank borrowings. The main purpose of these
financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which
arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the
Group's policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be
undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing this risk and they are
summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The following table indicates the approximate change in the
Group's loss for the year and accumulated loss in response to
reasonably possible changes in the foreign exchange rates to
which the Group has significant exposure at the end of
reporting period. The sensitivity analysis includes balances
between Group companies where the denomination of the
balances is in a currency other than the functional currencies of
the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates
an increase in loss before tax and accumulated loss where the
HK$ strengthens against the relevant currency. For a weakening
of the HK$ against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the loss before tax and
accumulated loss, and the balances below would be negative.

35.

B R R EIRE IR IR

AEBEZTEE/HT ABSREREMEEREK
B UXTFEEAAEMCEEEAAZERE
E B5RWEA AHEERE ReKE
HEHR - BHEMNFKIE - HMENHKIE - mi
& AARERRBITER - ZFERTHE
TEFERAEEZEEESEES - A5H
BEzREMeRMEERAG  WEEXHE
BEELECZEHRWKRAREZENFA -

AEBEZBERRNEBEFEEEFENETER
TRIARS -

AEBeMIAMELZ EERR RINER
eRRSERR EFTSFHLRAEERE
BHREER 2 BR - ERAmT -

ShE LB

TRETAEBENFEANBERRFBERE
KRR A RS (BN RERRAEEE
FREARRER) fHROROES - GURESIT
BREESERRCREMNGEE  M&FERIINA
EFHENNEEEANEEE - TRF
IE 8RR ER T AR R B W THE R R B A &
BRRFEEEN - EETHLARERRE
B RERABEERRAEREEASFERA
FE MIREHBEREH -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES (Continued)

35. EiiSEREIEBRE LR @

Increase/
(decrease) in
exchange rate

Increase/
(decrease) in loss
before tax and
accumulated loss

BB AT 18 R
EREH 2t EiE
(T¥&) #i,/ CR2)
% HK$'000
% FHIT
2019 20194
If HK$ weakens against RMB ST H AR E 10 7
If HK$ strengthens against RMB ST H A REFE 10 (7)
2018 20184
If HK$ weakens against RMB B THARERE 10 —
If HK$ strengthens against RMB w7 7T i A REFE 10 —
2019 20194
If HK$ weakens against EUR fisl 75 7T H B T B2 (B 10 5
If HK$ strengthens against EUR s 78 7T 5 B T FHE 10 (5)
2018 20184
If HK$ weakens against EUR i 75 7T K BR T B2 (B 10 —
If HK$ strengthens against EUR s 785 70 3 BT FHE 10 —

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming that the
change in foreign exchange rates had occurred at the end of
the reporting period and had been applied to each of the
group entities; exposure to currency risk for both derivative and
non-derivative financial instruments in existence at that date,
and all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain

constant.

EHHBREINE  NRREXTEHRRE
HREL BEAHEDEARSEEERH
RZBFENSRITERFITESR T AN
mHMEERERE - BRAEMEHR LEAT

%) T -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND 35. B RESIEBRERRZEE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk B E & R
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between REEZ BENRZER D M AR E S R
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of RER EEASRHBEMHEEEFE CBERS
convertible bonds and promissory notes. & o
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s TERBARBEANFERNTRI T2 AEE
financial liabilities based on contractual undiscounted payments. M AR BHEER -
As at 31 December 2019 7"2019%12H31H
Within one More than Total
year or on 1 year but less  undiscounted Carrying
demand  than 5 years cash flows amount
—FRH SZR—F REH
RER BHIREE BERBE SREE
HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTERT FTERT FTERT FTERT
Borrowings &R 4,884 - 4,884 4,884
Promissory note ARER 8,160 - 8,160 8,005
Trade payables B S ENHIE 60,183 - 60,183 60,183
Other payables and accruals H Ath JE A 5RIB K B AT B 106,721 - 106,721 106,721
Convertible bonds AR B 5 124,068 — 124,068 116,344
Lease liabilities HERE 5,200 3,894 9,094 8,845
309,216 3,894 313,110 304,982
As at 31 December 2018 M2018%F12A31H
Within More than Total
one year or 1 year but less undiscounted Carrying
on demand than 5 years cash flows amount
—FRAK SR—F RERT
RER BLRAE RemEs REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT FHT
Bank borrowings BT 418,740 — 418,740 415,788
Trade payables B SR FIE 13,652 = 13,652 13,652
Other payables and accruals H Ath B 508 K B AT E 149,709 — 149,709 149,709
Convertible bonds ARk ES — 124,068 124,068 105,651

582,101 124,068 706,169 684,800




Notes to the Financial Statements

87 5 ¥k 2% Bff 5E

For the year ended 31 December 2019 # ZE2019F 12 A31HILEFE

35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to interest rate risk,
as the Group has no financial assets and liabilities of material
amounts with floating interest rate.

Management will continue to review the market trend, as well
as its business operation needs and its financial position in
order to identify the most effective tools for the Group's
interest rate risk management.

Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to trade, finance
lease, loan and other receivables. Management has monitored
the exposures on an ongoing basis.

The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the
carrying amount of each financial asset in the consolidated
statement of financial position after deducting any impairment
allowance. The Group does not provide any other guarantees
which would exposure the Group to the credit risk.

Fair value estimation

The fair values of current financial assets and liabilities are not
materially different from their carrying amounts because of the
immediate or short-term maturity.

The Group's financial instruments carried at fair value represent
the Group’s other financial assets. The following provides on
analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent
to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 to 3
based on the degree which the fair value is observable.

—  Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from
quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for identical
assets or liabilities.

—  Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

—  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).

35.

815 R IR E IR B IR R R ()

A = = B

AEFELE S REANEXER EAAEE
WERAFBHNEGFEZEAEREENERE -

EEEREERIMEBEUREEKZE
FoRE BT AROR  PAY) & AR B A R A B
EEEAERZTA-

FERRE

AEEZEERBREIEREE HEWIE
BMEME  BURERKEMEKE - BEE
FEEEAR -

EREEABRERGEAVBERABRASE
BB E 2 REE (R EABRERRS) - K&
By EERECAEBERAEEARLEE
B2 ER

AT B

HRBARINERAZE SRR E
ENBENATEEEERAELEERE
EO

AREEATEEFEZ SBIARAEE
ZRMSBAE - TURERNSRRAEE
AFEEHE BHRBATEETBEEGMH
TRESEAF-EZEARMZEHIAS
i -

— F-EATEEHEHNEREEXEE
EEBRTISMERE CRERE) B -

— F_ERAVEEMEHME-EMEME
ROMN AT REESR A RRABBRER
(BMER) REZE (AR ER)FH -
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (Continued)

Capital risk management

The Group's objective of managing capital is to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns and benefits for members and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
includes borrowings, bank balances and cash and total equity as
disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on a
semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through new share issues as well as the issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debts.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their corresponding fair values.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting periods was as
follows :

35.

B 5 R bR S 12 B I K BUER ()

EXEmEE

AEEEREANBENRHEARNEENSE
R UEABRRIRHE®RNL M - Wik
FRENERGEHE  UREERKAK -

AEENEAZRBEREBFE LR
EREEHRTERENGR  RITEHRKLR
& MBS AR -

AEENEEESYEER —REAEE -
ERUEBEN—FD  EEEREREARK
ARBEERBREENRR - RIEEEE
MR - AEERMEBERITHR  BITHEX
BOREEY  UFHHEREARERE -

ARAREFRL  EREMBEWER S AHE
KAAENEREERSRABMNREER
HARAFEEMAS

BERRNEERBLRMOT :

2019 2018
20196 20184

HK$"000 HK$'000

FET FH&IT

Borrowings R 4,884 415,788
Convertible bonds AR fE S 116,344 105,651
Promissory note HH R 8,005 —
Total borrowings CE -t 129,233 521,439
Total assets BB E 197,087 697,548
Gearing ratio BEAMFBLE 0.66 0.75

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.

AR B RAE E M B R B ERH I E A
TR
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36.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

RATMIBERIRERER

COMPANY
2019 2018
20194 20184
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERARE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BE REE 1,516 1,950
Right-of-use assets EHREEE 3,589 —
Interests in subsidiaries RH B AR Z 157,153 129,794
Total non-current assets R EELLRE 162,258 131,744
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and other FEfZIE « & K HAM
receivables fE U FIE 5,242 408
Bank balances and cash RITEHRRES
— general accounts — —REP 119 262
Total current assets MBEEEE 5,361 670
Current liabilities REAE
Lease liabilities HEHE 1,963 —
Convertible bonds Al E 5 116,344 —
Promissory notes Y 8,005 —
Other payables and accruals H i B A5 RE K FE AT ROE 174,496 74,846
Amounts due to subsidiaries T B A RIBR R 989 9,756
Total current liabilities mEBEARE 301,797 84,602
Net current liabilities REBEETEHE (296,436) (83,932)
Total assets less current HEERARBAE
liabilities (134,178) 47,812
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Convertible bonds Al R E & — 105,651
Lease liabilities HEBE 1,685 —
Total non-current liabilities JEREN B ERRE 1,685 105,651
Net liabilities BEFEE (135,863) (57,839)
EQUITY IR #E
Share capital A% 7 32 2,622 2,040
Reserves G (138,485) (59,879)
Total equity B RE (135,863) (57,839)

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

4 May 2020.
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson
REE
Director

EF

KEREN20209F5 A4 B Rk RIRRETIE -

Tsang Kwai Ping
=32
Director

EE
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37. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 37. Kralfitfe
Equity
component of Capital
Share  Contributed convertible  Share option reduction  Accumulated
premium surplus bonds reserve reserve losses Total
R B B% &
ROEE BARH ZHRBEHD BRERR HIR RitBR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FET FET FHT FET FET
As at 31 December 2017 and ~ #2017% 128318 %2018 1A1H
1 January 2018 957,059 18,203 53,115 27,328 163,191 (1,082,962) 135,934
Changes in equity for 2018: 20184 Z #E8) :
Loss and total comprehensive ~ AFEBERZERALE
income for the year = = = = = (195,813) (195,813)
As at 31 December 2018 #®2018%12 8318 957,059 18,203 53,115 27,328 163,191 (1,278,775) (59,879)
As at 31 December 2018 and 201812 4318 &2019F1 418 *
1 January 2019, as original R
presented 957,059 18,203 53,115 27,328 163,191 (1,278,775) (59,879)
Effect of adoption of RRBBUBRELENZ6RNTE
HKFRS 16 = = - — — (22) (22)
As at 31 December 2018 and 420185128318 %2019F 1A 18 *
1 January 2019, as K&y
restated 957,059 18,203 53,115 27,328 163,191 (1,278,797) (59,901)
Changes in equity for 2019: 2019 EH % :
Loss and total FRARAFEZEUAAE
comprehensive income
for the year — - - — - (84,530) (84,530)
Lapse of share options BREAK - - - (2,329) - 2,324 -
Placing shares RERS 6,120 - — - - — 6,120
Shares issued upon exercise TR EHBTELRITRE
of convertible bond 30,213 — (30,387) - - — (174)
As at 31 December 2019 20195128318 993,392 18,203 22,728 25,004 163,191 (1,361,003) (138,485)
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38. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of
establishment/

38. MIEL T

EREXENBARZFHBNOT

incorporation Issued and fully paid/ Percentage of equity
Name and operations  registered share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
R/ ARH
£ RUREEHE DROREAR/ERRE EERAERA DL TEEH
2019 2018
20195 2018%
% %
Atbinary (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 Information technology business
ZRTE (#ER) BRAR B3 147 BAMBEH
End User Investments Limited BVI HK$2,970,618 100 100 Investment holding
RBARES 2,970,618% 7 RERR
End User Technology Limited BVI Us$100 100 100 Investment holding
RBARES 100% 7 RERR
Ever Hero Group Limited BVI Us$100 100 100 Investment holding
RBARES 100% 7 RERR
Merdeka Professional Services Limited (formerly ~ Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 100 —  Corporate consulting business
known as “Veda Corporate Services
Limited")
BREERKERAR &k 1,500,000/ 7T DERADER
(AR EREZRBARAA])
Ideal Magic International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Investment holding
HEBRER AR 3 10,0007 72 RERR
Merdeka Corporate Finance Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,001 100 100 Investment holding
EELEREERAR &k 1,500,001/ 7T REARR
Merdeka Corporate Advisory Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100 —  Accounting and financial
reporting services
BELXFABRAA 3 147 St REBRERE
Merry Fortune Holdings Limited BVI Us$1 100 100 Investment holding
RBARES 17 RERR
Heng He Financial Lease (Shanghai) Company PRC RMB300,000,000 64.71 64.71 Finance leasing
Limited* (note)
BARAHE (L§) ARAA () T A& 300,000,007 BEHE
Source Easy Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 100 100 Trading business
RHBERAR &k 10,0007 72 25%%
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38. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. MMIBLIIER 5
Place of
establishment/
incorporation Issued and fully paid/ Percentage of equity
Name and operations  registered share capital attributable to the Company  Principal activities
RI/ER N
£4:1 RIREEHE EBRORAZRE EERAERB DL TEEY
2019 2018
2019% 2018%
% %
Merdeka Securities Limited (formerly known as  Hong Kong HK$25,770,000 100 100 Dealing in securities
“Merdeka Capital Limited”)
FREFERAR (BIERERERAA]) FE 25,770,000 ¢ BERT
Merdeka Credit Information Limited* (note) PRC RMB50,000,000 70 70 Inactive
BEAGERAR (M) ikl AR E50,000,0007 TER
Merdeka Investment Management Limited Hong Kong HK$5,000,000 100 51 Advising on securities and asset
(formerly known as “Heng Asset management

Management Limited")
FEREEEERAA i 5,000,000/ AESREEAREEER
(FIE[EEEERERAR])

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in EEZRE RSN ZARAMBARE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for HEAFEEENERAEEEEFEDN
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BEAHD  c BEFRA - REHMHMBAR 25
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the BEHEHERBRBRITE °

opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

* For identification purpose only * 135

Note: B 5

These subsidiaries are registered as wholly foreign owned enterprises ZEMBRARBEPEEETMRIIEBERE -

under the Law of the PRC.
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39.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 28 February 2019, the Group completed the acquisition of
the entire interest in Merdeka Professional Services Limited
("MPSL") (formerly known as Veda Corporate Services Limited)
and its subsidiaries (together “MPSL Group”) at a consideration
of HK$8,000,000 settled by the promissory note issued by the
Company. MPSL Group is principally engaged in the provision of
corporate consulting services including company secretarial
services, accounting and financial reporting services and
management consulting services and is a holder of the Trust or
Company Service Provider License registered with the Company
Registry of Hong Kong. The primary reason for acquisition was
to further expand and diversify the business portfolio within the
corporate consulting business sector.

39.

i —REMEAT

R2019F2 A28H ' AEBTKKBESEE
AEERAR ([BAEEX£EHERAT ) (A
BEABRMCEREERAR) REWEB AR (&
B ACEXEEER]) N2 IEs  RER
8,000,000/ T * AR A BT HR N EHE X
- BEEENEEEETERERELER
ARG - BEARMERE - SRV ERS
BR7S - U RERZMARE - B ABB AR EM
B e T A R RIS IR E M RAFIEA -
WEEENTEZE AR ECEERNESBL
WiE—FBAEREEBHES Z T -
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39.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities arising from
the acquisition of MPSL Group as at the date of acquisition

were as follows:

39. WHE—REME AT @)

REBEBAS AUBEEEXBEEEME
EMAHREERAENRFEERDT

Fair Value
AFEE
HK$'000
FH&IT
Property, plant and equipment M WE R 20
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,943
Intangible assets mIEE 1,140
Trade receivables Z 5 FEWGRIA 998
Other receivables o E W SR IE 36
Prepayments and deposits A RIERES 544
Bank balances and cash RITEHBRRS 2,654
Tax receivables JFE W R IH 233
Trade payables 5 e RIE (630)
Deferred income EFEWA 3)
Receipt in advance T U R IE (33)
Deferred tax liabilities BERIEAE (187)
Dividend payable FERT AR B (2,970)
Lease liabilities HEAE (3,943)
Fair value of net assets acquired ERAFEENATEE 1,802
HK$’000
FHIT

Total consideration satisfied by promissory note NAEHZERSTNNBEREQATER
issued at fair value (note 28) (P =E28) 7,272
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired W EBAFEENATER (1,802)
Goodwill (note 15) 2 (fzE15) 5,470
Cash consideration paid ENEeRE —
Bank balances and cash in a subsidiary acquired R—HEERBERBRRMNRITESREE 2,654
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary REKE—HHBLARMNESRAFRE 2,654
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40.

TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

On 4 November 2019, the Company acquired the remaining
49% equity interest of Merdeka Investment Management
Limited (formerly known as Heng Asset Management Limited
("MIML") at cash consideration of HK$10,000,000. MIML
becomes the wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. The Group
recognised a decrease in non-controlling interests of
HK$3,452,000 and a decrease in equity attributable to owners
of the Company of HK$6,548,000. The effect of changes in the
ownership interest of MIML on the equity attributable to
owners of the Company during the year is summarised as
below:

RIFERIED 2 X5

R2019F 11 A48 ARAINUNBEEKE
10,000,000/ TN B EE R EEEBRA A
(AIfEEEEEBEERAR  [AERE]) &%
TA49%RE 1 - BERERAAEERN 2 EHK
BAR - REEBERIEZERERR D
3,452,000 7T AR Bl IR A A B =
846,548,000 7T ° F N BERENES
ERSEHH ARG REREE ABIGERSD
HEBMIT

2019

20194

HK$°000

FET

Carrying amount of non-controlling interests acquired  FTURBE IE#E AG A 25 2 BRI (B 3,452
Consideration paid to non-controlling interests BT 2 R E (10,000)
Excess of consideration paid recognised within equity MRIEZERZEHEHE (6,548)
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 41. HEMEBLAS MEA S GFHER

SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Disposal of Merdeka Resources International Limited (a)
("MRI")

On 1 April 2019, a subsidiary of the Group as a vendor
entered into agreements with a director under normal
commercial terms to dispose of its entire equity interests
of MRI, at a consideration of HK$1. Gain on disposal
amounted to HK$173,000 was analysed as follows:

HEBREFRBEBRARAR ((BRER
i)

M2019F4 818 - A&EB —XKKTE A
Al(ERER) BE—MEEGREES
Al WEEBEERREE 225
i REAIBELT - HEWKZE A
173,000 T AT ¢

HK$’000
FHET

Net liabilities disposed of: EHESETFE:
Property, plant and equipment M BE R 12
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE ~ e R H ith EUGRIR 20
Other payables H ith S R E (205)
(173)
Less: Proceeds from disposal B SRS IR =
Gain on disposal o s (173)

The cash consideration of HK$1 from the disposal of MRI
has been fully received by the Group for the year ended
31 December 2019. Net cash inflows arising on disposal
is HK$1.

HE2019F12831BIEFE - AEH
ERFWREHEREEEREERE 2RER
BIBT  HEELRESARANEHELSE

JT °
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 41. HEMEBARS MEASIGFHEER (@)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(b) Disposal of Gold Coin Development Limited (“Gold (b) HESRBRERATA (2R REH
Coin”) and its subsidiary (together “Gold Coin BRE(GBIeRERE])
Group”)
On 23 December 2019, a subsidiary of the Group as a 201912238 * AEE — KRB
vendor entered into agreements with a director under RNEI(HERE ) BIE— MR E K EE
normal commercial terms to dispose of its entire equity FR M HE - WHESREER 2 2BR
interest of Gold Coin Group at a consideration of HK$1. - RERIET - HEKZA360,000
Gain on disposal amounted to HK$360,000 was analysed BTN
as follows:
HK$’000
FAET
Net liabilities disposed of: EHESETFE:
Inventories eSS 94
Trade receivables 2 5N FIA 44
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE © RS Kk H th fEKGRIR 94
Trade payables 2 5 FRIA (10)
Other payables and accruals H fth fE A FRIB S FEGHE B (504)
(282)
Non-controlling interest PRI A (204)
(486)

Less: Release of exchange reserve to profit or

loss upon disposal
Less: Proceeds from disposal

B HERBRELNFRES
B 126
B BB EIE —

Gain on disposal

& U ek (360)

The cash consideration of HK$1 from the disposal of
Gold Coin has been fully received by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2019. Net cash flows arising on
disposal is HK$1.

HE2019F12A31BIEFE  AEH
ERXRBUBHEESRZESRENS
Lo HEELBRSRAFEAIET -
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 41. WEMBAS),KiE NS5t &R (@)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(c) Deregistration of Veda (Yan’an) Corporate Services () FEHER(GER)LCEREERQR(E
Limited (“Yan’an”) z])
On 11 July 2019, the Group deregistered Yan'an, a 2019678118 » AEEFHER
wholly-owned subsidiary in PRC. —HRFEE2EENBE AR -
HK$’000
FHIT
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration PR 88 — I P B & R R AR PR B 5
of a subsidiary ki 6
Loss on deregistration FEiHER 6
Upon deregistration of this subsidiary, the cumulative RELiHaZ M B A RlE - REM 2 ERA
amount of the exchange differences relating to this ERENREFE R EAZEINE
foreign operation, recognised in other comprehensive BHEXREZHIteH  EREEES
income and accumulated in the translation reserve, has STERFE2I S ERaEN YRR °

been reclassified from equity to profit or loss in
accordance with HKAS 21.
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41. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEREGISTRATION OF 41. HEMBAS), KBNSk ER (@)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(d) Deregistration of Netgenii Technology Limited (d) HENRERAR(HE] FHER
(“Netgenii”)
On 25 January 2019, the Group deregistered Netgenii, a 20191258 « AEEF—HES
non-wholly owned subsidiary in Hong Kong. Gain on F2EMBRRKETHER - HEW
disposal amounted to HK$1,210,000 was analysed as 7 £31,210,0008 T A HTEAT ¢
follows:
HK$’000
FHIT
Net liabilities deregistered of: OEHEETFE
Bank balances RITHE A 76
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERTRIE ~ e Kk H th fEUGRIR 130
Trade payables Z 5 eI IR (1,300)
(1,094)
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEE R R (116)

Gain on deregistration R B RS 2 Was (1,210)
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42.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants for
their contribution to the Group. The share option scheme of
the Company was effective on 3 May 2012, when the annual
general meeting was held. Unless otherwise cancelled or
amended, the share option scheme will remain in force for a
period of 10 years from the date of its adoption. The Board
may, at their discretion, offer options to any full-time or part-
time employee or director of any member of the Group, and
any consultant of or adviser to any member of the Group (the
“Participants”) to subscribe for shares of the Company (the
“Shares”).

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under all share option scheme must not exceed 30%
of the Shares in issue from time to time.

42.

{2 S BB AR iE 5t 8l

ARBHTERAEBRENS EEREAE
BEERNAERSEERHEBME -
ARREABRESSRBREBFANGRT
EH2012F5A38 AR - BRIESITEHERE
7] BAEERBAERT B A B LR B
RA10FHAEARR - EE G RBRAE
B EARMEMEBAGRESIES
AR RSB EE R B A RIER AN (28
BEDRHELBRE URBAQRRN
(r&#ml) -

RIFEBEBREFIRETHNMEERHE
WARTTRELBREEEBITERRATET
ZENBERZTEBETE 22 BITRN
30% -
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42,

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of Shares available for issue under share
options which may be granted under the share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the Shares in issue. The maximum number of Shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the share options granted
and to be granted to each Participant (including both exercised
and outstanding share options) in any 12-month period up to
the date of grant must not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue at
the date of grant. Any further grant of share options in excess
of the above limit must be subject to shareholders’ approval
with such Participant and his associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) abstaining from voting.

If share options are granted to a connected person (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) or his associates, the granting of such
share options will be subject to approval of all INEDs (excluding
INED who is a grantee); where options are proposed to be
granted to a connected person who is also a substantial
shareholder or an INED of the Company or any of their
respective associates which will result in the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the share
options granted or to be granted (including share options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person under the
share option scheme in the past 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant: (1) exceeding 0.1% of the
total issued Shares for the time being; and (2) having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5,000,000, the
granting of such options will be subject to approval of the
independent shareholders of the Company. All connected
persons will abstain from voting (except any connected person
that may vote against the resolution).

Upon acceptance of the share option offers, the grantee shall
pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for each offer. The
share option will be offered for acceptance for a period of 28
days (or such shorter period as the Board may from time to
time determine) from the date on which the share option is
granted. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors and commences after a certain
vesting period, if any, as determined by the directors and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the share
option scheme, if earlier.

42,

{2 BB AR g5t 8 ()
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BEBREMATTFETNRMEE &S
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 42. BHEBRESS @)
BEELERESZEHNEAEEELE
PRAEFT SRR R EHEETS R HRTE -
HETAIBER TRATIBRZ &S E A% :
WVEHELEEREIE(MAASSEEBX

The subscription price of the share in respect of any particular
share option granted under the share option scheme shall be
such price as the Board in its absolute discretion shall
determine, save that such price shall be the highest of: (i) the

closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange
daily quotation sheet on the date of the grant of the share
option, which must be a business day; (ii) the average of the
closing prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotation sheets on the five business days immediately
preceding the date of the grant of the share option; and (iii)
the nominal value of the Share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends
or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

The following share options were outstanding under the share

P B RER IR KRTE () BER
HELBREZANDELXRBIMEH
WERMIIRO O FHRTE - A R BRH
ZHEfE-

BEBBEY EE THAARIKRE XN K
RAGREMNER -

RER  BEBREFEBETZRITEES

option scheme during the year: BRREER T
2019 2018
20195 20184
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price options exercise price options
mETY BRBRE IEFH BRBRE
THE #E T6EE %A
HKS per share ‘000  HKS$ per share '000
SRER TR BRET Fix
At beginning of the year REA 0.153 233,390 0.153 233,390
Cancelled/lapsed during the year RERZTH/ KK 1.49 (41,327) N/A i F =
Adjusted upon effective of share ROEFEREAR
consolidation N/A RER (192,030) N/A i F =
At end of the year RER 36 33 0.153 233,390
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42. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 42.

Details of the movements of the share options under the Share
Option Scheme for the years ended 31 December 2019 and
2018 were as follows:

Number of share options

BB RRiE St 8l ()

HE2019F K 20181231 BIEFE @ Bk
BRETZE T 2 ELEBREZESFBNT

BEBREHE
Adjusted
Adjusted exercise price of
during the the share
period upon options upon
Outstanding effective of  Outstanding effective of
as at Granted Exercised Cancelled/ share as at Date of grant share
1 January during the during the Lapsed during consolidation 31 December of the share Exercise period of consolidation
Name % 2019 period period  the period (Note 1) 2019 option the share options (Note 2)
#2019% ERBAEHE #2019% RBEHERE
1818 REREE HEHEER 128318 BABRE SRBELER
HRTE  REARYE  RERTE F3:d (B&E1) HATE 2BREAH EEBREZTEH BOEERER)
Executive Director HTES
Mr. Wilson Cheung REELL 100,000,000 - — (10,000,000)  (90,000,000) — 19/8/2015 19/8/2015-18/8/2025 1.47
Mr. Lau Chi Yan, Pierre ABCEE
("Mr. Lau") (Note 3) (T8I%ED)
(W3E3) 20,000,000 — — (2,000,000)  (18,000,000) — 19/8/2015 19/8/2015-18/8/2025 1.47
Independent non-executive ~ BUFHTEE
Directors
Mr. Yeung Mo Sheung, Ann BRERL 16,483 - - (1,648) (14,835) — 17172013 17/172013-16/1/2023 2130
1,000,000 — — (100,000) (900,000) — 19/8/2015 19/8/2015-18/8/2025 1.47
Mr. Ng Kay Kwok ("Mr. Ng")  R#EEA
(Note 4) (TR%%£))
(GED) 1,000,000 - - (100,000) (900,000) — 19/8/2015 19/8/2015-18/8/2025 1.47
Employees and other eligible EERHtAER
participants sRE
Employees &8 28,241 — — (24,002) (4,239) — 30/5/2012 30/5/2012-29/5/2022 36.00
40,000,000 - — (22,000,000)  (18,000,000) — 19/8/2015 19/8/2015-18/8/2025 1.47
Other eligible participants Hiha AR EE 332,003 = = (1) (298,803) 33,199 30/5/2012 30/5/2012-29/5/2022 36.00
14,128 - - (1,412) (12,716) — 17172013 17/172013-16/1/2023 21.30
71,000,000 — — (7,100,000)  (63,900,000) — 19/8/2015 19/8/2015-18/8/2025 1.47
233,390,855 - —  (41,327,063) (192,030,593) 33,199
Notes: Mzt -
1. The number of outstanding share option are adjusted after share 1. ARATBMEHR2019F8 198 A k% -
consolidation of the Company became effective on 19 August RITEBEERENREFFTAR -
2019.
2. The exercise price of the share option are adjusted after share 2. AATIIED A R 20198 B 198 £ 7k 14 -
consolidation of the Company became effective on 19 August BEERENTEEBEREE -
2019.
3 Mr. Lau resigned as an executive Director with effect from 31 May 3. Bl AP B(IHITES - §2019458310
2019. HAER -
4. Mr. Ng resigned as an independent non-executive Director with 4. LA D BB IERITES  B2019%4

effect from 1 April 2019.

The share options were vested at the date of grant. No share
option has been granted during the years ended 31 December
2019 and 2018.

H1BRERR -

BABERERARHEBRE - HZ20196 K%
2018F 12 A31BLEFE  IERNELER
7 o
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43.

NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Set out below are the summarised financial information for
Heng He Financial Lease (Shanghai) Company Limited that had

43. FiERiERD

UTHEINETRERE (L) BRAR (R
HAERYASEBER 2 IFERER) 2B

non-controlling interests which is material to the Group, before BEREE -
any elimination.
2019 2018
2019%F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Summarised statement of financial BB RREE
position
As at 31 December ®12A31H
Non-current assets FERBEE 360 5,995
Current assets MBI EE 81,494 652,362
Current liabilities RBEE (11,697) (494,770)
Net assets BEFE 70,157 163,587
Carrying amount of NCI R i = AR (B 24,758 57,730
Summarised statement of Z2EHKBEREE
comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December HE12A31MBLLEE
Revenue WA 9,420 73,450
Expenses M (92,059) (151,821)
Loss for the year FABR (82,639) (78,371)
Loss attributable to NCI for the year FRIEERE R EGERE (29,163) (27,657)
Summarised statement of cash flows HeREBRHPE
For the year ended 31 December BZE12A31HLEE
Cash flow generated from KL EEBHE
operating activities 360,129 1,349,693
Cash flow used in investing activities RETEMEEREE — (101)
Cash flow used in financing activities RMEETBMFHEE (360,838) (1,369,644)
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44. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

44.

memREeRNEXME

MECBDRFEEBEYHE:

Finance
Bank borrowings Lease liabilities lease obligation Total
RITER HEEE MERERE m@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
At 1 January 2018 R2018F181A 1,824,615 — 1,026 1,825,641
Changes from financing cash flows: BERESRELE :
Interest paid BRFE (369) — (23) (392)
Repayments of bank borrowings ERBITER (1,369,564) — — (1,369,564)
Repayments of finance lease obligation fE 8 B4 & & A& = — (962) (962)
Total changes from financing cash BERGTELEETE
flows (1,369,933) — (985) (1,370,918)
Other changes Hit 25
Interest expenses FEHY 369 = 23 392
Written off of the liabilities of a M —MERAHBAR
dissolved subsidiary Bf& (206) = = (206)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEHBAR = = (64) (64)
Exchange adjustments EHAR (39,057) = = (39,057)
Total other changes Hit#Bam (38,894) = (1) (38,935)
At 31 December 2018 and R2018F12A31A &
1 January 2019 20191818 415,788 — — 415,788
Changes from financing cash flows: BERLRESE :
Interest paid BRFIS (351) — — (351)
Payment of lease liabilities HEBEMNR - (4,876) - (4,876)
Repayments of bank borrowings BRRTER (405,138) - - (405,138)
Total changes from financing cash BERSHEZBHAE
flows (405,489) (4,876) — (410,365)
Other changes Hit 25
Interest expenses FIEHX 351 - - 351
Recognition upon initial application BRERBRMGRE S
of HKFRS 16 BIF165% R HER - 9,780 - 9,780
Acquisition of a subsidiary WebE — M B A A - 3,943 3,943
Exchange adjustments i 5 (7,650) ) — (7,652)
Total other changes Hitt2gam (7,299) 13,721 - 6,422
At 31 December 2019 R®2019%12A431R 3,000 8,845 - 11,845
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45. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 45, FEBARX S

BREGAVBHRREMEHMRESEI - K
SEBUATRBLTRS -

Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group have the following related party
transactions.

2019 2018
2019 20184
Name of related party Relationship Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$'000
BE 5 A 2RES XHMHE TR FHET
Wong Hin Shek Shareholder of the Company Loan interest payable 990 58
FHEE ZANYNGI JE S B KA B,
Compensation of key management personnel of the Group AEETEEEBAESZEFM
2019 2018
201945 20184F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Short term employee benefits EHIEERA 2,189 6,600
Post-employment benefits ER&EEN 35 54
Total compensation paid to key NPEEERABZHER
management personnel 2,224 6,654
46. LITIGATION 46. sk

On 22 January 2015, the Company announced that a writ of
summons was issued in the Court of First Instance of the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) by Mr. Au Kai To
Karel, as the plaintiff claiming against (i) End User Technology
Limited (“End User”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, as the 1st defendant; (ii) the Company, as the 2nd
defendant; and (iii) Lau Chi Yan Pierre, the managing director
and executive director of the Company, as the 3rd defendant
for, inter alia, (1) specific performance of an agreement dated
2 May 2013 in relation to a discloseable transaction of the
Company (details of which were disclosed in the announcement
of the Company dated 2 May 2013); or (2) alternatively, the
damages in the sum of HK$8,000,000 in lieu of specific
performance; and (3) the interest; (4) further and/or other
relief, and (5) the costs. Formal trial was held on 4-7
September 2017.

M201561 H228 - KRAIEM - BEFEE
(RE)REBREER ((BEER]) RAE
ERTHALEHERSM] VAR EZ2HE
2 &M BAAEnd User Technology Limited
([End User|Z% —#) i (VAR A (F ZH
5) RINARAIZESBEERNITEES
B (B=%WE)  UBNATEERELRE -
Heh84E : (1)58 5 /E1T HE 52013452 H
Z2WHE RABEARRRIZETHRERS (7
BRARARHEA2013F582B 2 2%
) s)B R - 8,000,000/ THIB A
FIETIES : ROFE  WE—F R SHE
foffE RGN o EREAER2017F9 A
ABETHET -
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46.

LITIGATION (Continued)

On 29 September 2017, the Company received a judgement
dated 29 September 2017 handed down by the High Court
(the "Judgement”) ordering, among others, that the Company
and End User, to pay, jointly and severally, damages to Mr. Au
Kai To Karel in the sum of HK$4.4 million.

As announced by the Company in its announcement dated
14 November 2017, the Company has appealed against the
Judgment by way of Notice of Appeal filed on 25 October
2017 with the Court of Appeal. The Company’s appeal is
numbered CACV 237 of 2017. Additionally, after seeking
further legal advice on the Judgement, the Appeal, the Petition
(as explained below) and other appropriate actions to be taken
thereon.

On 13 November 2017, the Company received a petition made
by Mr. Au Kai To Karel (the “Petition”) in the matter of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provision)
Ordinance, Chapter 32 (the “Ordinance”) from the High Court
that the Company may be wound up by the High Court under
the provisions of the Ordinance on the ground that the
Company is deemed to be unable to pay the sum of HK$4.4
million as stipulated therein the Judgement mentioned above.
The Petition is numbered HCCW 343 of 2017.

The Company, on 1 December 2017, applied to the Court for
a validation order in respect of the Company’s disposition of
property pending determination of the Petition (the “Validation
Order”).

At the hearing on 24 January 2018, the Validation Order was
granted by the Court in the terms as follows: until further order
of the Court, (i) any payment or other disposition of property
made on or after 13 November 2017 in the ordinary course of
the business of the Company shall not be void; (i) the
payments made into or out of certain specified bank accounts
of the Company in respect of expenses incurred in the ordinary
course of business shall be sanctioned; (iii) the payment of
reasonable legal expenses incurred by the Company in various
legal proceedings shall not be void; (iv) any transfer of the
Company’s shares on or after 13 November 2017 shall not be
void; and (v) the Company shall provide to the Petitioner all
quarterly Reports commencing December 2017 and annual
Reports starting from the year ending 31 December 2017
within three days from the date of issuance of the same to the
public.

46.

HiE/NE-))

K201799H29H « AN A A ¥ %& H i 52017
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£ HEF R DRI HEE £ 584,400,000 7T ©

AR RRR2017F11IA14B 2 REME
ffi - RARIBER2017F 10825 B KA LFFRE
MR A EFFERERFHRRE E5F - AR A]
2 FERIRSRA2017FE CACV 237557 o 4N » 5t
ZHR - ZLEF ZE2F T M) REA
B ERBAEZETHSKE—SEAREER -

R2017F11 8138 ' AR EEESF AR
B AEEFLERBEE(RAIGEEK
HMIEBE SO EANENE([ZEH) 225
([ZE2FE]))  BEBRARRERBIEREER
gt )R R BT Y A $£4,400,0005% JT 1M A AE
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AARAEEBBREPEL 2 EAMAREE
tEEERE  (VMOERBRAEXBREF
FEARIT 2@ AXEHAARE THEER
ARPZFIE : (iVFEBEUHEAR R & B A
BRFAMEEZAEEZERMNT (WIE
BUHM 20174811 B13 B sk 2 & #1358 & (EfAI A
AAIRMDERE : RVAR R ERRAR T
EHREERE(B2017ENAR) RER(E
HE2017F12A318 L FE#R) 2B L=
HABZERERRTEBA -
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LITIGATION (Continued)

On 7 May 2018, upon the Company having paid into court the
judgement sum of HK$4.4 million pursuant to a court order
dated 16 April 2018, the Petition was adjourned until the
determination of the Appeal.

On 4 January 2019, the Court of Appeal allowed the
Company’s appeal despite dismissing End User's appeal.
Reasons for judgement was handed down on 18 January 2019.

On 20 May 2019, the Court ordered that the Petition made by
Mr. Au Kai To Karel (the “Petitioner”) under HCCW 343 of
2017 to wind up the Company be dismissed with costs payable
by the Petitioner to the Company.

With respect to the HK$4.4 million payment into the court
made by the Company on 7 May 2018, the Court of Appeal
will make further direction or determination on a date to be
fixed.

The Group will keep its shareholders and the public informed of
any further significant developments by making further
announcements as and when appropriate.

46.

HiG/NE-)

R2018F5A87H - AARRIEBHA20184F
AR16AMERBSRAER X H A5
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47.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(a)

Impact of novel coronavirus outbreak

Since the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
("COVID-19") in January 2020, a series of precautionary
and control measures have been and continued to be
implemented across the counties including but not limited
to the subsequent quarantine measures and travel
restrictions imposed by the respective local government.
The COVID-19 has impacts on the business operation for
various industries and overall global economy. It is
expected that the COVID-19 has certain impact of the
financial performance of the Group in the first half of
2020. The Group will keep continuous attention on the
situation of the COVID-19, assess and react actively to its
impacts on the financial position and operating results of
the Group.

47. RS

(a)

HARS1R

FEBRFESFRBEAEENZE

B2020F1 A B & 2019F Bk im 5 /A
(fCOVID-19]) AR - Ei A ERE &
MENE A B B i — R 5 IR - B 1R
1B BRFABE 12 KO 5 1 e S AR 2 6l o
COVID-19¥ BT R BB B R XI5 E
EIER — B E - EFTCOVID-19#
HAREE20204F L FHNPMGEEEL
—ERE o ANEBBEERECOVID-19
HIAR L + TEAR ATl 0 fE ¥ EL S AN R B
BHRAREEEENTE o
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47.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(b)

(i) Proposed rights issue on the basis of four (4) rights
shares for every one (1) existing share held on the
record date; (ii) Connected transaction —
subscription of convertible bonds under specific
mandate; and (iii) Connected transaction —
proposed amendments to the terms of the 2008
convertible bonds

(i) The Company proposed to implement the rights
issue on the basis of four (4) rights shares for
every one (1) existing share of the Company held
on the record date at the subscription price of
HK$0.110 per rights share, to raise not less than
approximately HK$115.37 million before expenses
(assuming no outstanding share options being
exercised), and not more than approximately
HK$115.38 million before expenses (assuming all
outstanding share options being exercised) by
issuing not less than 1,048,802,876 rights shares
and not more than 1,048,935,672 rights shares.

47. IR

(b)

HA1EE18 (#)

()VEBFRATHZBBEEE—(1)RES
BR A9 3 9 (4) BR R AR R 10 RO B X 1T 43
B (DBEERS — REBERERE
ARRES ; (IIBEERXS — BR1EFT
2008 5 A #2 B} B 3 I IR =X

() ARBIERENCEBHRETHFE
— (AR B B D725 I (4) AR AR
B& 0 Hy B AEHE TR - BIBIAR
BETRHEARRNO0.1108 LT
T A1,048,802,876 f% £ A% AE 17
K% 12 1,048,935,672 B L A%
- BEETLRH#115,370,000
P8 IC (FBR A 2 AT) (RSB T(E
R AR TERERAE) R T2 R4
115,380,000/% 7T (31 Bk F 32 AT)
(R e A T B A 18 AR AT (R BB AR
&) o
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47.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(b)

(i) Proposed rights issue on the basis of four (4) rights
shares for every one (1) existing share held on the
record date; (ii) Connected transaction —
subscription of convertible bonds under specific
mandate; and (iii) Connected transaction —
proposed amendments to the terms of the 2008
convertible bonds (Continued)

(ii)

On 10 January 2020, the Company entered into the
Subscription Agreement (as supplemented by the
supplemental agreement dated 20 March 2020)
with Team Sunny International Holdings Limited
(“Team Sunny”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands and its wholly-owned by Mr.
Wong Hin Shek (“Mr. Wong”), pursuant to which
Team Sunny has conditionally agreed to subscribe
and the Company has conditionally agreed to issue
the Convertible Bonds in the principal amount of
HK$39,805,651 (which are convertible into
conversion shares at the conversion price of
HK$0.110 per Share (subject to adjustments)) for
the settlement of the outstanding debt due from
the Company to Mr. Wong of HK$39,805,651 (the
“CB Subscription”). The subscription amount
payable by Team Sunny under the Subscription
Agreement shall be satisfied by way of offsetting (i)
the principal amount of HK$8,000,000 under the
2019 PN payable by the Company to Mr. Wong
(which will be assigned to Team Sunny by Mr.
Wong at the completion of the subscription to
facilitate the set-off); and (ii) the outstanding
principal amount and part of the accrued interest in
an aggregate amount of HK$31,805,651 under Mr.
Wong's facilities payable by the Company to Mr.
Wong (which will be assigned to Team Sunny by
Mr. Wong at the completion of the subscription to
facilitate the set-off).

47. WREHAESIE ()

(b)

()VEFRATHZBBEEE—(1)RES
R 9 5 1 (4) BR 1R AR AR 10 O B 23 1T 43t
B (DEERS — REBERERE
ARRES; (IBEERS — BR1BF
2008 4F 7 #2 IR & 25 WY IR FR (48)

(ii)

7R2020F1 8108 » A AQ R EE
BB AR B RR A ] (ERE ) (—
R B8 B B S e A L A
A WHEBBLEE(ELRE]D
2B LRB R (KCHEH
#2020 3 H20 B M@ i a1l
7)) Bt ERBEBRERER
B mMARABKREREEITA
< 58 439,805,651 7% 7T 1Y AT #2 f%
&% (iR 5B EFRE7H0.110
B (A FTHRAB)LBAEHBR
7)) LUBEARBRELERE
& 57539,805,65178 7t ([ AT KR
BEHRB]) - EREBEREHZ
FEAH RO SR EE SRIB HE F B S () A
RNEIRIBE2019F & H BB ERN T
9 4 My N 4 58,000,000 7T (15
RREEET KRR T4t E
TEBALAMRACHRSH) ¢ R (AR Al
BRIEFTRKBERNELENKE
BASERIBHEFHESH
31,805,651t (BN REEIR
STRCES B S0 A H A TOERA AR
A EE) (B -
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47.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(b)

(i) Proposed rights issue on the basis of four (4) rights
shares for every one (1) existing share held on the
record date; (ii) Connected transaction —
subscription of convertible bonds under specific
mandate; and (iii) Connected transaction —
proposed amendments to the terms of the 2008
convertible bonds (Continued)

(i) On 10 January 2020, the Company and the
holder(s) (“CB Holders"”) of the 2008 CB entered
into the fourth supplemental deed, pursuant to
which the Company and the CB Holders
conditionally agreed to amend certain terms of the
2008 CB such that (a) the maturity date of the
2008 CB be extended for a further term of three
years from 13 August 2020 to 12 August 2023;
and (b) the conversion price of the 2008 CB be
revised from HK$0.95 per conversion share to
HK$0.110 per conversion share with effect from 13
August 2020 (subject to adjustments). Save for the
above amendments, all other terms of the 2008 CB
shall remain unchanged and valid.

Details are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 10 January 2020, and
20 March 2020 and the Company’s circular dated
27 March 2020.
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47.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued)

(c)

Extension of the maturity date of the promissory
note

On 28 February 2020, Mr. Wong entered into an
extension deed (which was agreed and accepted by the
Company), agreeing that (i) the maturity date of 2019 PN
shall be extended to the date of completion of the CB
Subscription or the date on which the CB Subscription
lapses, whichever is the earlier, or such later date as Mr.
Wong and the Company may mutually agree in writing
(the “New Maturity Date”) and; (ii) all interest accrued
on the outstanding principal amount of the 2019 PN
shall be repayable on the fifth business day immediately
after the date of completion of the proposed rights issue
or the date on which the proposed rights issue and the
underwriting agreement are terminated or lapse,
whichever is the earlier (the “Interest Payment Date”), or
such other date as Mr. Wong and the Company may
mutually agree in writing. For the avoidance of doubt, no
interest shall continue to accrue after the full repayment
of the principal amount of the 2019 PN on the New
Maturity Date. Save for the above amendments, all other
terms and conditions of the 2019 PN shall
unchanged and in full and effect in all aspects.

remain

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 28 February 2020.
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47. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (Continued) 47. REMAESA W)
(d) Memorandum of understanding in relation to the (d) FEREESSEBEYTEKBEEGBERRERE
possible acquisition of the digital insurance and B

related business

On 20 March 2020, Joy Sunny Investment Limited, a 20203 F208 AR RN ENE
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a A \]Joy Sunny Investment Limited 2 fJ
non-legally binding memorandum of understanding with EEVE=F (FEAEBEER]) L
two independent third parties (collectively, the “YAS TEEBRNR N 2 RRERE - NAE
Vendors”) regarding the Group's intention to acquire BAASEA RN EREREE A EANRE
certain amount of shares of YAS Digital Limited owned BERAFMNE TR - REAFTLD
by YAS Vendors at a consideration subject to further TR -

negotiation by the parties thereto.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements FEENAAT B HA2020663 A20H
dated 20 March 2020. BAE e
48. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 48. ISR 2#E
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue MEHRREBEFTERN2020F5 A48 #ER

by the Board on 4 May 2020. RRETIE
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A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as

NTRAKREBELRMBFENREUREE
BEMFERESHE  DREKAC TENKEER

extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out  BA7§#RK :
below:
RESULTS e
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
HE2015F HE2016F HE20175F HE20184F HZ20195F
12A31BLEFE 12A31HLEFE 12A31HLFE 12A31BLEE 12A31ALEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR FTEx
Revenue WA 131,398 256,232 430,184 559,785 482,705
LOSS BEFORE TAX B AT 518 (119,388) (36,210) (90) (119,704) (113,892)
Income tax 8% (4,004) (3,938) (3,242) — 471
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAER (123,392) (40,148) (3,332) (119,704) (113,421)
Attributable to: Ptk :
Owners of the Company ARAIREER A (124,944) (42,617) (6,725) (92,051) (84,110)
Non-controlling interests e = 1,552 2,469 3,393 (27,653) (29,311)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FERNEE (123,392) (40,148) (3,332) (119,704) (113,421)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE - BRNFERIER
INTERESTS
As at As at As at As at As at
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164 20174 20184 20195
12A318 12A318 12A318 12A318 128318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$"000
FRT FRT FHT FHT FHT
TOTAL ASSETS HWEE 1,117,360 2,055,071 2,224,251 697,548 197,087
TOTAL LIABILITIES wemE (1,033,666) (1,963,731) (2,083,091) (686,789) (306,451)
83,694 91,340 141,160 10,759 (109,364)
EQUITY attributable to: R
Owners of the Company ARAIREER A 15,679 3,301 40,114 (58,311) (144,103)
Non-controlling interests FEERR 68,015 88,039 101,046 69,070 34,739
83,694 91,340 141,160 10,759 (109,364)
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